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Request 3SUBDOC20 asks for docu-
ments and information related to ‘‘the vol-
ume and concentration of hydrofluoric acid
contained in the each of the two alkylation
unit [hydrofluoric] acid settlers at the time
of the February 18 incident.’’ The condi-
tions of the alkylation unit and the settlers
storing the modified hydrofluoric acid on
the day of the explosion further illuminate
the facts, conditions, and circumstances of
the accidental release, making the request-
ed documents and information relevant.

Request 3SUBDOC43 asks for docu-
ments and information related to ‘‘siting
hazards, risks, and safety concerns’’ of the
alkylation unit. As with Request 3SUB-
DOC20, the risks posed by the alkylation
unit’s location within the refinery were
relevant to the facts, conditions, and cir-
cumstances of the accidental release.

We recognize that the district court
faced the difficult task of evaluating 56
subpoena requests, including some with
component parts. The fact that the Board
appealed only five of the 27 denied re-
quests speaks to that careful consideration
and work. But to the extent that the dis-
trict court in effect interpreted the Board’s
legal authority to investigate as limited to
‘‘facts, conditions, and circumstances’’ that
bore on the cause or probable cause of the
accidental release, it abused its discretion.
Correctly interpreting the Board’s statuto-
ry authority and applying the generous
relevance standard, the five requests
whose denial the Board appealed are rele-
vant to the Board’s investigation of the
February 2015 accidental release. By con-
cluding otherwise, the district court
adopted ‘‘an erroneous view of the legal
standard’’ governing the Board’s authority
in declining to enforce these five requests.
See McLane II, 857 F. 3d at 815.

IV.

We reverse the challenged portions of
the district court’s ruling that subpoena
requests 1SUBDOC01, 1SUBINT01,
3SUBDOC19, 3SUBDOC20, and 3SUB-
DOC43 were unenforceable, and remand
for further proceedings consistent with
this opinion.

REVERSED and REMANDED.

,

  

Nicholas Alexander DAVIS,
Petitioner - Appellant,

v.

Tommy SHARP, Interim Warden,
Oklahoma State Penitentiary,*

Respondent - Appellee.

No. 17-6225

United States Court of Appeals,
Tenth Circuit.

FILED November 27, 2019

Background:  After petitioner’s state
court conviction for first-degree murder
and his death sentence were affirmed on
direct appeal and on state collateral re-
view, 268 P.3d 86, petitioner sought federal
writ of habeas corpus. The United States
District Court for the Western District of
Oklahoma, Joe Heaton, Chief Judge, 2017
WL 4204031, denied petition. Petitioner
appealed.

Holdings:  The Court of Appeals, Moritz,
Circuit Judge, held that:

* Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 43(c)(2), Mike
Carpenter is replaced by Tommy Sharp as the

Warden in this case.
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(1) petitioner failed to exhaust his claim
that counsel was ineffective for failing
to investigate, develop, and present ev-
idence of his depression;

(2) trial counsel did not perform deficiently
when she ceased investigating defen-
dant’s mental health after defendant
was diagnosed with antisocial personali-
ty disorder; and

(3) state high court’s determination that
defendant’s appellate counsel did not
perform deficiently in failing to raise
issue of trial counsel’s alleged deficient
performance was a reasonable applica-
tion of Strickland.

Affirmed.

1. Habeas Corpus O842
The Court of Appeals reviews the dis-

trict court’s legal analysis on a habeas
claim de novo.

2. Habeas Corpus O366
Petitioner failed to exhaust his claim

that his trial and appellate counsel were
ineffective for failing to investigate, devel-
op, and present evidence of his major de-
pressive disorder during his state court
prosecution for first-degree murder, and
thus petitioner was barred from raising
such claims in federal habeas petition; al-
though petitioner did argue on direct ap-
peal that his counsel was ineffective for
failing to present evidence of his difficult
childhood and its effects on him, he did not
present claims regarding his depression in
state court.  U.S. Const. Amend. 6; 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(b)(1)(A).

3. Habeas Corpus O313.1
Petitioner’s claim that his trial and

appellate counsel were ineffective for fail-
ing to investigate, develop, and present
evidence of his major depressive disorder
during his state court prosecution for first-
degree murder was subject to anticipatory

procedural bar, and thus could not be
raised in his federal habeas petition, where
state court would have found such claim
procedurally barred if he were to return to
state court, given that he could have
brought the claim that his trial counsel
was ineffective on direct appeal, and could
have brought the claim that his appellate
counsel was ineffective on postconviction
review, neither of which he did.  U.S.
Const. Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(b)(1)(A).

4. Habeas Corpus O765.1

To the extent a state high court adju-
dicates a claims on its merits, a federal
habeas court must give its decisions the
benefit of the doubt.

5. Habeas Corpus O405.1

Cause for a procedural default of a
habeas claim exists where something ex-
ternal to the petitioner, something that
cannot fairly be attributed to him, impeded
his efforts to comply with the state’s pro-
cedural rule.

6. Habeas Corpus O406

Attorney error is an objective external
factor providing cause for excusing a pro-
cedural default of a habeas claim, provided
that the error amounted to a deprivation of
the constitutional right to counsel.  U.S.
Const. Amend. 6.

7. Habeas Corpus O406

An attorney’s error can constitute
cause to excuse a procedural default of a
habeas claim if it satisfies both prongs of
the test for ineffective assistance of coun-
sel: deficient performance and prejudice.
U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

8. Habeas Corpus O450.1, 486(1)

The unreasonable-application stan-
dard for a federal habeas claim is difficult
to meet, particularly for ineffective assis-
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tance of counsel claims.  U.S. Const.
Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1).

9. Habeas Corpus O486(1)

In reviewing an ineffective assistance
of counsel claim under the Antiterrorism
and Effective Death Penalty Act, the court
does not ask merely whether counsel per-
formed reasonably under Strickland; in-
stead, it asks whether there is any reason-
able argument that counsel satisfied
Strickland’s deferential standard.  U.S.
Const. Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1).

10. Criminal Law O1969
To succeed on an ineffective assis-

tance of counsel claim premised on the
failure to raise an issue on appeal, a peti-
tioner must show both that: (1) appellate
counsel performed deficiently in failing to
raise the particular issue on appeal, and (2)
but for appellate counsel’s deficient per-
formance, there exists a reasonable proba-
bility the petitioner would have prevailed
on appeal.  U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

11. Criminal Law O1969
The Sixth Amendment does not re-

quire an attorney to raise every nonfrivo-
lous issue on appeal.  U.S. Const. Amend.
6.

12. Habeas Corpus O486(5)
In evaluating an argument that appel-

late counsel performed deficiently in fail-
ing to raise an issue on appeal, the federal
habeas court typically examines the merits
of the omitted issue; if the omitted issue is
meritless, its omission will not constitute
deficient performance.  U.S. Const.
Amend. 6.

13. Criminal Law O1891
An ineffective assistance of counsel

claim premised on a lack of investigation is
governed by the same Strickland stan-
dards as all other ineffective assistance
claims.  U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

14. Criminal Law O1891
On the performance prong of an inef-

fective assistance of counsel claim based on
lack of investigation, counsel has a duty to
make reasonable investigations or to make
a reasonable decision that makes particu-
lar investigations unnecessary.  U.S.
Const. Amend. 6.

15. Criminal Law O1891
To perform adequately, as would de-

feat an ineffective assistance claim based
on lack of investigation, counsel need not
scour the globe on the off chance some-
thing will turn up.  U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

16. Criminal Law O1891
In assessing the performance prong of

an ineffective assistance of counsel claim
based on lack of investigation, a particular
decision not to investigate must be directly
assessed for reasonableness in all the cir-
cumstances, applying a heavy measure of
deference to counsel’s judgments.  U.S.
Const. Amend. 6.

17. Criminal Law O1891
Under the prejudice prong of an inef-

fective assistance of counsel claim based on
lack of investigation, a petitioner must
show that but for counsel’s failure to inves-
tigate, there exists a reasonable probabili-
ty of a different result.  U.S. Const.
Amend. 6.

18. Criminal Law O1931
Counsel is not required to keep hiring

experts until the most favorable one possi-
ble is found.

19. Criminal Law O1912
Defendant’s trial counsel did not per-

form deficiently when she ceased investi-
gating defendant’s mental health after de-
fendant was diagnosed with antisocial
personality disorder, despite defendant’s
claim that he actually suffered from post
traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), thus
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defeating defendant’s ineffective assis-
tance of counsel claim on federal habeas
review of his state-court conviction for
first-degree murder; counsel had no rea-
son to suspect a diagnosis of PTSD after
psychologist diagnosed defendant after
spending several hours with him and re-
viewing the reports of the defense team’s
interviews with his family members, and,
given that, psychologist did not recom-
mend any further testing.  U.S. Const.
Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254.

20. Habeas Corpus O486(5)

State high court’s determination that
defendant’s appellate counsel did not per-
form deficiently in failing to raise issue of
trial counsel’s alleged deficient perform-
ance in failing to investigate defendant’s
mental health for post traumatic stress
disorder (PTSD) after he was diagnosed
with antisocial personality disorder was a
reasonable application of Strickland, and
thus appellate counsel’s conduct did not
establish cause excusing defendant’s pro-
cedural default of PTSD claim on direct
appeal of conviction or constitute an inde-
pendent basis for federal habeas relief;
trial counsel had reasonably decided not to
pursue further mental health testing after
defendant received antisocial personality
disorder diagnosis, rendering appellate
counsel’s failure to raise an ineffective as-
sistance counsel on such basis reasonable.
U.S. Const. Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

Appeal from the United States Dis-
trict Court for the Western District of
Oklahoma (D.C. No. 5:12-CV-01111-HE)

Michael Lieberman (Thomas Hird, with
him on the briefs), Assistant Federal Pub-

lic Defenders, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma,
for Petitioner-Appellant.

Caroline Hunt, Assistant Attorney Gen-
eral (Mike Hunter, Attorney General, with
her on the brief), Oklahoma City, Okla-
homa, for Respondent-Appellee.

Before HARTZ, MORITZ, and EID,
Circuit Judges.

MORITZ, Circuit Judge.

After an Oklahoma jury convicted Nich-
olas Davis of first-degree murder and sen-
tenced him to death, he sought federal
habeas relief. In relevant part, he asserted
that both trial counsel and appellate coun-
sel were constitutionally ineffective in fail-
ing to adequately investigate his mental
health and discover that he suffers from
depression and post-traumatic stress disor-
der (PTSD). The district court denied re-
lief. For the reasons explained below, we
affirm.

Background

One evening in January 2004, Davis
went to an apartment where his former
girlfriend, Tia Green, was visiting her sis-
ter, Chinetta Hooks.1 Seventeen-year-old
Marcus Smith was also present in the
apartment. Davis, wearing all black,
knocked on the door and covered the peep-
hole. Unable to see who was at the door,
Smith asked who was there, but Davis did
not respond. When Smith opened the door
slightly, Davis forced his way inside. He
was carrying a handgun loaded with 23
rounds, including one in the chamber,
along with a box of extra ammunition. He
pointed the gun at Smith, and Smith put
his hands up and backed away.

As Green, Hooks, and Smith tried to
reason with Davis, Davis twice lowered the

1. We take the facts of the underlying crime
from the decision of the Oklahoma Court of
Criminal Appeals (OCCA) affirming Davis’s

conviction and sentence. See Davis v. State,
268 P.3d 86, 97–99 (Okla. Crim. App. 2011).
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gun. But he then raised it a third time and
fired at Smith’s head. Davis continued fir-
ing, and Green and Hooks ran into other
rooms of the apartment. Davis ultimately
shot Smith three times, and Smith died at
the scene. Davis also shot Green and
Hooks multiple times, though they both
survived.

Davis eventually confessed to the shoot-
ing. According to Davis, he went to the
apartment because Green said she wanted
to talk to him, and he brought a gun
because Green tried to hurt him in the
past. Davis also said that he shot Smith in
self-defense because Smith lunged at him.

Based on these events, a jury convicted
Davis of one count each of first-degree
murder and being a felon in possession of
a gun and two counts of shooting with the
intent to kill. At sentencing, Davis’s trial
counsel presented a mitigation case based
on Davis’s life story. Nine family-member
witnesses asked the jury to spare Davis’s
life. They painted a picture of Davis’s early
childhood as a happy one, during which he
lived with extended family on his grand-
parents’ farm. And they explained that he
only later turned to a life of crime after his
neglectful mother took him away from this
idyllic setting. Unswayed by Davis’s miti-
gation case, the jury ultimately found that
the state proved three aggravating circum-
stances—that Davis ‘‘knowingly created a
great risk of death to more than one per-
son’’; that Davis committed the murder
while he was ‘‘serving a sentence of impris-
onment on conviction of a felony’’; and that
there existed ‘‘a probability that petitioner
would commit criminal acts of violence that
would constitute a continuing threat to so-

ciety’’—and sentenced Davis to death for
first-degree murder.2 R. 513–14.

On direct appeal to the OCCA, Davis
raised 21 claims of error. Davis, 268 P.3d
at 138. In one of those claims, Davis al-
leged that he received ineffective assis-
tance of counsel (IAC) at trial. Specifically,
he challenged the life story that trial coun-
sel presented in mitigation and alleged
that trial counsel should have called one of
his brothers to testify that his entire child-
hood was one of deprivation and neglect
and should have called an expert witness
to more fully explain to the jury how
Davis’s negative life experiences affected
his behavior (collectively, the life-experi-
ence IAC claim). Id. at 129–30.

The OCCA ordered the state trial court
to conduct an evidentiary hearing on this
claim. Id. at 132. During that hearing,
appellate counsel clarified that (1) the life-
experience IAC claim alleged trial counsel
was ineffective in the manner in which she
chose to present Davis’s life story to the
jury (first by characterizing his early child-
hood as positive and second by failing to
call an expert to tie together the story of
Davis’s life) and (2) the life-experience
claim did not allege that trial counsel was
ineffective in failing to investigate or pres-
ent evidence about Davis’s mental health.
Nevertheless, the hearing on the life-expe-
rience IAC claim yielded critical details
about trial counsel’s investigation into
Davis’s mental health. For instance, appel-
late counsel pointed out that trial counsel
sought a mental-health evaluation from
Terese Hall, a clinical psychologist.3 And
appellate counsel also provided the court

2. For Davis’s noncapital crimes—two counts
of shooting with intent to kill and one count
of being a felon in possession of a gun—the
jury recommended sentencing Davis to 45
years, 67 years, and 25 years, respectively.
The trial court adopted the jury’s recommen-

dations and ordered all sentences to run con-
currently.

3. Trial counsel also obtained an initial evalua-
tion of Davis’s mental health from psycholo-
gist Max Edgar and a competency evaluation
from forensic psychologist Peter Rausch.
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with a memo in which trial counsel memo-
rialized the results of Hall’s mental-health
evaluation, including Hall’s conclusions
that Davis suffered from antisocial person-
ality disorder and was ‘‘a psychopath.’’ R.
530. Additionally, appellate counsel noted
that Hall did not recommend any further
psychological testing and told trial counsel
that she could not assist with Davis’s de-
fense.

The OCCA reviewed the results of the
evidentiary hearing and rejected the life-
experience IAC claim. Davis, 268 P.3d at
132–38. It also rejected Davis’s remaining
claims and thus affirmed his convictions
and sentence. Id. at 139.

Davis then sought postconviction relief
in state court. There, he raised what we
refer to respectively as the Trial PTSD
Claim and the Appellate PTSD Claim (col-
lectively, the PTSD Claims). See Davis v.
State, No. PCD-2007-1201, slip op. at 3
(Okla. Crim. App. Jan. 25, 2012) (unpub-
lished). Specifically, in the Trial PTSD
Claim, he alleged that trial counsel was
ineffective in failing to investigate, develop,
and present evidence, at both the guilt and
sentencing stages, that he suffered from
PTSD. Id. In the Appellate PTSD Claim,
he alleged that appellate counsel was inef-
fective in failing to investigate, develop,
and raise this aspect of trial counsel’s al-
leged ineffectiveness on appeal. Id. at 7. In
support, Davis submitted a report from
Lara Duke, a licensed psychologist who
spent five hours with Davis, administered
various tests, and diagnosed Davis with
PTSD. Id. at 3–4. The OCCA found the
Trial PTSD Claim waived because Davis
failed to raise it on direct appeal. Id. at 6;
see also Logan v. State, 293 P.3d 969, 973
(Okla. Crim. App. 2013) (‘‘[I]ssues that
were not raised previously on direct ap-
peal, but which could have been raised, are
waived for further review.’’). It rejected
the Appellate PTSD Claim on the merits.

Davis, slip op. at 7–8. Thus, the OCCA
denied Davis’s motion for postconviction
relief. Id. at 11.

Next, Davis filed a habeas petition in
federal district court. See 28 U.S.C. § 2254.
As relevant here, he raised the PTSD
Claims along with what we refer to respec-
tively as the Trial Depression Claim and
the Appellate Depression Claim (collective-
ly, the Depression Claims). In particular,
he argued trial counsel was ineffective in
failing to investigate, develop, and present
evidence at both the guilt and sentencing
stages of trial that he suffered from de-
pression and appellate counsel was ineffec-
tive in failing to investigate and raise this
particular aspect of trial counsel’s alleged
ineffectiveness on appeal. The district
court denied Davis’s petition and refused
to grant him a certificate of appealability
(COA). See 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1)(A).

Davis then sought to appeal to this
court. We granted him a COA to appeal
the district court’s resolution of the De-
pression Claims and the PTSD Claims.

Analysis

[1] On appeal, Davis argues the dis-
trict court erred in denying relief on both
the Depression Claims and the PTSD
Claims. In evaluating his arguments, we
review the district court’s legal analysis de
novo. See Smith v. Duckworth, 824 F.3d
1233, 1241–42 (10th Cir. 2016).

I. The Depression Claims

Davis’s § 2254 petition alleged in part
that trial counsel was ineffective in
‘‘fail[ing] to investigate, develop, and pres-
ent evidence of TTT [m]ajor [d]epressive
[d]isorder.’’ R. 31. He further argued that
appellate counsel was likewise ineffective
in failing to investigate and present ‘‘[a]
complete mental[-]health claim TTT on ap-
peal.’’ Id. at 60. The district court ruled

APPENDIX A



1296 943 FEDERAL REPORTER, 3d SERIES

that these claims were unexhausted and
subject to an anticipatory procedural bar.

[2] We agree. The Depression Claims
are unexhausted because Davis never pre-
sented such claims in state court, either on
direct appeal or in his postconviction appli-
cation. See § 2254(b)(1)(A) (requiring habe-
as petitioner to exhaust claims in state
court); Bland v. Sirmons, 459 F.3d 999,
1011 (10th Cir. 2006) (‘‘A claim has been
exhausted when it has been ‘fairly present-
ed’ to the state court.’’ (quoting Picard v.
Connor, 404 U.S. 270, 275, 92 S.Ct. 509, 30
L.Ed.2d 438 (1971))). On direct appeal,
Davis did advance the life-experience IAC
claim. But he expressly limited that claim
to his allegations that trial counsel was
ineffective in failing to present evidence—
in the form of testimony from an expert
and from Davis’s brother—of Davis’s diffi-
cult childhood and its effects on him. Davis
did not argue trial counsel was ineffective
in failing to adequately investigate or pres-
ent evidence about Davis’s depression.
Davis, 268 P.3d at 129–30. Indeed, during
the direct-appeal evidentiary hearing,
Davis’s appellate counsel specifically stated
that Davis was not asserting on appeal
that trial counsel was ineffective in failing
to conduct psychological testing or in fail-
ing to present evidence from a mental-
health expert. Likewise, Davis’s postcon-
viction application included only the PTSD
Claims and did not mention depression.

Resisting the conclusion that he never
raised the Depression Claims in state
court, Davis suggests in passing that he
adequately presented these claims during
the postconviction proceedings because the
psychological report he submitted in sup-
port of his postconviction claims mentioned
symptoms of depression. But the mere ap-
pearance of the word ‘‘depression’’ in a
report that Davis submitted to support an
IAC claim about PTSD was insufficient to
exhaust IAC claims about depression that

did not appear in Davis’s postconviction
application. See Fairchild v. Workman,
579 F.3d 1134, 1147 (10th Cir. 2009) (find-
ing that petitioner did not exhaust specific
IAC claims arising from acute brain syn-
drome and counsel’s failure to order addi-
tional neurological testing by advancing
more general IAC claim related to unspec-
ified cognitive deficiencies in state court);
Bland, 459 F.3d at 1011 (explaining that
for purposes of exhaustion, ‘‘ ‘[f]air presen-
tation’ requires more than presenting ‘all
the facts necessary to support the federal
claim’ to the state court’’ (quoting
Anderson v. Harless, 459 U.S. 4, 6, 103
S.Ct. 276, 74 L.Ed.2d 3 (1982) (per cu-
riam))).

[3] Further, if Davis were to return to
state court and present the Depression
Claims now, the state court would find
them procedurally barred. That is because
Davis could have brought the Trial De-
pression Claim on direct appeal. See Lo-
gan, 293 P.3d at 973 (providing that in
postconviction proceeding, ‘‘issues that
were not raised previously on direct ap-
peal, but which could have been raised, are
waived’’). And he could have brought the
Appellate Depression Claim in his applica-
tion for postconviction relief. See Okla.
Stat. Ann. tit. 22, § 1086 (requiring peti-
tioner to present ‘‘[a]ll grounds for relief
available TTT in his [or her] original, sup-
plemental[,] or amended application’’ for
postconviction relief and stating that
‘‘[a]ny ground TTT not so raised TTT may
not be the basis for a subsequent applica-
tion’’); id. § 1089(D)(2) (providing that in
capital cases, any available ‘‘grounds for
relief’’ that are ‘‘not included in a timely
[postconviction] application shall be
deemed waived’’). These claims are there-
fore subject to an anticipatory procedural
bar. See Anderson v. Sirmons, 476 F.3d
1131, 1139 n.7 (10th Cir. 2007) (explaining
that anticipatory procedural bar ‘‘occurs
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when the federal courts apply procedural
bar to an unexhausted claim that would be
procedurally barred under state law if the
petitioner returned to state court to ex-
haust it’’ (quoting Moore v. Schoeman, 288
F.3d 1231, 1233 n.3 (10th Cir. 2002))).

Davis advances no argument against ap-
plying an anticipatory procedural bar. Nor
does he argue that this court should over-
look the procedural bar based on cause
and prejudice or manifest injustice. See
English v. Cody, 146 F.3d 1257, 1259 (10th
Cir. 1998) (‘‘On habeas review, this court
does not address issues that have been
defaulted in state court on an independent
and adequate state procedural ground, un-
less the petitioner can demonstrate cause
and prejudice or a fundamental miscar-
riage of justice.’’). Accordingly, we con-
clude that the Depression Claims are
unexhausted and subject to an anticipatory
procedural bar. We therefore affirm the
district court’s ruling denying habeas relief
on the Depression Claims and turn next to
the PTSD claims.

II. The PTSD Claims

[4] In these claims, Davis asserts that
trial counsel deficiently and prejudicially
failed to investigate and present evidence
of PTSD at trial and that appellate counsel
deficiently and prejudicially failed to inves-
tigate and raise trial counsel’s alleged inef-
fectiveness on direct appeal. To the extent
the OCCA adjudicated these claims on
their merits, we must give its decisions
‘‘the benefit of the doubt.’’ Cullen v. Pin-
holster, 563 U.S. 170, 181, 131 S.Ct. 1388,
179 L.Ed.2d 557 (2011) (quoting Woodford
v. Visciotti, 537 U.S. 19, 24, 123 S.Ct. 357,
154 L.Ed.2d 279 (2002)). More specifically,
under the Antiterrorism and Effective
Death Penalty Act (AEDPA) of 1996, we
may only grant Davis habeas relief on a
claim the OCCA adjudicated on the merits
if he can meet certain ‘‘difficult’’ standards

set forth in § 2254(d). Harrington v. Richt-
er, 562 U.S. 86, 102, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178
L.Ed.2d 624 (2011); see also § 2254(d) (pre-
cluding federal habeas court from granting
relief on claim if state court adjudicated
merits of that claim unless state court’s
decision ‘‘was contrary to, or involved an
unreasonable application of, clearly estab-
lished [f]ederal law’’ or ‘‘was based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in
light of the evidence presented’’ to rele-
vant state court).

Here, Davis first raised the PTSD
Claims in his application for postconviction
relief. The OCCA rejected the Trial PTSD
Claim on procedural grounds, finding it
waived because Davis could have brought
it on direct appeal. Davis, slip op. at 6; see
also § 1089(C)(1) (providing that ‘‘[t]he
only issues that may be raised in an appli-
cation for post[ ]conviction relief are those
that TTT [w]ere not and could not have
been raised in a direct appeal’’). It rejected
the Appellate PTSD Claim on the merits.
See Davis, slip op. at 7–8.

In his § 2254 petition, Davis again raised
the Trial and Appellate PTSD Claims. In
denying relief, the district court found the
Trial PTSD Claim procedurally defaulted.
See Smith v. Allbaugh, 921 F.3d 1261, 1267
(10th Cir. 2019) (‘‘The procedural-default
rule generally prevents a federal court
from reviewing a habeas claim when the
state court declined to consider the merits
of that claim based ‘on independent and
adequate state procedural grounds.’ ’’
(quoting Maples v. Thomas, 565 U.S. 266,
280, 132 S.Ct. 912, 181 L.Ed.2d 807
(2012))); Logan, 293 P.3d at 973 (explain-
ing that under Oklahoma law, ‘‘issues that
were not raised previously on direct ap-
peal, but which could have been raised, are
waived’’ for purposes of postconviction pro-
ceedings). It further found that the
OCCA’s rejection of the Appellate PTSD
Claim was not an unreasonable application
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of clearly established federal law. Thus,
the district court concluded, the Appellate
PTSD Claim neither provided the requisite
cause for purposes of overcoming the de-
fault of the Trial PTSD Claim nor succeed-
ed as a standalone claim. See Maples, 565
U.S. at 280, 132 S.Ct. 912 (noting that
court can excuse procedural default if peti-
tioner shows cause for the default and
actual prejudice); Davila v. Davis, –––
U.S. ––––, 137 S. Ct. 2058, 2065, 198
L.Ed.2d 603 (2017) (explaining that IAC
can constitute cause to excuse procedural
default).

On appeal, Davis does not challenge the
district court’s conclusion that because he
could have raised the Trial PTSD Claim on
direct appeal but failed to do so, that claim
is procedurally defaulted. Instead, he ar-
gues that he can show cause and prejudice
to overcome the default.4

[5–7] ‘‘Cause for a procedural default
exists where ‘something external to the
petitioner, something that cannot fairly be
attributed to him[,] TTT ‘‘impeded [his] ef-
forts to comply with the [s]tate’s procedur-
al rule.’’ ’ ’’ Id. (first three alterations in
original) (quoting Coleman v. Thompson,
501 U.S. 722, 753, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 115
L.Ed.2d 640 (1991), modified, Martinez v.
Ryan, 566 U.S. 1, 132 S.Ct. 1309, 182
L.Ed.2d 272 (2012)). And ‘‘[i]t has long

been the rule that attorney error is an
objective external factor providing cause
for excusing a procedural default’’—pro-
vided that the ‘‘error amounted to a depri-
vation of the constitutional right to coun-
sel.’’ Davila, 137 S. Ct. at 2065. That is, an
attorney’s error can constitute cause to
excuse a procedural default if it satisfies
both prongs of the test for IAC: deficient
performance (i.e., ‘‘that counsel’s represen-
tation fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness’’) and prejudice (i.e., ‘‘there
is a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result
of the proceeding would have been differ-
ent’’). Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S.
668, 687–88, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80
L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

[8, 9] We turn, then, to Davis’s alleged
cause: whether, as he alleges in the Appel-
late PTSD Claim, appellate counsel was
ineffective in failing to investigate, develop,
and raise on appeal the issue of trial coun-
sel’s alleged ineffectiveness in failing to
investigate, develop, and present evidence,
at both the guilt and sentencing stages,
that Davis suffers from PTSD. Because
the OCCA rejected this claim on its mer-
its, AEDPA limits our review. See Duckett
v. Mullin, 306 F.3d 982, 996, 998 (10th Cir.
2002) (holding that petitioner’s appellate
IAC claim did not establish cause because

4. Other than cause and prejudice, Davis hints
at one other argument that could overcome
the procedural default: he suggests that be-
cause trial and appellate counsel were not
separate (they worked in the same office), the
procedural bar does not apply because it is
not adequate. See Cannon v. Mullin, 383 F.3d
1152, 1172 (10th Cir. 2004) (noting that to be
‘‘adequate,’’ state procedural rule must, in
part, ‘‘allow[ ] petitioner an opportunity to
consult with separate counsel on appeal in
order to obtain an objective assessment of
trial counsel’s performance’’ (quoting En-
glish, 146 F.3d at 1263)), abrogated in part on
other grounds by Simpson v. Carpenter, 912
F.3d 542 (10th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, –––

U.S. ––––, 140 S.Ct. 389, 205 L.Ed.2d 220,
2019 WL 5150543 (Oct. 15, 2019). But Davis
never actually connects the alleged nonsepa-
rateness of his counsel to the adequacy of the
procedural bar. That is, the section of Davis’s
brief that discusses the procedurally barred
Trial PTSD Claim entirely omits any argu-
ment that the bar is inadequate because coun-
sel were not separate. Thus, Davis waived any
challenge to the adequacy of the procedural
bar by failing to brief it on appeal. See Grant
v. Trammell, 727 F.3d 1006, 1025 (10th Cir.
2013) (‘‘Even a capital defendant can waive
an argument by inadequately briefing an is-
sueTTTT’’).
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OCCA’s rejection of claim was not con-
trary to Supreme Court precedent under
§ 2254(d)(2)); Neill v. Gibson, 278 F.3d
1044, 1057–58 (10th Cir. 2001) (applying
AEDPA deference to appellate IAC claim
proffered to establish cause). That is, to
establish cause for purposes of overcoming
the procedural default of the Trial PTSD
Claim, Davis must demonstrate that the
OCCA’s decision rejecting the Appellate
PTSD Claim was an unreasonable applica-
tion of Strickland.5 See § 2254(d)(1). This
unreasonable-application standard is diffi-
cult to meet, particularly for IAC Claims.
See Stouffer v. Trammell, 738 F.3d 1205,
1221 (10th Cir. 2013) (noting that state-
court decision is only unreasonable ‘‘if all
‘fairminded jurists’ would agree that the
state court got it wrong’’ (quoting Har-
rington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 101, 131
S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011))). Under
AEDPA, we do not ask merely whether
counsel performed reasonably under
Strickland; instead, we ask ‘‘whether there
is any reasonable argument that counsel
satisfied Strickland’s deferential stan-
dard.’’ Richter, 562 U.S. at 105, 131 S.Ct.
770 (noting doubly deferential review of
IAC claims raised in habeas proceeding).

[10–12] To succeed on an IAC claim
premised on the failure to raise an issue on
appeal, a petitioner must show both that
(1) appellate counsel performed deficiently
in failing to raise the particular issue on
appeal and (2) but for appellate counsel’s
deficient performance, there exists a rea-
sonable probability the petitioner would
have prevailed on appeal. See Neill, 278
F.3d at 1057. Yet ‘‘the Sixth Amendment

does not require an attorney to raise every
nonfrivolous issue on appeal.’’ Banks v.
Reynolds, 54 F.3d 1508, 1515 (10th Cir.
1995). Indeed, appellate attorneys fre-
quently ‘‘ ‘winnow out’ weaker claims in
order to focus effectively on those more
likely to prevail.’’ Id. (quoting Smith v.
Murray, 477 U.S. 527, 536, 106 S.Ct. 2661,
91 L.Ed.2d 434 (1986)). Thus, in evaluating
an argument that appellate counsel per-
formed deficiently in failing to raise an
issue on appeal, this court typically ‘‘exam-
ine[s] the merits of the omitted issue.’’6 Id.
If the omitted ‘‘issue is meritless, its omis-
sion will not constitute deficient perform-
ance.’’ Miller v. Mullin, 354 F.3d 1288,
1298 (10th Cir. 2004) (quoting Cargle v.
Mullin, 317 F.3d 1196, 1202 (10th Cir.
2003)).

[13–17] Because appellate IAC claims
premised on the failure to raise an issue on
appeal turn largely on the merits of the
issue not raised, we also briefly outline the
standards that govern the merits of the
omitted issue in this case: the procedurally
defaulted Trial PTSD Claim, in which
Davis faults trial counsel for failing to
investigate, develop, and present evidence
that he suffers from PTSD. An IAC claim
premised on a lack of investigation is gov-
erned by the same Strickland standards as
all other IAC claims. See Rompilla v.
Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 380–81, 125 S.Ct.
2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005). On the per-
formance prong, ‘‘counsel has a duty to
make reasonable investigations or to make
a reasonable decision that makes particu-
lar investigations unnecessary.’’ Strick-
land, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052. But

5. As will become clear, we focus our analysis
on the performance prong of Strickland. And
on that prong, Davis does not argue for either
of the other pathways to relief under
§ 2254(d): that the OCCA relied on an unrea-
sonable factual determination or applied law
contrary to Strickland.

6. Our analysis of whether Davis can over-
come the procedural default of the Trial PTSD
Claim such that we may consider the merits
of that claim turns, in large part, on the
merits of that claim. We acknowledge ‘‘the
apparent circularity of this review.’’ Banks, 54
F.3d at 1516.
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counsel need not ‘‘scour the globe on the
off chance something will turn up.’’ Rom-
pilla, 545 U.S. at 383, 125 S.Ct. 2456. And
‘‘a particular decision not to investigate
must be directly assessed for reasonable-
ness in all the circumstances, applying a
heavy measure of deference to counsel’s
judgments.’’ Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691,
104 S.Ct. 2052. On the prejudice prong, a
petitioner must show that but for counsel’s
failure to investigate, there exists a rea-
sonable probability of a different result.
See Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 390, 125 S.Ct.
2456.

Applying these principles, the OCCA
found that appellate counsel did not per-
form deficiently in failing to raise the Trial
PTSD Claim. The OCCA concluded that
(1) Davis failed to ‘‘rebut[ ] the presump-
tion that [appellate] counsel acted as com-
petent counsel and fully investigated the
issue and purposefully omitted the claim
from the direct appeal’’; and (2) ‘‘[a]ppel-
late counsel appropriately sorted through
potential claims of error and raised only
those with the best chances for relief.’’
Davis, slip op. at 7–8. In so doing, the
OCCA expressly found that ‘‘trial counsel
fully investigated [Davis’s] background.’’
Id. at 8. It therefore implicitly concluded
that the omitted Trial PTSD Claim lacked
merit; so omitting it on direct appeal did
not constitute deficient performance.

The district court reviewed the OCCA’s
decision and determined that the OCCA’s
conclusion that appellate counsel did not
perform deficiently was not unreasonable.
In so doing, the district court confirmed
the OCCA’s implicit finding, in which it
rejected the Trial PTSD Claim. That is,
the district court affirmatively found that
because the record indicated trial counsel
did not perform deficiently, appellate coun-
sel’s decision not to argue otherwise was
indeed a strategic one.

Specifically, the district court pointed to
the mental-health evaluation from clinical
psychologist Terese Hall, in which Hall
concluded that Davis suffered from antiso-
cial personality disorder and characterized
him as ‘‘a psychopath.’’ R. 530. Then, rea-
soning that trial counsel need not conduct
endless investigations, only reasonable in-
vestigations, the district court concluded
that when trial counsel’s mental-health in-
vestigation ‘‘revealed that [Davis’s] mental
health would not be helpful to his defense,
trial counsel reasonably and strategically
pursued other lines of defense.’’ Id. at 533;
see also Jones v. Sec’y, Fla. Dep’t of Corr.,
834 F.3d 1299, 1313 (11th Cir. 2016) (‘‘[W]e
have often observed that evidence of a
defendant’s antisocial personality disorder
can negatively impact the jury.’’); Stafford
v. Saffle, 34 F.3d 1557, 1565 (10th Cir.
1994) (noting that evidence of antisocial
behavior plays into jury’s assessment of
continuing-threat aggravator). Thus, the
district court concluded, appellate counsel
likewise did not perform deficiently when
she relied on Hall’s evaluation and chose
not to bring an IAC claim based on trial
counsel’s failure to further investigate or
present evidence of Davis’s mental health.

We now turn to Davis’s argument on
appeal—whether the Appellate PTSD
Claim establishes cause to excuse the pro-
cedural default of the Trial PTSD Claim.

Davis first argues that the OCCA unrea-
sonably applied Strickland’s performance
prong in adjudicating the Appellate PTSD
Claim because its decision was based whol-
ly on the absence of an affidavit from trial
counsel. See, e.g., Wilson v. Sirmons, 536
F.3d 1064, 1090 (10th Cir. 2008) (‘‘There is
no support for the proposition that the
absence of an affidavit from trial counsel is
fatal to a habeas petitioner’s claim of
[IAC].’’). But Davis mischaracterizes the
OCCA’s ruling. Although the OCCA men-
tioned the absence of such an affidavit,

APPENDIX A



1301DAVIS v. SHARP
Cite as 943 F.3d 1290 (10th Cir. 2019)

that was not the sole basis for its ruling.
See Davis, slip op. at 7. Instead, the OCCA
stated more generally that Davis failed to
‘‘provide[ ] any support for his claim that
appellate counsel did not fully investigate
the psychological evidence.’’ Id. The OCCA
then simply pointed to the absence of an
affidavit as an example of that failure. See
id. Thus, we reject Davis’s argument that
the OCCA’s decision was unreasonable be-
cause it turned solely on the absence of an
affidavit from trial counsel.

Next, and more substantially, Davis ar-
gues that appellate and trial counsel failed
to adequately investigate his mental
health. See Anderson, 476 F.3d at 1145
(stating that ‘‘question’’ before us in that
case was not ‘‘whether trial counsel made a
tactical or strategic decision not to include
the omitted mitigation evidence at trial,
but rather whether ‘the investigation sup-
porting counsel’s decision TTT was itself
reasonable’ ’’ (alteration in original) (em-
phasis omitted) (quoting Wiggins v. Smith,
539 U.S. 510, 523, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156
L.Ed.2d 471 (2003))). More specifically,
Davis contends that it was not reasonable
for his attorneys to accept Hall’s mental-
health evaluation—which he characterizes
as ‘‘a premature, drive-by[,] phone-call
opinion’’—without further investigation.
Aplt. Br. 20. And in a nod to our standard
of review, he insists that the OCCA unrea-
sonably applied Strickland when it con-
cluded otherwise.

In support, Davis asserts that ‘‘it is com-
mon for symptoms of PTSD to be misdiag-
nosed as [antisocial personality disorder].’’
Aplt. Br. 56. As such, he contends, Hall’s
diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder
should have triggered further mental-
health investigation. Additionally, Davis
points out that Hall neither conducted any
actual testing before reaching this conclu-
sion nor prepared an actual report. And he

argues that it is not reasonable for counsel
to rely on an opinion from a mental-health
professional that was not based on any
formal testing. Cf. Postelle v. Carpenter,
901 F.3d 1202, 1216 (10th Cir. 2018) (not-
ing that counsel should not ‘‘abdicate all
responsibility for handling scientific or
technical evidence’’ to experts), cert. de-
nied, ––– U.S. ––––, 139 S. Ct. 2668, 204
L.Ed.2d 1073 (2019).

[18] We disagree. ‘‘[C]ounsel is not re-
quired to keep hiring experts until the
most favorable one possible is found.’’ De-
Lozier v. Sirmons, 531 F.3d 1306, 1333
(10th Cir. 2008). And ‘‘a particular decision
not to investigate must be directly as-
sessed for reasonableness in all the cir-
cumstances, applying a heavy measure of
deference to counsel’s judgments.’’ Strick-
land, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052. The
circumstances here include an unequivocal-
ly unhelpful evaluation from Hall, a men-
tal-health professional who routinely evalu-
ates capital defendants. See, e.g., Smith v.
Sharp, 935 F.3d 1064, 1079 n.7 (10th Cir.
2019); Grissom v. Carpenter, 902 F.3d
1265, 1274–76 (10th Cir. 2018), cert. de-
nied, ––– U.S. ––––, 139 S. Ct. 2030, 204
L.Ed.2d 230 (2019). Hall spent several
hours with Davis and also reviewed the
reports of the defense team’s interviews
with Davis’s family members; thus, her
conclusion was not the ‘‘drive-by’’ opinion
that Davis insists it was. Aplt. Br. 27. And
Hall’s conclusions were forceful: she indi-
cated that her meeting with Davis left
‘‘[quite the] impression’’ on her and said
she did ‘‘not need to do testing to see
clearly that’’ Davis suffers from antisocial
personality disorder. R. 530. She also indi-
cated that Davis ‘‘scores high on any
risk[-]assessment scale’’ and is ‘‘high on
the Hare Psychopathy Checklist.’’ Id.

Moreover, Hall did not recommend any
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further testing.7 And this simple fact—
among others—meaningfully distinguishes
the primary cases Davis relies upon to
support his argument that his attorneys’
investigations were constitutionally defi-
cient. For example, in Bemore v. Chappell,
a forensic psychologist reported to trial
counsel that petitioner suffered from sev-
eral mental-health conditions, including or-
ganic brain impairment, bipolar disorder,
and antisocial personality disorder, and
specifically recommended further testing
to confirm a mental-health diagnosis. 788
F.3d 1151, 1159 (9th Cir. 2015). But be-
cause counsel believed this report conflict-
ed with her planned ‘‘ ‘good[-]guy’ defense
strategy, she placed the report ‘in the back
of a file drawer’ ’’ and did not follow up on
it. Id. The Ninth Circuit held that this
amounted to deficient performance (and
that the California court unreasonably con-
cluded otherwise) because the ‘‘early deci-
sion to pursue a risk-fraught ‘good[-]guy’
mitigation strategy did not satisfy [coun-
sel’s] duty first to unearth potentially miti-
gating mental[-]health evidence.’’ Id. at
1174. Yet here, Hall did not recommend
further testing, so Davis’s trial counsel did
not contradict expert advice when she
elected not to pursue further testing.
Moreover, Davis’s trial counsel did not dis-
count Hall’s evaluation because it clashed
with a planned defense; instead, trial coun-
sel used Hall’s evaluation to make a strate-
gic decision about what kind of defense to
pursue.

Davis also relies on Hooper v. Mullin,
314 F.3d 1162 (10th Cir. 2002). There, de-
fense counsel received a one-page report
from a psychologist who indicated the peti-
tioner suffered from possible brain damage
and recommended additional mental-health
testing. 314 F.3d at 1168. Rather than
follow that recommendation, counsel decid-

ed to present an undeveloped defense
based on the mere possibility of brain
damage. See id. at 1170. We held that this
was unreasonably deficient performance
(and that the OCCA unreasonably conclud-
ed otherwise), stating, ‘‘[d]efense counsel
specifically chose to present, as mitigating
evidence, the possibility that [p]etitioner
might have brain damage and other psy-
chological problems. Having made that
strategic decision, however, [p]etitioner’s
counsel then presented this evidence with-
out any further investigation, in an unpre-
pared and ill-informed manner’’ and with-
out speaking to his experts prior to trial.
Id. at 1171. But here, again, Hall did not
recommend any further testing. Moreover,
the failures in Hooper went beyond a sim-
ple failure to investigate; indeed, trial
counsel’s lone strategy in that case was to
mount a defense based on the possibility of
brain damage—a possibility he intentional-
ly declined to investigate. Davis points to
no similar facts here.

The facts of the third case that Davis
relies on, Anderson, 476 F.3d 1131, are
even less analogous. There, applying de
novo review, we found counsel performed
deficiently by conducting ‘‘only the most
rudimentary investigation of [petitioner’s]
background’’ and by presenting a ‘‘skele-
tal’’ mitigation case to the jury. See id. at
1142, 1144–45. Here, by contrast, trial
counsel indisputably investigated Davis’s
background and presented a mitigation
case that, unlike in Anderson, ‘‘offer[ed]
the jury a potential explanation’’ for
Davis’s actions. Id. at 1144.

[19] Thus, none of Davis’s cases are
persuasive. And in light of Hall’s experi-
ence and the certainty of her conclusions,
we conclude that trial counsel did not per-
form deficiently when she relied on Hall’s
evaluation of Davis and ceased investigat-

7. Additionally, the two mental-health profes-
sionals who previously evaluated Davis nei-

ther suggested further testing nor indicated
that Davis might suffer from PTSD.

APPENDIX A



1303DAVIS v. SHARP
Cite as 943 F.3d 1290 (10th Cir. 2019)

ing Davis’s mental health. See Strickland,
466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (‘‘[A] par-
ticular decision not to investigate must be
directly assessed for reasonableness in all
the circumstances, applying a heavy meas-
ure of deference to counsel’s judgments.’’);
Duckett, 306 F.3d at 998 (applying Strick-
land to evaluate merits of trial IAC claim
omitted from appeal as part of deciding
whether appellate IAC claim had merit
and thus established cause to overcome
procedural default of trial IAC claim). In-
deed, ‘‘the duty to investigate does not
force defense lawyers to scour the globe on
the off chance something will turn up;
reasonably diligent counsel may draw a
line when they have good reason to think
further investigation would be a waste.’’
Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 383, 125 S.Ct. 2456.
And here, applying the requisite deference
to trial counsel’s decision, she reasonably
drew a line after receiving the results of
Hall’s evaluation. See id. Thus, the Trial
PTSD Claim lacks merit.

[20] We therefore conclude that rea-
sonable jurists could agree that appellate
counsel did not perform deficiently when
she omitted the Trial PTSD Claim from
Davis’s appeal. See Duckett, 306 F.3d at
997–98 (holding that OCCA did not unrea-
sonably apply Strickland when it rejected
claim that appellate counsel was ineffective
in failing to allege trial counsel was ineffec-
tive in failing to pursue drug-and-sex-
abuse mitigation case; noting that trial
counsel’s decision to instead pursue PTSD
mitigation case was strategic and based on
reasonable investigation, and reasoning
that ‘‘[b]ecause trial counsel was not inef-
fective, appellate counsel correlatively
[could not] be ineffective for failing to raise
a dependent ineffectiveness claim’’). Fur-
ther, we conclude reasonable jurists could
agree that appellate counsel did not per-

form deficiently when, like trial counsel,
she relied on Hall’s evaluation and ceased
investigating Davis’s mental health. See
Richter, 562 U.S. at 105, 131 S.Ct. 770
(‘‘When § 2254(d) applies, the question is
not whether counsel’s actions were reason-
able. The question is whether there is any
reasonable argument that counsel satisfied
Strickland’s deferential standard.’’).

In sum, we cannot say that ‘‘all ‘fair-
minded jurists’ would’’ disagree with the
OCCA’s adjudication of the performance
prong of the Appellate PTSD Claim. Stouf-
fer, 738 F.3d at 1221 (quoting Harrington,
562 U.S. at 101, 131 S.Ct. 770). And that
means the Appellate PTSD claim both
lacks merit as a standalone claim and fails
to establish cause to excuse the procedural
default of the Trial PTSD Claim.8 Accord-
ingly, we affirm the district court’s order
denying habeas relief on the PTSD Claims.

Conclusion

The Depression Claims are subject to an
anticipatory procedural bar. And because
the Appellate PTSD Claim lacks merit, it
does not excuse the procedural default of
the Trial PTSD Claim or constitute an
independent basis for granting the writ.
We therefore affirm the district court’s
order denying habeas relief. As a final
matter, we deny Davis’s request for an
expanded COA to appeal the district
court’s order denying relief on three addi-
tional claims he presented in his § 2254
petition because reasonable jurists could
not debate the district court’s resolution of
those claims. See Slack v. McDaniel, 529
U.S. 473, 484, 120 S.Ct. 1595, 146 L.Ed.2d
542 (2000).

,
 

8. Because the Appellate PTSD Claim fails on
the performance prong, we need not consider
Strickland’s prejudice prong. Likewise, be-

cause Davis cannot show cause, we also need
not address the prejudice prong of the cause-
and-prejudice analysis.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 

NICHOLAS ALEXANDER DAVIS, ) 
 ) 
 Petitioner,  ) 
  ) 
vs.   ) NO. CIV-12-1111-HE 
  ) 
TERRY ROYAL, Warden, ) 
 Oklahoma State Penitentiary, ) 
  ) 
 Respondent.1 ) 
  ) 
 
 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

 Petitioner, Nicholas Alexander Davis, a state court prisoner, has filed a petition for 

a writ of habeas corpus seeking relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254.  Doc. 17.  Petitioner 

challenges the convictions entered against him in Oklahoma County District Court Case 

No. CF-2004-347.  Tried by a jury in 2007, petitioner was found guilty of murder in the 

first degree, two counts of shooting with intent to kill, and possession of a firearm after 

former conviction of a felony.  Petitioner was sentenced to death for the murder.  In support 

of his death sentence, the jury found three aggravating circumstances: (1) petitioner 

knowingly created a great risk of death to more than one person; (2) the murder was 

committed while petitioner was serving a sentence of imprisonment on conviction of a 

                                                           
1 Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 25(d), Terry Royal, who currently serves as warden of the 

Oklahoma State Penitentiary, is hereby substituted as the proper party respondent. 
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felony; and (3) the existence of a probability that petitioner would commit criminal acts of 

violence that would constitute a continuing threat to society.  For his non-capital crimes, 

petitioner received concurrent prison sentences of 45 years, 67 years, and 25 years, 

respectively (O.R. VII, 1331-34, 1339, 1383-84; O.R. VIII, 1468-71; Tr. 5/4/07, 912-13; 

Tr. 5/16/07, 1263-65; Tr. 8/31/07, 7, 9). 

 Petitioner appealed his convictions and sentences to the Oklahoma Court of 

Criminal Appeals (hereinafter “OCCA”).  The OCCA affirmed in a published opinion.  

Davis v. State, 268 P.3d 86 (Okla. Crim. App. 2011), cert. denied, 568 U.S. 867 (2012).  

Petitioner also filed an application for post-conviction relief, which the OCCA denied in 

an unpublished opinion.  Davis v. State, No. PCD-2007-1201 (Okla. Crim. App. Jan. 25, 

2012). 

 Petitioner has presented eight grounds for relief.  Respondent has responded to the 

petition and petitioner has replied.  Docs. 26 and 35.  In addition to his petition, petitioner 

has filed a motion for an evidentiary hearing.  Doc. 19.  After a thorough review of the 

entire state court record (which respondent has provided), the pleadings filed in this case, 

and the applicable law, the court concludes that, for the reasons set forth here, petitioner is 

not entitled to habeas relief. 

I.  Facts. 

 In adjudicating petitioner’s direct appeal, the OCCA set forth a summary of the 

facts.  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1), “a determination of a factual issue made by a 

State court shall be presumed to be correct.”  Although this presumption may be rebutted, 
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the court finds that petitioner has not done so.  Thus, as determined by the OCCA, the facts 

are as follows: 

On January 15, 2004, at approximately 10:30 p.m., Tia Green picked 
up her sister, Chinetta Hooks, from work and took her home. Hooks, her 
husband and four children, all under the age of ten, lived in Apartment 1111 
in the Falls Creek Apartments in Oklahoma City. Seventeen year old, Marcus 
Smith, Hooks’ brother-in-law, had been watching the children while Hooks 
and her husband worked. When Green and Hooks arrived at the apartment, 
the children had made a pallet in the living room intending to sleep there all 
night. Hooks rejected the idea and sent the children to bed. She, Green and 
Smith then visited for a while. 
 

Shortly after 11:00 p.m., there was a knock on the front door. Smith 
went to the front door and tried to look out of the peephole. However, the 
person on the other side had put their thumb over it. The trio inside the 
apartment repeatedly asked who was at the door but received no response. 
Thinking it might be his brother, Smith slightly opened the door. [Petitioner], 
clad completely in black clothing, forced his way into the apartment with a 
gun in his hand. He shut the front door behind him and locked it. [Petitioner] 
was Green’s former boyfriend. She had only recently ended a turbulent 
relationship with him. When [Petitioner] entered the apartment, he pointed 
the gun at Smith as Smith put his hands in the air and backed up. Green and 
Hooks remained seated on the sofa. Smith asked [Petitioner], “what’s going 
on” and “why are you doing this, man?” [Petitioner] offered no reply. Green 
also asked [Petitioner] what he was doing. [Petitioner] initially gave no 
response, but eventually looked at Green and said, “you hurt me for the last 
time.” [Petitioner] then lowered the gun to his side. Green reached for her 
cell phone but [Petitioner] told her, “you bet not touch that phone.” Green 
and Hooks then started screaming for [Petitioner] not to shoot. [Petitioner] 
responded by raising his gun, pointing it at Smith, then lowering the gun. 
Green pleaded with [Petitioner] to go outside with her and talk things over. 
[Petitioner’s] response was to raise the gun a third time to Smith’s head and 
fire. 
 

After the first shot, Green ran into the nearby bathroom. She locked 
the door and attempted to call the police. Unable to get her call to go through, 
she phoned another sister, told her [Petitioner] had shot her, and directed her 
to call the police. [Petitioner] followed Green to the bathroom, kicking at the 
door and shouting at her to open the door. 
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Meanwhile, intending to call the police, Hooks had run into the 
kitchen upon hearing the first gunshot. She felt a shot go through her leg 
before falling to the floor. She heard a total of nine gunshots. The children, 
upon hearing the gunshots, ran to the kitchen to find their mother on the floor 
in a pool of blood. When they began screaming that their mother was going 
to die, Hooks told them to go to the neighbor’s apartment. Still holding the 
telephone, she dialed 911, said she had been shot and then lost consciousness. 
 

Green was still hiding in the bathroom when she heard the children 
run down the hallway toward the kitchen. As [Petitioner] was no longer 
kicking the door, Green left the bathroom and sat with her sister until police 
arrived. Oklahoma City Police Officer Matthew Reed responded to the 911 
call and was met at the apartment complex gate by Hooks’ children. Before 
being taken to the hospital, Green identified [Petitioner] as the shooter. She 
had been shot twice–once in the side and once in the back. The bullet which 
entered her side became lodged in her chest while the other bullet exited her 
body. 
 

Hooks had been shot in the right arm, right leg, and the back of her 
head. Only the bullet to her arm became lodged in her body, the other two 
having exited. Marcus Smith was dead at the scene. He had been shot three 
times–on the top of his head, the left shoulder, and the back between the 
shoulder blades. The bullet to his left shoulder was the only one to exit his 
body. 
 

After the shootings, [Petitioner] fled the scene. He was eventually 
arrested four months later in San Antonio, Texas. [Petitioner] voluntarily 
spoke with police and told them he threw the murder weapon onto the side 
of an interstate highway in Oklahoma. The weapon has never been recovered. 
[Petitioner] also told police that Green had called him and told him to meet 
her at her sister’s apartment so they could talk. He said he took a gun with 
him because he did not trust Green as she had tried to harm him in the past. 
[Petitioner] said he was surprised to find Smith at the apartment as he was 
not expecting a man to be there. [Petitioner] admitted shooting Green, Hooks 
and Smith but said he shot Smith in self-defense after Smith lunged at him.  

 
Davis, 268 P.3d at 97-99. 
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II.  Standard of Review. 

 A. Exhaustion as a Preliminary Consideration. 

 The exhaustion doctrine, a matter of comity which has long been a part of habeas 

corpus jurisprudence, requires the court to consider in the first instance whether petitioner 

has presented his grounds for relief to the OCCA.  As the Supreme Court stated in 

Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 731 (1991), “in a federal system, the States should 

have the first opportunity to address and correct alleged violations of state prisoner’s 

federal rights.”  The exhaustion doctrine is set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 2254(b). 

Section 2254(b)(1)(A) prohibits the court from granting habeas relief in the absence of 

exhaustion (although Section 2254(b)(1)(B) sets forth two limited exceptions to this rule), 

but Section 2254(b)(2) expressly authorizes the court to deny habeas relief 

“notwithstanding the failure of the applicant to exhaust the remedies available in the courts 

of the State.” 

 B. Procedural Bar. 

 Beyond the issue of exhaustion, the court must also examine how the OCCA 

adjudicated each of petitioner’s grounds for relief, i.e., whether the OCCA addressed the 

merits of petitioner’s grounds or declined to consider them based on a state procedural rule.  

“It is well established that federal courts will not review questions of federal law presented 

in a habeas petition when the state court’s decision rests upon a state-law ground that ‘is 

independent of the federal question and adequate to support the judgment.’” Cone v. Bell, 

556 U.S. 449, 465 (2009) (quoting Coleman, 501 U.S. at 729).  “The doctrine applies to 

bar federal habeas [relief] when a state court declined to address a prisoner’s federal claims 

Case 5:12-cv-01111-HE   Document 38   Filed 09/20/17   Page 5 of 48

APPENDIX C



6 
 

because the prisoner had failed to meet a state procedural requirement.”  Coleman, 

501 U.S. at 729-30. 

 C. Limited Merits Review. 

 When the OCCA has addressed the merits of one of petitioner’s grounds for relief, 

the court reviews that ground in accordance with the standard of relief set forth in 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2254(d).  Pursuant to that section of the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act 

of 1996 (hereinafter “AEDPA”), in order for petitioner to obtain relief, he must show that 

the OCCA’s adjudication of his claim either 

(1) resulted in a decision that was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable 
application of, clearly established Federal law, as determined by the Supreme 
Court of the United States; or 
 
(2) resulted in a decision that was based on an unreasonable determination of 
the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding. 
 

See Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 170, 181 (2011) (acknowledging that “[t]he petitioner 

carries the burden of proof”).  The very focus of this statutory provision is the 

reasonableness of the OCCA’s decision.  “The question under AEDPA is not whether a 

federal court believes the state court’s determination was incorrect but whether that 

determination was unreasonable–a substantially higher threshold.”  Schriro v. Landrigan, 

550 U.S. 465, 473 (2007).  In other words, “[i]t is not enough that [this] court, in its 

independent review of the legal question, is left with a firm conviction that the [OCCA] 

was erroneous.”  What is required is a showing that the OCCA’s decision is “objectively 

unreasonable.”  Lockyer v. Andrade, 538 U.S. 63, 75-76 (2003) (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted). 
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 The Supreme Court has repeatedly acknowledged that Section 2254(d) “‘erects a 

formidable barrier to federal habeas relief for prisoners whose claims have been 

adjudicated in state court[,]’” and that “[i]f [it] is difficult to meet, that is because it was 

meant to be.”  White v. Wheeler, 577 U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 456, 460 (2015) (quoting Burt v. 

Titlow, 571 U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 10, 16 (2013)); Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 

102 (2011).  Section 2254(d) “stops short of imposing a complete bar on federal-court 

relitigation of claims already rejected in state proceedings.”  Richter, 562 U.S. at 102.  What 

remains, then, is a very narrow avenue for relief, one that permits relief only “where there 

is no possibility fairminded jurists could disagree that the [OCCA’s] decision conflicts with 

[the Supreme] Court’s precedents.” Id. (emphasis added).   

Section 2254(d) reflects the view that habeas corpus is a “guard against 
extreme malfunctions in the state criminal justice systems,” not a substitute 
for ordinary error correction through appeal. As a condition for obtaining 
habeas corpus from a federal court, a state prisoner must show that the state 
court’s ruling on the claim being presented in federal court was so lacking in 
justification that there was an error well understood and comprehended in 
existing law beyond any possibility for fairminded disagreement. 
 

Id. at 102-03 (citation omitted).  When reviewing a claim under Section 2254(d), review 

“is limited to the record that was before the state court that adjudicated the claim on the 

merits.”  Pinholster, 563 U.S. at 181. 

III.  Analysis. 

A. Grounds One and Two: Ineffective Assistance of Trial and Appellate 
Counsel for Failing to Present Mental Health 
Evidence. 

 
In Ground One, petitioner asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to 

investigate, develop, and present evidence that he suffers from Posttraumatic Stress 
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Disorder, Traumatic Brain Injury, and Major Depressive Disorder.2  In Ground Two, 

petitioner faults his appellate counsel for not raising his Ground One on direct appeal.  For 

the following reasons, petitioner is not entitled to relief on either ground. 

 Petitioner asserts that his Grounds One and Two were presented to the OCCA in his 

post-conviction application.  Pet. at 28, 36-37.  On post-conviction, petitioner asserted that 

both trial and appellate counsel were ineffective for “FAILING TO ADEQUATELY 

INVESTIGATE, DEVELOP AND PRESENT PSYCHOLOGICAL EVIDENCE . . . [.]” 

Application for Post-Conviction Relief (hereinafter “APCR”) at 8.  Because the jury did 

not hear evidence of his “severe mental illness,” petitioner argued that both stages of his 

trial were affected.  Id. at 9.  Relying on an affidavit from Dr. Lara Duke, a licensed 

psychologist who evaluated him in November 2009, petitioner stated that his mental illness 

was Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (hereinafter “PTSD”).  Id. at 10 & n.2 (referencing 

APCR Exhibit 3 and faulting his trial and appellate counsel for not presenting his PTSD 

diagnosis at trial or on appeal).  Petitioner argued that had trial and appellate counsel 

developed this evidence, they could have shown that his PTSD “affected his intent at the 

time of the crime.”  Id. at 10.  Petitioner further argued that “[e]vidence of [his] PTSD 

would have been relevant to the issue of whether he shot with malice aforethought, or did 

so out of a sense of exaggerated fear and terror caused by his PTSD.”  Id. at 12. With 

                                                           
2 Although petitioner makes references to other mental health issues he may have, the 

references are both vague and unsupported.  Pet. at 6, 20, 23, 29.  In addition, like the other 
unexhausted claims raised in his Grounds One and Two, any claim of ineffective assistance of 
counsel related to other mental impairments would be procedurally barred. 

Case 5:12-cv-01111-HE   Document 38   Filed 09/20/17   Page 8 of 48

APPENDIX C



9 
 

respect to sentencing, petitioner acknowledged that appellate counsel had not only 

challenged trial counsel’s mitigation case on direct appeal (on different grounds)3 but had 

asked for and received an evidentiary hearing to establish trial counsel’s ineffectiveness. 

However, petitioner faulted his appellate counsel for “wholly fail[ing] to develop or present 

expert testimony relating to [his] serious psychological condition.” Id. at 15. Petitioner 

claimed that had “counsel presented evidence of [his] mental illness, there is a reasonable 

probability that the result of the sentencing proceeding would have been different.”  Id. at 

16. 

 In addressing petitioner’s ineffectiveness claims, the OCCA acknowledged that 

petitioner’s specific complaint was the failure of trial and appellate counsel to discover and 

utilize his PTSD diagnosis.  Davis, No. PCD-2007-1201, slip op. at 3.  Because the trial 

counsel aspect of this claim could have been presented on direct appeal, the OCCA found 

it waived.  Id. at 4, 6-7.  Regarding the appellate counsel challenge, the OCCA denied relief 

on the merits.  Id. at 7-8. 

Unexhausted Claims 

 Respondent argues that portions of petitioner’s Grounds One and Two are 

unexhausted.  He is correct.  As set forth above, petitioner’s post-conviction challenge was 

limited to counsels’ alleged failures with respect to his PTSD diagnosis.  He did not make 

any assertion about counsels’ alleged failures with respect to his diagnoses for Traumatic 

                                                           
3 On direct appeal, petitioner faulted trial counsel for not presenting (1) an expert to 

explain how his past experiences affected his behavior and (2) his brother to testify about their 
childhood experience.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 129-38.      
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Brain Injury and Major Depressive Disorder.4  In order to exhaust these portions of his 

Grounds One and Two (hereinafter “TBI/MDD ineffectiveness claims”), petitioner would 

have to return to state court and file a second post-conviction application.  Contending that 

the OCCA would refuse to hear the merits of petitioner’s TBI/MDD ineffectiveness claims 

due to petitioner’s failure to raise them in his first post-conviction application, respondent 

asserts that these claims should be procedurally barred.  See Anderson v. Sirmons, 476 F.3d 

1131, 1139-40 n.7 (10th Cir. 2007) (“Anticipatory procedural bar occurs when the federal 

courts apply procedural bar to an unexhausted claim that would be procedurally barred 

under state law if the petitioner returned to state court to exhaust it.”) (internal quotation 

marks and citation omitted); Okla. Stat. tit. 22, § 1089(D)(8).5 

                                                           
4 According to information supplied by petitioner, petitioner was diagnosed with these 

conditions in 2013, over a year after his post-conviction application was denied. See Pet’r’s 
Attachs. 9 and 18.   

5 “If an original application for post-conviction relief is untimely or if a subsequent 
application for post-conviction relief is filed after filing an original application, the Court of 
Criminal Appeals may not consider the merits of or grant relief based on the subsequent or 
untimely original application unless: 

a. the application contains claims and issues that have not been and could not have been 
presented previously in a timely original application or in a previously considered 
application filed under this section, because the legal basis for the claim was 
unavailable, or 

b. (1) the application contains sufficient specific facts establishing that the current 
claims and issues have not and could not have been presented previously in a timely 
original application or in a previously considered application filed under this section, 
because the factual basis for the claim was unavailable as it was not ascertainable 
through the exercise of reasonable diligence on or before that date, and 

c. (2) the facts underlying the claim, if proven and viewed in light of the evidence as a 
whole, would be sufficient to establish by clear and convincing evidence that, but for 
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 Petitioner makes several arguments as to why a procedural bar should not be 

applied.  First, petitioner attempts to satisfy an exception to its application.  In Coleman, 

501 U.S. at 750, the Supreme Court held that a habeas petitioner can obtain merits review 

of a claim he defaulted in state court by “demonstrat[ing] cause for the default and actual 

prejudice as a result of the alleged violation of federal law . . . .”  Specific to his 

Ground One, and with reference to his Ground Two, petitioner faults his appellate counsel 

for failing to raise the TBI/MDD ineffectiveness claims on direct appeal.  However, 

appellate counsel’s failure to raise these claims on direct appeal does not excuse 

petitioner’s failure to raise them in his first post-conviction application.   

Petitioner also makes general challenges to the independence and adequacy of the 

OCCA’s procedural rules.  “To be independent, the procedural ground must be based solely 

on state law.”  Thacker v. Workman, 678 F.3d 820, 835 (10th Cir. 2012).  “To be adequate, 

the procedural ground must be strictly or regularly followed and applied evenhandedly to 

all similar claims.”  Id. at 835 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).   

Citing the OCCA’s decision in Valdez v. State, 46 P.3d 703 (Okla. Crim. App. 

2002), petitioner asserts that because Valdez gives the OCCA discretion to grant relief on 

post-conviction claims which would otherwise be precluded from merits review due to the 

OCCA’s own procedural rules, the OCCA’s rules are not adequate.  Petitioner also claims 

that because the OCCA must necessarily review the underlying claim in order to evaluate 

                                                           
the alleged error, no reasonable fact finder would have found the applicant guilty of 
the underlying offense or would have rendered the penalty of death.” 
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whether Valdez relief is warranted, the OCCA’s rules are not independent.  Pet. at 82-85.  

This argument, however, has been repeatedly rejected by the Tenth Circuit.  Fairchild v. 

Trammell, 784 F.3d 702, 719 (10th Cir. 2015); Williams v. Trammell, 782 F.3d 1184, 

1213-14 (10th Cir. 2015); Black v. Tramwell [sic], 485 F. App’x 335 (10th Cir. 2012); 

Banks v. Workman, 692 F.3d 1133, 1144-47 (10th Cir. 2012); Black v. Workman, 682 F.3d 

880, 914, 916-19 (10th Cir. 2012); Thacker, 678 F.3d at 834-36; Spears v. Mullin, 343 F.3d 

1215, 1254-55 (10th Cir. 2003).  

Petitioner additionally asserts that the OCCA’s Rule 3.11, which concerns 

supplementation of the record on direct appeal, is inadequate.  By challenging Rule 3.11, 

petitioner necessarily implies that his first post-conviction application was his first genuine 

opportunity to raise his trial counsel ineffectiveness claims.  Pet. at 82 & n.17.  However, 

like his appellate counsel as cause argument, the adequacy or inadequacy of Rule 3.11 is 

irrelevant to the procedural rule at issue here.  Even if Rule 3.11 was found inadequate, it 

would only excuse petitioner’s failure to raise the TBI/MDD ineffectiveness claims on 

direct appeal.  It would not excuse his failure to raise the claims in his first post-conviction 

application.   

In sum, petitioner’s TBI/MDD ineffectiveness claims are procedurally barred.  

Because petitioner has not presented these claims to the OCCA and because it is clear that 

the OCCA would refuse to hear the merits of the claims if petitioner attempted to exhaust 

them now, an anticipatory procedural bar applies.  As petitioner has offered no sufficient 

reason to excuse its application, the court concludes that these claims as presented in both 

is his Grounds One and Two are procedurally barred.  
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PTSD Claims 

What remains then are petitioner’s claims of ineffectiveness related to his PTSD.  

As noted above, the OCCA found the trial counsel aspect of this claim to be barred.  Davis, 

No. PCD-2007-1201, slip op. at 7 (“While Dr. Duke did not meet with Petitioner until after 

the direct appeal had been filed, all of the information she relied upon in making her 

assessment was available to appellate counsel. As Petitioner’s claim does not depend on 

facts unavailable at the time of his direct appeal, he has failed to meet the conditions for 

review of this claim on the merits and therefore review is barred.”).  As with petitioner’s 

TBI/MDD ineffectiveness claims, respondent asserts that the trial counsel PTSD claim 

should be also procedurally barred. Therefore, the court must again address petitioner’s 

arguments against its application, but with relation to petitioner’s failure to raise the claim 

on direct appeal.  

 As for petitioner’s independence/adequacy challenges, the Valdez discussion above 

applies equally here.  Based on Tenth Circuit precedent, the court declines to excuse 

petitioner’s default of his trial counsel PTSD claim based on Valdez.  Petitioner’s challenge 

based on Rule 3.11 also lacks merit.  Although Rule 3.11 is relevant here and its alleged 

inadequacy could explain petitioner’s failure to raise his trial counsel PTSD claim on direct 

appeal, petitioner’s specific adequacy challenge was expressly rejected by the Tenth 

Circuit in Lott v. Trammell, 705 F.3d 1167, 1213 (10th Cir. 2013). Petitioner’s challenge 

to Rule 3.11 is also undercut by the fact that he utilized Rule 3.11 in his own direct appeal 

to obtain an evidentiary hearing on other trial counsel ineffectiveness claims which were 

outside the appellate record.  Under these circumstances, petitioner is hard pressed to argue 
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that Rule 3.11 is an inadequate procedure to develop extra-record ineffective assistance of 

counsel claims.    

 Petitioner’s stated cause, appellate counsel ineffectiveness (which is also raised as 

a freestanding claim), applies to his trial counsel PTSD claim and requires greater 

discussion.6  Because the OCCA addressed the merits of petitioner’s appellate counsel 

claim, it is entitled to AEDPA deference. See Richter, 562 U.S. at 105 (discussing the 

double deferential standard when the limitations of the AEDPA are applied to a claim of 

ineffective assistance of counsel).7   

 “A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel can serve as cause and 

prejudice to overcome a procedural bar, if it has merit.”  Ryder ex rel. Ryder v. Warrior, 

810 F.3d 724, 747 (10th Cir. 2016), cert. denied 137 S. Ct. 498 (2016).  Whether appellate 

counsel was ineffective is governed by the test set forth in Strickland v Washington, 

466 U.S. 668 (1984).  Milton v. Miller, 744 F.3d 660, 669 (10th Cir. 2014) (citing Smith v. 

Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000)).  Strickland requires a petitioner to show (1) that his 

appellate counsel’s actions on appeal were objectively unreasonable and (2) that, but for 

counsel’s unreasonable actions, there is a reasonable probability that he would have 

prevailed on appeal.  Robbins, 528 U.S. at 285-86; Miller v. Mullin, 354 F.3d 1288, 

1297 (10th Cir. 2004) (quoting Ellis v. Hargett, 302 F.3d 1182, 1186-87 (10th Cir. 2002)). 

                                                           
6 In rejecting petitioner’s stated cause, the court likewise denies petitioner’s Ground Two.  

7 Review is limited to the record that was before the OCCA. Pinholster, 563 U.S. at 181.  
Therefore, Petitioner’s Attachments 5 through 17, relied upon by petitioner in support of his PTSD 
ineffectiveness claims, will not be considered.  
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 When an appellate counsel claim concerns omitted issues, Strickland’s first prong 

requires a showing that counsel unreasonably omitted “nonfrivolous issues.”  Robbins, 

528 U.S. at 285.  When counsel has filed a brief on the merits, it is difficult to show his 

incompetence for failing to raise a particular claim.  Id. at 288.  Appellate counsel does not 

have an obligation to raise every possible claim irrespective of its merit.  In fact, “the 

hallmark of effective appellate advocacy” is the “process of ‘winnowing out weaker 

arguments on appeal and focusing on’ those more likely to prevail . . . .”  Smith v. Murray, 

477 U.S. 527, 536 (1986) (quoting Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52 (1983)). “This 

has assumed a greater importance in an era when oral argument is strictly limited in most 

courts–often to as little as 15 minutes–and when page limits on briefs are widely 

imposed.”  Jones, 463 U.S. at 752-53.  

 The omitted claim in the present case is trial counsel ineffectiveness, which is also 

governed by Strickland.  As with appellate counsel claims, Strickland requires a defendant 

to show that his trial counsel was deficient and that he was prejudiced by it.  Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 687.  A defendant must show that his counsel “made errors so serious that 

counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed . . . by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. 

The assessment of counsel’s conduct is “highly deferential,” and a defendant must 

overcome the strong presumption that counsel’s actions constituted “‘sound trial 

strategy.’”  Id. at 689 (citation omitted).  “[S]trategic choices made after thorough 

investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually 

unchallengeable . . . .”  Id. at 690. 
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 As Strickland cautions, “[i]t is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess 

counsel’s assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, 

examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular 

act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.”  Id. at 689.  Therefore, “[a] fair assessment 

of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting 

effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and 

to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time.” Id.  Within “the wide range 

of reasonable professional assistance,” “[t]here are countless ways to provide effective 

assistance in any given case[, and] [e]ven the best criminal defense attorneys would not 

defend a particular client in the same way.”  Id.  

 As for prejudice, Strickland requires a defendant to show that his trial counsel’s 

errors and omissions resulted in actual prejudice to him.  Id. at 687.  In order to make a 

threshold showing of actual prejudice, a defendant “must show that there is a reasonable 

probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would 

have been different.  A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine 

confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.   

 In denying petitioner’s appellate counsel claim, the OCCA concluded that petitioner 

had failed to show that his appellate counsel was deficient in not raising the PTSD claim 

on direct appeal.  In fact, the OCCA found that petitioner “ha[d] not provided any support 

for his claim appellate counsel did not fully investigate the psychological evidence.”  

Davis, No. PCD-2007-1201, slip op. at 7 (emphasis added).  While petitioner’s underlying 

claim was that trial counsel had erred in failing to present evidence of PTSD, the only 
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evidence he presented in support was the affidavit of Dr. Duke.  He did not provide the 

OCCA with any statement or affidavit from trial counsel regarding why this evidence was 

not presented.8 Id. Thus, the OCCA concluded that petitioner “ha[d] not rebutted the 

presumption that counsel acted as competent counsel and fully investigated the issue and 

purposefully omitted the claim from the direct appeal.”  Id. at 7-8.9 

 Denying petitioner relief because he failed to meet his burden of proof is reasonable.  

As discussed above, the Strickland standard is high and very deferential to counsel. 

However, the record provides additional support for the OCCA’s determination that 

appellate counsel was not deficient. At the evidentiary hearing held on direct appeal, 

appellate counsel repeatedly stated that she had intentionally omitted a challenge to trial 

counsel’s failure to present mental health evidence.10  During an ex parte hearing, appellate 

                                                           
8 Interestingly, trial counsel did provide an affidavit on direct appeal.  The affidavit was 

included with petitioner’s Rule 3.11 motion.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 131-32. 

9 With obvious reference to the evidentiary hearing conducted on direct appeal, during 
which both trial counsel and an investigator for the defense gave extensive testimony about their 
preparation of the mitigation case, the OCCA additionally concluded that “[t]he record reflects 
counsel fully investigated Petitioner’s background and was well acquainted with the information 
upon which Dr. Duke relied.” Davis, No. PCD-2007-1201, slip op. at 8.   

10 Tr. 12/3/09, 380-81 (“We purposely didn’t raise Counsel’s failure not to retain [a] 
mental health expert and not to present the mental health history . . . .”); 548 (“We haven’t raised 
an issue with lack of psychological testing.”); 550 (“We’ve never submitted that [trial counsel] 
should have had him tested or should have presented any kind of mental illness evidence.”); 
552 (“We’ve never argued that [trial counsel] was ineffective for failing to put Dr. Edgar 
on. . . . Or any other mental health expert.”); 553 (“[W]e haven’t claimed the ineffective 
assistance of counsel for failure to put on mental health experts.”); 554 (“We are not alleging 
ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to put on a mental health expert to talk about his mental 
state.”); 555 (“I’m saying we have not raised an issue with the fact that [trial counsel] did not 
call a psychologist to do testing and to testify about any mental health issues [petitioner] might 
have . . . .”). 
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counsel even informed the trial court of the reason why no such challenge was raised – 

petitioner had been evaluated and was diagnosed a psychopath.  Appellate counsel 

provided the trial court with a copy of a memorandum prepared by trial counsel. The 

memorandum is dated January 2, 2007, some three months before trial.  In the memo, trial 

counsel discusses Dr. Terese Hall’s evaluation of petitioner: 

This morning Terese Hall and I spoke about [petitioner].  Terese called over 
the holiday and left a message that she had ceased work on [petitioner’s] case 
because she does not believe she can be of assistance to us. 
 
Teresa [sic] said that after seeing [petitioner] for several hours at the county 
jail (a visit she characterized as “what an impression.”), and after reviewing 
our reports of interviews with family members, Terese is of the opinion that 
nothing about [petitioner’s] upbringing was “that bad,” such that we should 
be seeing the kind of person that he is.  Terese said she sees nothing to explain 
why [petitioner] is what he is – a psychopath. 
 
Terese said that she does not need to do testing to see clearly that [petitioner] 
is anti-social personality disordered.  He scores high on any risk assessment 
scale, without her even needing to test him.  He’s high on the Hare 
Psychopathy Checklist. 
 
Terese said what literature there is out there on psychopaths tells us that they 
are born not made.  She said nothing about his upbringing explains his 
psychopathy; his neuro deficits are born with him – the risk taking, the not 
caring for others, only caring for self. . . . 
 
Terese noted that [petitioner] is highly resistant to suggestion that his view 
of the case is indefensible and unrealistic.  She also noted that he is agitated 
enough – filled with anger and self-justification-- that he will frighten a jury.  
She does not think he should testify, but doubts we will be able to keep him 
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from doing so, as he is convinced that once a jury hears what he has to say 
that they will acquit him. 
 

(Tr. 12/3/09, 380-383; Court’s Exhibit 3).11 

 This clearly explains why appellate counsel did not challenge trial counsel’s 

decision regarding mental health evidence.  Trial counsel, an experienced capital litigator,12 

had petitioner evaluated by Dr. Hall, a clinical psychologist.  See Diestel v. Hines, 506 F.3d 

1249, 1258 (10th Cir. 2007) (noting that Dr. Hall has a Ph.D. in clinical psychology and a 

law degree and has experience as a private practice psychologist and a state-employed 

forensic psychologist).  After meeting with petitioner for several hours, Dr. Hall diagnosed 

petitioner as a psychopath.13  Because psychopathy, or Antisocial Personality Disorder, is 

a damaging diagnosis,14 it was not beneficial to his defense.  As for guilt, it clearly would 

                                                           
11 Although this document was originally filed under seal, the OCCA unsealed it by order 

dated January 7, 2014.  A copy of the order is attached to the response as Exhibit 1.  

12 At the time of petitioner’s trial, trial counsel had been a regularly practicing capital trial 
attorney for eleven years. As of December 2009 (when trial counsel testified at the evidentiary 
hearing held on direct appeal), trial counsel had tried fifteen to twenty capital cases (Tr. 12/3/09, 
476, 497, 500; Tr. 12/4/09, 596). 

13 While petitioner notes that Dr. Hall did not do any forensic testing in arriving at her 
diagnosis, Pet. at 15, 19, he does not question her credentials as a psychologist, assert that her 
diagnosis was invalid without testing, or deny that he is a psychopath. 

14 “The essential feature of Antisocial Personality Disorder is a persuasive pattern of 
disregard for, and violation of, the rights of others.” AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION, 
DIAGNOSTIC AND STATISTICAL MANUAL OF MENTAL DISORDERS 701 (4th ed. text rev. 2000).  
Psychopaths are deceitful and manipulative, and they “fail to conform to social norms with respect 
to lawful behavior.” Id. at 702. They are impulsive, irritable, aggressive, and “consistently and 
extremely irresponsible.”  They “may repeatedly get into physical fights or commit acts of physical 
assault,” and “[t]hey may be indifferent to, or provide a superficial rationalization for, having 
hurt, mistreated, or stolen from someone.” Id. They “frequently lack empathy and tend to be 
callous, cynical, and contemptuous of the feelings, rights, and sufferings of others.” Id. at 703. 
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have clouded any credence the jury was willing to lend to petitioner’s version of the event, 

and during the sentencing stage, it would have equated to confirmation that he is a 

continuing threat to society.  See Jones v. Sec’y, Florida Dep’t of Corr., 834 F.3d 1299, 

1313 (11th Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 37 S. Ct. 2245 (2017) (“[W]e have often observed that 

evidence of a defendant’s antisocial personality disorder can negatively impact the jury.”); 

Reed v. Sec’y, Florida Dep’t of Corr., 593 F.3d 1217, 1246 (11th Cir. 2010) (a “diagnosis 

of antisocial personality disorder [is] . . . not ‘good’ mitigation”); Stafford v. Saffle, 34 F.3d 

1557, 1565 (10th Cir. 1994) (acknowledging that antisocial behavior plays into the jury’s 

assessment of the continuing threat aggravating circumstance).  It therefore follows that 

appellate counsel did not raise the issue due to its lack of merit as Strickland holds that 

“strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible 

options are virtually unchallengeable . . . .”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. 

 Nevertheless, petitioner contends that trial counsel should not have relied on 

Dr. Hall’s evaluation but should have had petitioner evaluated by additional mental health 

experts until she discovered that he had PTSD.15  However, Strickland does not require 

endless investigation, but only reasonable investigation. “[C]ounsel has a duty to make 

reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular 

investigations unnecessary. In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to 

investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying 

                                                           
15 Petitioner does not fault trial counsel for failing to see the “[n]umerous markers for 

[PTSD].”  In fact, he acknowledges that trial counsel was aware of some of them and perhaps 
even all of them.  Pet. at 6, 19, 21. 
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a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s judgments.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. With 

obvious concern for petitioner’s mental health, trial counsel had petitioner evaluated by a 

clinical psychologist.  But when that evaluation revealed that petitioner’s mental health 

would not be helpful to his defense, trial counsel reasonably and strategically pursued other 

lines of defense. This is not deficient performance. See Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 

383 (2005) (“[T]he duty to investigate does not force defense lawyers to scour the globe 

on the off chance something will turn up; reasonably diligent counsel may draw a line when 

they have good reason to think further investigation would be a waste.”).   

 In addition to finding no deficient performance, the OCCA also found a lack of 

prejudice.  See Davis, No. PCD-2007-1201, slip op. at 8.  Although petitioner contends 

that the OCCA’s prejudice analysis should be reviewed de novo, Reply at 2, the court 

concludes that even under de novo review, petitioner has not shown that he was prejudiced 

by appellate counsel’s failure to raise the trial counsel PTSD claim on direct appeal.  To 

establish appellate counsel prejudice, petitioner much show a reasonable probability he 

would have prevailed on appeal if the claim had been raised.  Robbins, 528 U.S. at 285-86.  

However, petitioner would not have prevailed on appeal because the record refutes any 

claim that trial counsel was deficient.  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687 (to prevail on a claim of 

ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must demonstrate both deficient performance 

and prejudice).  As discussed above, because trial counsel conducted a reasonable 

investigation into petitioner’s mental health and then made a strategic decision not to 

present any mental health evidence, petitioner’s trial counsel PTSD claim fails to meet 

Strickland’s standard for relief.  Therefore, petitioner was not prejudiced by appellate 
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counsel’s failure to raise the claim.  See Freeman v. Atty. Gen., 536 F.3d 1225, 1233 (11th 

Cir. 2008) (“A lawyer cannot be deficient for failing to raise a meritless claim . . . .”). 

 For the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that petitioner’s trial counsel PTSD 

claim is procedurally barred and that the related appellate counsel claim is denied on the 

merits.  Therefore, no relief is warranted on either of petitioner’s first two grounds for 

relief. 

B. Ground Three: Marcus Smith’s Criminal History. 
 

 In Ground Three, petitioner claims that the sentencing stage of his trial was 

fundamentally flawed because he was not allowed to present evidence of Marcus Smith’s 

criminal history. Petitioner asserts that he should have been allowed to present this 

evidence because it was relevant, mitigating, and necessary to counter the victim impact 

testimony which he characterizes as “extremely flattering” of Mr. Smith. Pet. at 39. 

Because he was not allowed to present this evidence, petitioner claims that he was denied 

his right to confront witnesses, his right to a fair sentencing proceeding, and his right to 

due process. 

Petitioner raised this claim16 on direct appeal, and the OCCA denied relief on the 

merits.  In denying relief, the OCCA concluded that the State’s victim impact evidence did 

not open the door to Mr. Smith’s history of juvenile crime, that the evidence was neither 

relevant nor mitigating, and that there was “no possible federal constitutional violation 

                                                           
16 On direct appeal, however, petitioner challenged the trial court’s ruling with respect to 

both stages of trial. Davis, 268 P.3d at 125-28.  Here, petitioner alleges only second stage error. 
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from the omission of the evidence.” Davis, 268 P.3d at 126-28. Because the OCCA 

addressed this claim on the merits, it is reviewed in light of AEDPA deference.  See Frost v. 

Pryor, 749 F.3d 1212, 1225 (10th Cir. 2014) (“Under the test, if all fairminded jurists would 

agree the state court decision was incorrect, then it was unreasonable and the habeas corpus 

writ should be granted. If, however, some fairminded jurists could possibly agree with the 

state court decision, then it was not unreasonable and the writ should be denied.”); 

Stouffer v. Trammell, 738 F.3d 1205, 1221 (10th Cir. 2013) (“We may reverse only if all 

fairminded jurists would agree that the state court got it wrong.”) (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted). 

In addition to testimony about how their family member’s murder affected them, 

Mr. Smith’s mother, father, and brother made the following statements, which petitioner 

contends opened the door to the evidence he sought to present: 

• Marcus was in the process of enrolling at Job Corp, his interests was [sic] 
auto mechanic and rapper.  He was ready to support his life and 
others (Tr. 5/14/07, 1010); 
 

• Marcus was a Christian and a member in good standing at Abyssinia 
Missionary Baptist Church where he and I [Mr. Smith’s father] served 
breakfast every Saturday, cut grass and cleaned up around the church (Id. 
at 1014); 

 
• He would call me [Mr. Smith’s brother] on a regular basis to ask me if I 

had any work he could do to make some extra money (Id. at 1038); and 
 
• I’ve [Mr. Smith’s brother] watched him grow in his faith in Jesus Christ, 

saw him teach my son and nephews life lessons that my older brother and 
I had taught him (Id.). 

 

Case 5:12-cv-01111-HE   Document 38   Filed 09/20/17   Page 23 of 48

APPENDIX C



24 
 

Petitioner asserts that this “good kid” evidence gave the jury an inaccurate picture of who 

Mr. Smith was.  Pet. at 39.  Therefore, to give the jury a more accurate picture, petitioner 

wanted to cross-examine Mr. Smith’s family members and present several witnesses to 

show that Mr. Smith, who was only seventeen years old at the time of his death, had been 

involved in criminal activity since age eleven.  Petitioner offered a Stage Two Chronology 

which showed, among other things, that Mr. Smith was a suspected gang member with 

prior arrests for vandalism, shoplifting, and burglary and a suspect in several crimes 

including burglary, destruction of property, animal cruelty, and assault and battery (Def’s 

Ex. 39).17  See also Court’s Exs. 5-12 (police reports involving Mr. Smith).   

 Petitioner contends that the OCCA’s decision is based on an unreasonable 

determination of the facts. He asserts that the OCCA denied him relief because it 

erroneously concluded that all references to Mr. Smith’s character had been redacted from 

the victim impact statements.  Pet. at 40.  While the OCCA found that the trial court’s 

statement to this effect was supported by the record,18 Davis, 268 P.3d at 126-27, it also 

found that even if the victim impact testimony included evidence of Mr. Smith’s character 

(like his father’s reference to Mr. Smith being a Christian and a church member), it was 

not sufficient to open the door to Mr. Smith’s criminal past.  “[A] criminal trial is not to be 

based upon so-called ‘character’ evidence, and the same principle applies to sentencing 

                                                           
17 Although marked as a defendant’s exhibit, Def.’s Ex. 39 was not admitted (Tr. 5/14/07, 

1031).  

18 The record shows that a significant amount of time was spent redacting the victim impact 
statements to remove inappropriate comments and references to Mr. Smith’s character to which 
petitioner objected (O.R. IV, 730-38, 747-51; Tr. 5/14/07, 924-45, 1000-07, 1023-24, 1029).   
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proceedings.”  Id. at 127 (quoting Malone v. State, 58 P.3d 208, 210 (Okla. Crim. 

App. 2002)).  The OCCA also denied petitioner’s claim because the evidence was neither 

relevant nor mitigating.  Id.  Because the OCCA’s decision did not turn on a factual finding 

of whether or not all of the references to Mr. Smith’s character had been redacted, and 

because the OCCA also denied petitioner’s claim on other grounds, petitioner has failed to 

show that the OCCA’s decision is based on an unreasonable determination of the facts.  

See Smith v. Duckworth, 824 F.3d 1233, 1251 (10th Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 

1333 (2017), reh’g denied, 137 S. Ct. 2153 (2017) (“Under § 2254(d)(2), ‘an unreasonable 

determination of the facts does not, itself, necessitate relief.’ Rather, a habeas petitioner 

must demonstrate that the state court’s decision is ‘based on’ – i.e., ‘rests upon’ – that 

unreasonable determination of the facts.”) (quoting Byrd v. Workman, 645 F.3d 1159, 

1172 (10th Cir. 2011)). 

 Petitioner has also not shown that the exclusion of this evidence denied him a fair 

sentencing proceeding.  In Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978), the Supreme Court 

held that a capital offender has a constitutional right to present evidence of “[his] character 

or record and any of the circumstances of the offense that [he] proffers as a basis for a 

sentence less than death.”  However, the evidence which petitioner wanted to present does 

not fit either category.  Petitioner wanted to present evidence of Mr. Smith’s character, not 

his own, and it is clear that the evidence did not relate to the circumstances of the offense.  

As the OCCA found, “[Mr. Smith’s] history of juvenile crime had nothing to do with his 

murder and inclusion of the evidence would not have added to the jury’s picture of the 

crime.”  Davis, 268 P.3d at 127. 
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The trial court appropriately noted that in looking at the entire crime in this 
case, “it had nothing to do with self-defense issues . . . It has to do with a 
person that was a bystander. He just happened to be there at the wrong time.” 
 

To the extent [Mr. Smith’s] juvenile crimes were relevant to 
[petitioner’s] state of mind when he fired the gun; the jury had already found 
[petitioner] intentionally and with premeditation killed [Mr. Smith]. Any 
evidence concerning his state of mind was no longer relevant. See Rojem v. 
State, 2006 OK CR 7, ¶ 56, 130 P.3d 287, 298-99 (improper for issue of 
residual doubt to make its way into a capital sentencing proceeding). 

 
Further, we fail to see how this evidence could in any way be 

considered mitigating. Evidence of [Mr. Smith’s] criminal history which had 
no relation to the crime and of which [petitioner] was not aware does not 
reduce the degree of [petitioner’s] moral culpability or blame, and are not 
circumstances which in fairness, sympathy or mercy may lead jurors to 
decide against imposing the death penalty. See OUJI–CR (2d) 4-78 
(definition of mitigating circumstances). 

 
Id.    

 As for petitioner’s confrontation claim, respondent asserts that it has not been 

adequately presented here and that in any event, it should be denied because the Supreme 

Court has never held that the Confrontation Clause applies to sentencing proceedings.  See 

Carter v. Bigelow, 787 F.3d 1269, 1294 (10th Cir. 2015) (“The Supreme Court has never 

held that the Confrontation Clause applies at capital sentencing.”); Wilson v. Sirmons, 

536 F.3d 1064, 1111-12 (10th Cir. 2008).  Although both assertions are valid, the claim 

also fails on the merits. 

While “[t]he right to cross-examine witnesses in a criminal trial is an essential part 

of the right to confront witnesses enshrined in the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth 

Amendment, . . . that right is not unlimited.”  United States v. John, 849 F.3d 912, 917 (10th 

Cir. 2017).  See also United States v. Holloway, 826 F.3d 1237, 1249 (10th Cir. 2016).  
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“[T]he Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, 

not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense 

might wish.”  Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985).  “[T]rial judges retain wide 

latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on 

such cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, 

prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness’ safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or 

only marginally relevant.” Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986). Here, 

petitioner was not denied his right to cross-examine witnesses; his questioning was simply 

limited to relevant matters. Because the Confrontation Clause allows this reasonable limit, 

petitioner’s confrontation claim is without merit.  The OCCA was therefore not 

unreasonable in its determination that the trial court’s ruling did not violate any of 

petitioner’s federal constitutional rights.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 128.  

Finally, petitioner has not shown that his due process rights were violated by 

exclusion of the evidence.  “As applied to a criminal trial, denial of due process is the 

failure to observe that fundamental fairness essential to the very concept of justice. In order 

to declare a denial of it we must find that the absence of that fairness fatally infected the 

trial; the acts complained of must be of such quality as necessarily prevents a fair trial.”  

Lisenba v. California, 314 U.S. 219, 236 (1941).  For the reasons discussed herein, 

petitioner was not denied a fundamentally fair trial by the trial court’s exclusion of 

irrelevant evidence. 

In conclusion, petitioner has failed to show that the OCCA was unreasonable in its 

denial of his Ground Three.  Ground Three is therefore denied. 
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C. Ground Four: Admission of the 911 Calls. 

In Ground Four, petitioner asserts that State’s Exhibit 190, the audiotape recording 

of the 911 calls, should not have been admitted because it was minimally relevant, highly 

emotional, and unduly prejudicial to both stages of trial. For the following reasons, 

petitioner’s Ground Four does not warrant relief. 

State’s Exhibit 190 contains two 911 calls, one from Chinetta Hooks and a second 

one from her mother.  Mrs. Hooks’ call is about six minutes in length, although there is a 

great deal of silence at different points due to Mrs. Hooks’ unconsciousness.19  On the call, 

Mrs. Hooks reports that she, her sister, and her brother-in-law have been shot.  She gives 

the 911 operator her address and asks for an ambulance.  Screaming and crying can be 

heard in the background. At one point, Mrs. Hooks’ hysterical ten-year-old daughter talks 

to the operator (Id. at 235-36).  She tells the operator that there is blood on her mother and 

all over the kitchen floor.  She says her mother is dying and she asks for help.  At the end 

of the call, the police can be heard trying to get Mrs. Hooks’ children out of the apartment.  

The second call is from Mrs. Hooks’ mother.  The record reflects that when Tia Green 

could not reach 911, she called both her mother and another sister. Although she was not 

able to reach her mother, she told her sister what happened and asked her to call the 

police (Tr. 4/30/07, 102-03).  On the second call, Mrs. Hooks and Ms. Green’s frantic 

                                                           
19 Mrs. Hooks testified that after being shot, she was in and out of 

consciousness (Tr. 4/30/07, 230, 235). 
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mother tells the 911 operator that her daughter has been shot but she does not know where 

she is. 

State’s Exhibit 190 was admitted through the testimony of Mrs. Hooks.  Petitioner 

objected to its admission arguing that it was only “minimally relevant” and “much more 

prejudicial than probative.”  The objection was overruled and the tape was played for the 

jury (Tr. 4/30/07, 230-31, 235).  On direct appeal, petitioner challenged only the admission 

of Mrs. Hooks’ 911 call, Brief of Appellant, Case No. D-2007-891, at 63-65, and therefore 

petitioner’s challenge here to the mother’s call is both unexhausted and procedurally 

barred.  See Grounds One and Two, supra (discussing the application of an anticipatory 

bar to petitioner’s unexhausted claims).20   

Petitioner asserts that the admission of Mrs. Hooks’ 911 call violated his rights to 

due process and a fair sentencing proceeding.21  In rejecting petitioner’s claim on direct 

appeal, the OCCA found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the 

evidence in the first stage and that admission of the evidence did not undermine the 

                                                           
20 The claim also lacks merit.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(b)(2) (“An application for a writ of 

habeas corpus may be denied on the merits, notwithstanding the failure of the applicant to exhaust 
the remedies available in the courts of the State.”).  Even if the mother’s call should not have been 
admitted, its admission did not deny petitioner a fundamentally fair trial. 

21 Petitioner asserts violations of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.  However, 
as respondent asserts (and petitioner fails to dispute), petitioner did not claim a Sixth Amendment 
violation when he challenged Mrs. Hooks’ 911 call on direct appeal.  See Brief of Appellant, Case 
No. D-2007-891, at 63-65. Accordingly, a Sixth Amendment claim is unexhausted and 
procedurally barred.  It is also without merit because petitioner has failed to adequately plead this 
claim.  Petitioner’s only reference to a Sixth Amendment violation is contained in the proposition 
heading, and this is clearly insufficient.  Pet. at 42. 
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reliability of the second stage.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 124-25.  Because the OCCA addressed 

the claim on the merits, AEDPA deference applies. 

When a petitioner challenges the admission of evidence, “the Due Process Clause 

of the Fourteenth Amendment provides a mechanism for relief” where the admitted 

evidence “is so unduly prejudicial that it renders the trial fundamentally unfair.”  Payne v. 

Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 825 (1991).  See also Kansas v. Carr, 577 U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 

633, 644-45 (2016) (acknowledging that the due process fundamental fairness test applies 

to capital sentencing proceedings as well). Undefined by specific legal elements, this 

standard obliges the court to “tread gingerly” and “exercise considerable self-restraint.”  

Duckett v. Mullin, 306 F.3d 982, 999 (10th Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks and 

citation omitted) (quoting United States v. Rivera, 900 F.2d 1462, 1477 (10th Cir. 1990)). 

Relief is warranted in only “the most serious cases, which truly shock the conscience as 

well as the mind.”  Rivera, 900 F.2d at 1477 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

An alleged evidentiary error is not viewed in isolation, but is considered in light of 

the entire proceeding.  As acknowledged in Rivera, “a fundamental-fairness analysis is 

heavily dependent upon the peculiar facts of an individual trial.”  Id.  Thus, “inquiry into 

the fundamental fairness of the trial requires an examination of the entire proceedings, 

including the strength of the evidence against the defendant.”  Hanson v. Sherrod, 797 F.3d 

810, 843 (10th Cir. 2015).   

In finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Mrs. Hooks’ 

911 call in the first stage, the OCCA held as follows: 
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We have previously upheld the admission of 911 tapes in cases where 
the party on the tape testifies at trial. See Williams, 2008 OK CR 19, ¶ 71, 
188 P.3d at 223; Stouffer, 2006 OK CR 46, ¶¶ 114-17, 147 P.3d at 269. The 
recording in this case was relevant as it corroborated both Hooks’ and 
Green’s versions of what happened in the apartment immediately after the 
shootings. This was particularly important in light of defense counsel’s 
thorough cross-examination of the women and attempts to impeach their 
descriptions of the crime and surrounding circumstances. The recording 
showed Hooks’ demeanor after being shot and explained how she might have 
trouble remembering details from the night of the shooting, and it tended to 
rebut [petitioner’s] claim that Hooks walked to the bathroom after being shot 
in order to dispose of some marijuana. The recording in this case did not 
constitute testimonial evidence and is just the type of 911 call evidence the 
United States Supreme Court approved in Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 
813, 827-828, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 2277, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006). 

 
While the emotional impact of the recording is undeniable, it is not so 

prejudicial as to have “swept all before it” as [petitioner] claims. In light of 
the other evidence presented by the State, the recording did not confuse the 
issues, mislead the jury, result in a needless presentation of cumulative 
evidence, cause unfair and harmful surprise to the defense or in any other 
way unfairly prejudice the defense. See 12 O.S.2001, § 2402. 

 
Davis, 268 P.3d at 124-25.  This determination is not unreasonable.  

The OCCA’s conclusion that the call was relevant for purposes of corroboration and 

to rebut an assertion made by the defense about Mrs. Hooks’ capabilities after being shot 

are supported by the record (Tr. 4/30/07, 180-81, 257-58; Tr. 5/4/07, 848, 872-73).  It was 

also not unreasonable for the OCCA to conclude that the emotional impact of the tape did 

not preclude its omission.  Although petitioner asserts that the State introduced the tape 

because it “was seduced by its prejudicial power,” Reply at 13, the tape was introduced 

and played for the jury during Mrs. Hooks’ testimony, but thereafter not referred to by the 

State except as was relevant in closing argument to rebut the defense’s claim about what 

Mrs. Hooks did after being shot (Tr. 5/4/07, 872-73).  Under these circumstances, and 
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considering the evidence of petitioner’s guilt which included his confession to law 

enforcement, it is clear that admission of the evidence did not deny petitioner a 

fundamentally fair first stage. 

In denying petitioner second stage relief, the OCCA found no reversible error after 

considering the presented evidence.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 125.  This is also not unreasonable.  

At the start of the second stage, the State moved to incorporate the first stage evidence into 

the second stage (Tr. 5/14/07, 962-63).  Beyond this general reference to the first stage 

evidence, no reference to the 911 call was made in the second stage.22  In addition, the 

State’s evidence of the aggravating circumstances was strong.  See Davis, 268 P.3d at 121-

23, 138-39. Petitioner was therefore not denied a fair and reliable sentencing proceeding 

due to the admission of Mrs. Hooks’ 911 call in the first stage. 

For the foregoing reasons, Ground Four is denied.   

D. Ground Five: Victim’s Week Ribbons. 

In Ground Five, petitioner asserts that he was denied a fair trial because Mr. Smith’s 

mother and a district attorney employee briefly appeared in the courtroom during a break 

in voir dire proceedings wearing orange ribbons with gold lettering which read, “One 

Victim, One Crime, One Week.”  The OCCA addressed the merits of this claim on direct 

appeal.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 99-101.  Petitioner contends that the OCCA’s decision denying 

                                                           
22 It bears noting that the 911 call was played for the jury on April 30th and the first stage 

concluded on May 4th.  However, the second stage did not start until May 14th and the jury 
deliberated and returned a death sentence on May 16th.  With this two-week gap between the 
playing of the tape and sentence consideration, it is likely that any emotional impact of the tape 
had faded.  
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him relief is both legally and factually unreasonable, that the ribbons were inherently 

prejudicial as defined by Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976), and Holbrook v. Flynn, 

475 U.S. 560 (1986), and that he is therefore entitled to a new trial.  

On the second day of voir dire, defense counsel alerted the trial court that people in 

the courthouse had been seen wearing ribbons in support of victims’ crime week.  The 

ribbons read, “One Victim, One Crime, One Week.”  Defense counsel told the trial court 

that the ribbons came from the victim witness center (Tr. 4/24/07, 393-94).  She was 

concerned that the prospective jurors may have seen the ribbons and been prejudiced, and 

she asked the court to question the prospective jurors about the matter (id. at 394).  In 

describing the ribbons, the prosecutor stated that they were short and that the writing on 

them was small (id. at 395).  Defense counsel added that the ribbons were “not as small as 

you might think.”  She described the ribbons as “orange, may be an inch and a half wide, 

maybe 4 inches long with gold lettering in bold . . . .” (id. at 396).  The parties disputed 

how close you would have to be to the ribbon in order to read it (id. at 395, 396).  The trial 

court agreed to question the prospective jurors about it (id. at 397). 

Before the trial court had a chance to question the jurors, and while the trial court 

and attorneys were in chambers questioning a prospective juror about another matter, 

Mr. Smith’s mother and a district attorney employee came into the courtroom.  Both were 

wearing one of the ribbons.  In front of the prospective jurors, the employee identified 

Mr. Smith’s mother as she spoke with the bailiff near front row of the gallery. The 

employee left a note for one of the prosecutors with the bailiff and then both she and 

Mr. Smith’s mother exited the courtroom (id. at 404-08). 
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Defense counsel expressed concern because “the ribbon has, you know, made it into 

the courtroom” and because Mr. Smith’s mother had been identified in front of the 

jurors (id. at 408).  While the prosecutor asserted that there was nothing inappropriate about 

Mrs. Smith’s mother being in the courtroom, she “didn’t think [the employee] should have 

come in with the ribbon on” (id. at 409).  Although “satisfied that there was no 

impropriety,” the trial court nevertheless decided to admonish the prospective jurors about 

the ribbon (id. at 409).   Defense counsel’s motion for a mistrial was overruled (id. at 409-

10).  

The matter was then discussed with the jurors as follows:         

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that all the parties are back 
in court and [petitioner] is present and all the jurors are present.  Ladies and 
gentlemen, it’s been brought to my attention and the lawyers’ attention that 
there are individuals walking around with ribbons on that have some distinct 
writing on them.  Have any of you seen them and had an opportunity to read 
them? 

 
UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE: (Raised hand.) 
 

 THE COURT: We’re really talking to people in the gallery right 
now.  We’ll come back. 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR DEASON: I’ve seen the ribbon. 
 
 THE COURT: Excuse me one second.  Let me go to my chart.  
I left my chart back in the back.  Remain seated.  Thank you. 
 
 Okay.  Ms. Deason, yes. 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR DEASON: Basically, I saw several 
people with them on but I didn’t read them because I didn’t have my glasses 
on at the time. Okay? 
 
 THE COURT: Anyone else? 
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 PROSPECTIVE JUROR LANGO: (Raised hand.) 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR WOOD: I’ve seen the ribbon but I 
did not read it. 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR LINDENAU: There was a lady just 
a few minutes ago - -  
 
 THE COURT: And that was our concern.  We have some 
indication about the writing on the ribbons.  I guess you should know this is 
the victim’s right week and that’s why the ribbons are being worn. 
 
 I guess what I’m saying to you is nobody needs to be influenced by 
that or any other - - because we’re trying to preserve the integrity of this trial, 
we’re trying as everyone will tell you is that everybody is entitled to a fair 
trial and any kind of outside influences that tend to influence your opinion 
before you have head any evidence just disrupts the integrity, it just causes 
us to wonder whether or not we need to quash the whole panel and start all 
over again, and that’s what we’re trying not to do. 
 
 And we have to depend on you, that you will not lose your focus and 
the focus of what we’re asking you to do as jurors, and that’s to be unbiased 
about these proceedings and not form an opinion or share with someone else 
an opinion that you have until the testimony is complete and you have gotten 
the rules of law by me and you’ve gone and you retire to deliberate.  Then 
it’s free game.  You can discuss it, you can bring it in - - but all within the 
boundaries of the law and that’s all we’re asking.  Will you do that please? 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JURORS: (Nod heads.) 
 
 THE COURT: I’m sure a lot of things go on at the courthouse 
that sometimes question or bring into question the integrity of this process 
and those are influences we don’t need, because like you say, we want you 
to think that if you were seated over where [petitioner] or where the State is 
that you would be, it would be a juror that holds the same ideas that you have 
as to unbiasness and what’s right and equal treatment for everybody, both the 
State of Oklahoma and for [petitioner].  Can I be assured of that? 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR LEONARD: Yes. 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR MEASE: Yes. 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JURORS: (Nod heads.) 
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 THE COURT: Mrs. Elliott [the prosecutor], do you have 
anything to comment as far as that is concerned? 
 
 MRS. ELLIOTT: I do. I was just going to address that briefly 
whenever I started. 
 
 THE COURT: Then Ms. Hammersten [defense counsel] will 
have an opportunity to further visit that issue when her opportunity comes to 
get up and visit with you, so with that I will recognize Mrs. Elliott. 
 
 MRS. ELLIOTT: Thank you.  I think the point the Judge is trying 
to make is would you all agree none of us should be influenced whatsoever 
in the least, if you saw the ribbon, we should not be influenced by that at all, 
can you all agree to that? 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JURORS: (Nod heads.) 
 
 MRS. ELLIOTT: Anybody think they might be influenced by the 
fact that you saw an orange ribbon? 
 
 PROSPECTIVE JUROR MEASE: (Shakes head.) 
 
 MRS. ELLIOTT: And that’s the way it should be. 
 

(Tr. 4/24/07, 410-13).  
 

In denying petitioner relief, the OCCA acknowledged the three relevant Supreme 

Courts cases, Williams, Flynn, and Carey v. Musladin, 549 U.S. 70 (2006).  Although it 

found that the circumstances in petitioner’s case fell between Williams/Flynn and 

Musladin, it ultimately concluded that the wearing of the ribbons amounted to spectator 

conduct and therefore under state law, petitioner had to show actual prejudice to obtain 

relief.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 100 (citing Mitchell v. State, 884 P.2d 1186, 1196 (Okla. Crim. 

App. 1994)).  The OCCA denied relief because petitioner had “failed to show he suffered 

any prejudice due to the display of the . . . ribbons.”  Davis, 268 P.3d at 100-01. 
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In Williams, 425 U.S. at 502, the Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether a 

defendant is denied a fair trial when he “is compelled to wear identifiable prison clothing” 

before the jury.  The Court acknowledged that “a basic component of a fair trial” is “[t]he 

presumption of innocence” and that “[t]o implement the presumption, courts must be alert 

to factors that may undermine the fairness of the fact-finding process.”  Id. at 503.      

In the administration of criminal justice, courts must carefully guard against 
dilution of the principle that guilt is to be established by probative evidence 
and beyond a reasonable doubt. The actual impact of a particular practice on 
the judgment of jurors cannot always be fully determined. But this Court has 
left no doubt that the probability of deleterious effects on fundamental rights 
calls for close judicial scrutiny. Courts must do the best they can to evaluate 
the likely effects of a particular procedure, based on reason, principle, and 
common human experience. 
 

Id. at 503-04 (citations omitted).  In condemning the practice, the Court found that “[t]he 

defendant’s clothing is so likely to be a continuing influence throughout the trial that . . . an 

unacceptable risk is presented of impermissible factors coming into play.  Id. at 505.  

Ultimately, however, the Supreme Court denied relief due to the defendant’s failure to 

object.  Id. at 512-13. 

 In Flynn, 475 U.S. at 562, the Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether a 

defendant was denied a fair trial when, for security purposes, four uniformed state troopers 

sat in the first row of the gallery. The Court noted that the first issue to be addressed was 

whether the presence of this security force “is the sort of inherently prejudicial practice 

that . . . should be permitted only where justified by an essential state interest specific to 

each trial.”  Flynn, 475 U.S. at 568-59.  The Court found it was not.  Id. at 569.  The Court 

Case 5:12-cv-01111-HE   Document 38   Filed 09/20/17   Page 37 of 48

APPENDIX C



38 
 

discussed “the wide[] range of inferences that a juror might reasonably draw from the 

officers’ presence,” including the very possibility that a juror would infer nothing at all.   

To be sure, it is possible that the sight of a security force within the 
courtroom might under certain conditions “create the impression in the minds 
of the jury that the defendant is dangerous or untrustworthy.” Kennedy v. 
Cardwell, 487 F.2d 101, 108 (CA6 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 959, 94 S.Ct. 
1976, 40 L.Ed.2d 310 (1974).  However, “reason, principle, and common 
human experience,” Williams, supra, 425 U.S., at 504, 96 S.Ct., at 1693, 
counsel against a presumption that any use of identifiable security guards in 
the courtroom is inherently prejudicial. In view of the variety of ways in 
which such guards can be deployed, we believe that a case-by-case approach 
is more appropriate. 

 
Flynn, 475 U.S. at 569.  With reference to Williams, 425 U.S. at 505, the Court therefore 

held that “[w]henever a courtroom arrangement is challenged as inherently 

prejudicial, . . .  the question must be . . . whether ‘an unacceptable risk is presented of 

impermissible factors coming into play.’”  Flynn, 475 U.S. at 570.  “[I]f the challenged 

practice is not found inherently prejudicial and if the defendant fails to show actual 

prejudice, the inquiry is over.”  Id. at 572. 

 In Musladin, the Supreme Court reviewed the issue of family members wearing 

buttons with the victim’s picture on them.  The question before the Court was whether the 

state court’s determination that this practice did not deny the defendant a fair trial was 

contrary to or an unreasonable application of Supreme Court law. The Court held that it 

was not.  Musladin, 549 U.S. at 72.  In so holding, the Court acknowledged that both 

Williams and Flynn dealt with government-sponsored practices, whereas the circumstances 

in Musladin were spectator conduct.  Musladin, 549 U.S. at 75-76.  Because it had never 

applied the inherent prejudice test from Williams and Flynn to spectator conduct, the Court 
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held that the state court’s determination that the defendant was not denied a fair trial by 

wearing victim buttons was not an unreasonable application of Supreme Court law.  

Musladin, 549 U.S. at 76, 77. 

 Petitioner’s primary complaint to the OCCA’s decision is its determination that the 

challenged practice in his case was spectator conduct.  However, this is not unreasonable.  

At most, the record shows that the ribbons were available in the district attorney’s witness 

center.  As the OCCA found, “[t]here is nothing in the record pertaining as to how they 

were handed out or displayed in the courthouse.”  Davis, 268 P.3d at 100.  Having the 

ribbons available, where anyone can pick one up and make the choice to wear it, does not 

equate to a state-sponsored practice.  There is no indication that anyone was forced to wear 

a ribbon, and but for the brief appearance of Mr. Smith’s mother and the district attorney 

employee, the ribbons were not worn by anyone else in the courtroom and certainly not by 

anyone during the trial itself.  Because the practice here did not concern a state-sponsored 

practice, Williams and Flynn do not apply and it is therefore unnecessary to determine 

whether the practice was inherently prejudicial.23  It is also unnecessary for this court to 

                                                           
23 Even if the State’s actions were construed as a state-sponsored practice, it is clearly not 

inherently prejudicial. Using “reason, principle, and common human experience,” the 
circumstances in this case did not present “an unacceptable risk . . . of impermissible factors 
coming into play.”  Williams, 425 U.S. at 504, 505.  First of all, the wording on the ribbons was 
generic, not case specific, and even then, it is difficult to see how the ribbon’s message would have 
influenced the jury’s deliberation process.  Petitioner’s contention that it “branded [him] with an 
unmistakable brand of guilt” is an unconvincing stretch of implication from “One Victim, One 
Crime, One Week.” Pet. at 53.  In addition, unlike the situation in Williams where a defendant was 
before the jury in prison clothes for the entire trial, the ribbons were only in the courtroom briefly 
during a break in voir dire proceedings with only a handful of prospective jurors (and only one 
actual juror) even seeing the ribbons inside or outside the courtroom.          
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address prejudice at all.24  Since there is no Supreme Court authority on the potentially 

prejudicial effect of spectator conduct, the OCCA’s decision cannot be found unreasonable 

on this basis.  Musladin, 549 U.S. at 77.  Ground Five is denied. 

 E. Grounds Six and Seven: Jury Instructions. 

 In Grounds Six and Seven, petitioner asserts that the trial court erred in failing to 

instruct the jury on self-defense and heat of passion manslaughter.  Petitioner raised these 

claims on direct appeal.  Concluding that petitioner was the aggressor and that he was not 

adequately provoked, the OCCA denied relief.  Davis, 269 P.3d at 114-15, 117-20.   

“A habeas petitioner who seeks to overturn his conviction based on a claim of error 

in the jury instructions faces a significant burden.” Ellis v. Hargett, 302 F.3d 1182, 

1186 (10th Cir. 2002).  “Unless the constitution mandates a jury instruction be given, a 

habeas petitioner must show that, in the context of the entire trial, the error in the instruction 

was so fundamentally unfair as to deny the petitioner due process.”  Tiger v. Workman, 

445 F.3d 1265, 1267 (10th Cir. 2006).   See also Cummings v. Sirmons, 506 F.3d 1211, 

1240 (10th Cir. 2007) (citing Supreme Court authority for the proposition “that an 

instructional error can, under certain circumstances, result in a violation of a defendant’s 

right to a fair trial”).  See Article III.C., supra (discussing fundamental fairness analysis).  

 Petitioner asserts that the jury should have been instructed on self-defense in large 

part because based on his past experiences with Ms. Green which caused him to mistrust 

                                                           
24 The OCCA addressed prejudice as a matter of state law.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 100 (citing 

Mitchell, 884 P.2d at 1196).   
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her and “fear that she would set him up.”  According to petitioner, Ms. Green invited him 

over that night and he was led to believe that no men would be present.  Consequently, 

when Mr. Smith answered the door, petitioner was “put on edge.”  Pet. at 60-61.  Petitioner 

claims that he shot Mr. Smith three times when Mr. Smith failed to back up and then “either 

jumped or moved in quickly toward [him].”  Petitioner asserts that he pulled the trigger 

because he was scared.  Id. at 61-62.  Labeling the OCCA’s view of the evidence as 

“constrained, inaccurate, and one-sided” and its conclusion that he was the aggressor as 

“untenable,” petitioner asserts that he is entitled to relief because he has been denied the 

right to present a defense and a fundamentally fair trial.25  Id. at 65, 66, 68-69. 

“Although the right to present a defense is a fundamental element of due process of 

law, Oklahoma courts may define the scope of the defense to an Oklahoma crime.”  

Patton v. Mullin, 425 F.3d 788, 808 (10th Cir. 2005) (internal quotations marks and citation 

omitted).  “In Oklahoma, self-defense is not available to an aggressor.”  Le v. Mullin, 

311 F.3d 1002, 1027 (10th Cir. 2002) (citing Ruth v. State, 581 P.2d 919, 

922 (Okla.Crim.App.1978)). 

In denying petitioner relief, the OCCA held as follows: 

 Self-defense is an affirmative defense which admits the elements of 
the charge, but offers a legal justification for conduct which would otherwise 
be criminal. 21 O.S.2001, § 733(2). See also McHam v. State, 2005 OK 
CR 28, ¶ 10, 126 P.3d 662, 667; Camron v. State, 1992 OK CR 17, ¶ 13, 
829 P.2d 47, 56; West v. State, 1990 OK CR 61, ¶ 6, 798 P.2d 1083, 1085. 

                                                           
25 Because Petitioner’s right to due process includes his right to present a defense, it is 

unnecessary to address these challenges separately.  See Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 
294 (1973) (“The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to 
a fair opportunity to defend against the State’s accusations.”). 
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“Under Oklahoma law, ‘[s]elf-defense is a defense although the danger to 
life or personal security may not have been real, if a reasonable person, in 
the circumstances and from the viewpoint of the defendant, would reasonably 
have believed that he/she was in imminent danger of death or great bodily 
harm.’ ” Perryman v. State, 1999 OK CR 39, ¶ 9, 990 P.2d 900, 903 (quoting 
OUJI–CR (2d) 8-46). “The bare belief that one is about to suffer death or 
great personal injury will not, in itself, justify taking the life of [one’s] 
adversary.  There must exist reasonable grounds for such belief at the time 
of the killing.” Id., 1999 OK CR 39, ¶ 9, 990 P.2d at 904 (emphasis in 
original). The right of self-defense cannot be invoked by an aggressor or by 
one who voluntarily enters into a situation armed with a deadly weapon. 
Orr v. State, 1988 OK CR 265, ¶ 7, 764 P.2d 1362, 1364. See also Le v. State, 
1997 OK CR 55, ¶ 23, 947 P.2d 535, 547; Stiles v. State, 1992 OK CR 23, 
¶ 26, 829 P.2d 984, 991; Ruth v. State, 1978 OK CR 79, ¶ 8, 581 P.2d 919, 
922. 
 
 Arguably, the only evidence which could support [petitioner’s] claim 
of self-defense was his statement that [Mr. Smith] lunged at him and he 
thought [Mr. Smith] might be trying to grab the gun. However, by 
[petitioner’s] own statement, he was the aggressor in the situation, arriving 
at the apartment visibly armed. Taking [petitioner’s] statement in the best 
light possible, he shot the unarmed [Mr. Smith] merely because he moved 
toward him and refused to back away. Based upon [petitioner’s] statement, 
no rational jury would find [petitioner] had a reasonable belief he was in 
imminent danger of great bodily harm. 
 
 Further, when compared with the rest of the evidence, [petitioner’s] 
statement does not support his claimed self-defense. Eizember v. State, 
2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 111, 164 P.3d 208, 236 (a defendant’s statements 
concerning the homicide are sufficient to warrant a jury instruction only if 
those statements are supported by other evidence presented at trial). It was 
obvious to all in the apartment, that [petitioner] was the only one armed. 
Ms. Green and Ms. Hooks testified that [petitioner] pointed the gun at all 
three of them when he first entered the apartment, then pointed it directly at 
[Mr. Smith] and proceeded to lower and raise it three times before shooting 
[him]. 
 
 Further, this was not the first time [petitioner] had been the aggressor 
in situations involving Green. While the evidence showed Green had 
attacked [petitioner] on previous occasions, the evidence also showed that 
Green had filed for a temporary Victim Protection Order alleging [petitioner] 
repeatedly threatened and stalked her and that he had choked her and pulled 
a knife on her. [Petitioner’s] own statements showed he was obsessed with 
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making amends for perceived wrongs committed by Green against him. This 
evidence, combined with [petitioner] arriving at the apartment heavily 
armed, shows he was prepared for a violent confrontation. 
 
 When the record reveals no evidence of self-defense, the trial court is 
not bound to instruct on that defense. Smallwood v. State, 1995 OK CR 60, 
¶ 46, 907 P.2d 217, 230. As the evidence in this case did not support 
[petitioner’s] statements concerning his claim of self-defense or otherwise 
support a claim of self-defense, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 
refusing to give the requested jury instruction. 
 

Davis, 268 P.3d at 114-15. 

The OCCA’s determination that petitioner was the aggressor, and was therefore not 

entitled to a self-defense instruction, is reasonable.  See Frost, 749 F.3d at 1225; Stouffer, 

738 F.3d at 1221.  Regardless of his history with Ms. Green, petitioner came to the 

apartment looking for trouble.  He was armed with a loaded semi-automatic weapon and 

he had a fully loaded clip in his pocket.  He “was dressed in all black, including a black 

hoodie pulled over his head.”  After knocking on the apartment door, he covered the 

peephole to prevent being seen, and when he entered the apartment, the gun was in his 

hand.  He shut and locked the door behind him. By all accounts, petitioner was the only 

one in the apartment with a weapon.  Davis, 268 P.3d at 98, 112.  And even if petitioner 

did not start shooting until Mr. Smith failed to heed his warnings to back up and then 

jumped or lunged toward him, id. at 98, 112, 116, Oklahoma law does not permit “one who 

voluntarily enters into a situation armed with a deadly weapon” to claim self-defense.  Id. 

at 115.  For these reasons, the absence of a self-defense instruction did not deny petitioner 

a fundamentally fair trial. 
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In addition to a self-defense instruction, petitioner also requested an instruction on 

the lesser-included offense of heat of passion manslaughter, but the OCCA concluded that 

petitioner was not entitled to this instruction either.  The OCCA reasoned as follows: 

 “A homicide may be reduced from murder to manslaughter where the 
killing was done because the slayer believed that he was in great danger, even 
if he was not warranted in such belief or where the slayer although acting in 
self-defense was not himself free from blame.” McHam, 2005 OK CR 28, 
¶ 14, 126 P.3d at 668, quoting Wood v. State, 1971 OK CR 232, ¶ 9, 486 P.2d 
750, 752. See also Le, 1997 OK CR 55, ¶ 21, 947 P.2d at 546-547. Depending 
on the evidence, a jury might conclude that the defendant’s self-defense 
claim is “imperfect,” and while not sufficient to negate culpability, at least 
sufficient to mitigate it. In such situations, instructions on heat-of-passion 
manslaughter may be warranted. Id. 
 
 To warrant an instruction on first degree heat of passion manslaughter, 
there must be evidence that the defendant killed the deceased with adequate 
provocation, in a heat of passion, without the design to effect death. 
21 O.S.2001, § 711(2). See also Eizember, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 112, 164 P.3d 
at 236. The “passion” necessary to support a manslaughter instruction must 
be so great as to “render the mind incapable of forming a design to effect 
death. . . .” Eizember, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 112, 164 P.3d at 236. The elements 
of heat of passion are 1) adequate provocation; 2) a passion or emotion such 
as fear, terror, anger, rage or resentment; 3) homicide occurred while the 
passion still existed and before a reasonable opportunity for the passion to 
cool; and 4) a causal connection between the provocation, passion and 
homicide. Id. The question is whether, in addition to evidence of intent, there 
was evidence that [petitioner] killed [Mr. Smith] with adequate provocation, 
in a heat of passion, without the design to effect death. Id. Adequate 
provocation is measured by an objective test of reasonableness. Bland, 
2000 OK CR 11, ¶ 36, 4 P.3d at 715. 
 
 [Petitioner] refers us to cases finding that heat of passion can result 
from fear and anger which precludes rational reasonable thought. However, 
in each case the victim either attacked the defendant without provocation or 
attacked the defendant with a dangerous weapon.[FN7] These cases do not 
suggest this instruction is appropriate absent evidence of adequate 
provocation. 
 

FN7. Hogan v. Gibson, 197 F.3d 1297, 1309 (10th Cir.1999) (victim 
attacked defendant with a knife); Hayes v. State, 1981 OK CR 96, ¶ 2, 
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633 P.2d 751, 752 (victim attacked defendant with knife); Farmer v. 
State, 1977 OK CR 215, ¶ 22, 565 P.2d 1068, 1070 (victim shot first); 
Williams v. State, 1973 OK CR 354, ¶ 8, 513 P.2d 335, 336-8 (victim 
attacked defendant with scissors and threatened to cut his heart out); 
Wood v. State, 1971 OK CR 232, ¶¶ 2-4, 486 P.2d 750, 751-752, 
(victim and defendant involved in a “street brawl”). 

 
 In his statement to police, [petitioner] said he was mad at Green when 
he went to her apartment. He repeatedly said he took the gun to the apartment 
because he did not trust Green based upon her previous conduct toward him. 
He said he didn’t know if she was “setting [him] up” or “playing games” or 
really wanted to work things out. [Petitioner] said he did not expect a man to 
be at the apartment. Only once in his forty-nine page statement to police did 
he say he was scared. [Petitioner] explained that he did not know what 
[Mr. Smith] was doing, whether he was trying to grab for the gun, or “he was 
really trying to hurt me, or was he just trying to stop me from doing 
something. I don’t know. . . . But in the moment of that time, I got scared.” 
 
 The unarmed [Mr. Smith’s] movement toward the armed [petitioner] 
was not sufficient provocation to support heat of passion manslaughter. See 
Washington v. State, 1999 OK CR 22, ¶ 13, 989 P.2d 960, 968, n. 4 (adequate 
provocation requires personal violence by the deceased likely to cause pain, 
bloodshed or bodily harm).[FN8] Even by [petitioner’s] own statement, 
[Mr. Smith] had not verbally threatened him. At most, the men were arguing 
about what was going on, and not engaged in a physical altercation. Any 
movement by [Mr. Smith] towards [petitioner] could reasonably be seen as 
an attempt to defend and protect himself, Green, and Hooks. [Petitioner] is 
not entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction because [Mr. Smith] 
attempted to defend himself and protect others. Id. See also Young, 2000 OK 
CR 17, ¶ 60, 12 P.3d at 39. 
 

FN8. Under OUJI–CR (2d) 4-98, adequate provocation is defined in 
part as “any improper conduct of the deceased toward the 
defendant(s) which naturally or reasonably would have the effect of 
arousing a sudden heat of passion within a reasonable person in the 
position of the defendant(s)”. . . . Personal violence or aggression by 
the deceased of a nature sufficiently violent to cause or threaten to 
cause pain, bloodshed, or bodily harm to the defendant may be 
adequate provocation. See OUJI–CR (2d) 4-98. (emphasis added). 

 
 Further, [petitioner’s] single, general statement that he was scared 
during the commission of the offense is not enough to establish the requisite 
fear or terror necessary to support heat of passion manslaughter. See Jones v. 
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State, 2006 OK CR 17, ¶ 7, 134 P.3d 150, 154 (defendant’s claim of “[b]eing 
‘scared’ after being grabbed while committing First Degree Murder does 
not” warrant instruction on First Degree Manslaughter). 
 
 After reviewing [petitioner’s] statement to the police, by itself, and in 
context of the other evidence presented at trial, a prima facie case of 
manslaughter was not established as no reasonable juror could find that 
[petitioner] acted in a heat of passion on adequate provocation that rendered 
him incapable of forming a design to effect death. The evidence in this case 
would not permit a jury rationally to find [petitioner] guilty of the lesser 
offense of heat of passion manslaughter and acquit him of first degree 
murder. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing the 
requested instruction[]. 
 

Davis, 268 P.3d at 117-19. 

 Here, again, the OCCA’s decision is reasonable.  As set forth in the OCCA’s 

opinion, a manslaughter instruction is not warranted in the absence of adequate provocation 

and adequate provocation requires improper conduct on behalf of the victim.  Id. at 118 & 

n.8.  There was no evidence that Mr. Smith engaged in any improper conduct.  Mr. Smith 

was not armed, and although Mr. Smith questioned petitioner’s actions, he did not verbally 

threaten petitioner.  At most, Mr. Smith may have moved toward petitioner, but this is not 

improper conduct.  Even if Mr. Smith moved toward petitioner in an effort to grab the gun, 

he had a lawful right to respond to the threat petitioner was posing to him and the others in 

the apartment.  Because the evidence did not support an instruction on heat of passion 

manslaughter, petitioner was not denied a fundamentally fair trial in its absence.  For this 

same reason, the OCCA’s decision is also not contrary to or an unreasonable application 

of Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 627 (1980), as it requires a jury instruction on a lesser-

included non-capital offense only when it is supported by the evidence.  See Davis, 

268 P.3d at 119-20 (denying petitioner’s Beck claim). 
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 For the reasons set forth herein, petitioner is not entitled to relief on his Grounds Six 

and Seven.   

 F. Ground Eight: Cumulative Error. 

 In Ground Eight, Petitioner argues that he is entitled to relief on the theory of 

cumulative error.26  “In some circumstances, trial errors might in isolation be insignificant, 

but collectively be serious enough to deprive the defendant of fundamental fairness. When 

that happens, the defendant may obtain relief on the basis of cumulative error.”  Hancock v. 

Trammell, 798 F.3d 1002, 1025 (10th Cir. 2015).27  Such is not the case here, and therefore 

Ground Eight is denied. 

IV.  Motion for an Evidentiary Hearing. 

 Petitioner has filed a motion for an evidentiary hearing. Doc. 19. In the motion, 

petitioner requests a hearing on his Grounds One and Two and on “any other issues, 

substantive or procedural, which involve facts not apparent from the existing record or any 

issues that involve facts disputed by Respondent.”  Doc. 19 at 2-3.  There is, however, no 

need for a hearing if petitioner’s claims can be resolved on the existing record.  Anderson v. 

Att’y Gen. of Kan., 425 F.3d 853, 859 (10th Cir. 2005). Because most of petitioner’s claims 

have been resolved in accordance with the AEDPA, a hearing on those claims is not only 

                                                           
26 On direct appeal and in post-conviction, Petitioner alleged that he was entitled to relief 

on a cumulative error theory.  The OCCA denied the claim on both occasions.  Davis, No. PCD-
2007-1201, slip op. at 10; Davis, 268 P.3d at 138. 

27 The Tenth Circuit has acknowledged its “murky” position “on ‘whether the need to 
conduct a cumulative-error analysis is clearly established federal law’ for AEDPA purposes . . . .”  
Eizember v. Trammell, 803 F.3d 1129, 1148 n.8 (10th Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 
2468 (2016) (quoting Hooks v. Workman, 689 F.3d 1148, 1194 n.24 (10th Cir. 2012)). 
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unnecessary but precluded by Pinholster, 563 U.S. at 181.  See Jones v. Warrior, 805 F.3d 

1213, 1222 (10th Cir. 2015) (citing Pinholster and denying a request for an evidentiary 

hearing due to a petitioner’s failure to satisfy Section 2254(d)), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 

109 (2016).  Petitioner’s remaining claims have been procedurally barred, and no 

additional evidence was required to make that determination. Therefore, the court 

concludes that a hearing is unnecessary and petitioner’s motion is denied. 

V.  Conclusion. 

 Having concluded petitioner’s arguments do not establish a right to relief, his 

petition for writ of habeas corpus is DENIED, as is his request for an evidentiary 

hearing.  Docs. 17 and 19.  Judgment will enter accordingly.  

 IT IS SO ORDERED this 20th day of September, 2017. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 

NICHOLAS ALEXANDER DAVIS, ) 
 ) 
 Petitioner,  ) 
  ) 
vs.   ) NO. CIV-12-1111-HE 
  ) 
TERRY ROYAL, Warden, ) 
 Oklahoma State Penitentiary, ) 
  ) 
 Respondent. ) 
   
 

ORDER DENYING CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY 

 On this date, the court issued a memorandum opinion and judgment denying 

petitioner’s request for habeas relief.  Docs. 38 and 39.  Pursuant to Rule 11(a) of the Rules 

Governing Section 2254 Cases in the United States District Courts, the court denies a 

certificate of appealability. 

 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1), petitioner may not appeal the denial of his 

habeas petition unless he obtains a certificate of appealability (COA).  A COA is claim 

specific and appropriate only if petitioner “has made a substantial showing of the denial of 

a constitutional right.”  28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2), (c)(3).  When a claim has been denied on 

the merits, the COA standard is whether “reasonable jurists would find the district court’s 

assessment of the constitutional claims debatable or wrong.”  Slack v. McDaniel, 529 U.S. 

473, 484 (2000).  Where AEDPA deference has been applied in the denial of a claim on 
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the merits, that deference is incorporated into the COA determination.  Dockins v. Hines, 

374 F.3d 935, 938 (10th Cir. 2004). 

 When a claim has been dismissed on a procedural ground, petitioner faces a “double 

hurdle.”  Coppage v. McKune, 534 F.3d 1279, 1281 (10th Cir. 2008). 

When the district court denies a habeas petition on procedural grounds 
without reaching the prisoner’s underlying constitutional claim, a COA 
should issue when the prisoner shows, at least, that jurists of reason would 
find it debatable whether the petition states a valid claim of the denial of a 
constitutional right and that jurists of reason would find it debatable whether 
the district court was correct in its procedural ruling. 
 

Slack, 529 U.S. at 584. 

Where a plain procedural bar is present and the district court is correct to 
invoke it to dispose of the case, a reasonable jurist could not conclude either 
that the district court erred in dismissing the petition or that the petitioner 
should be allowed to proceed further. In such a circumstance, no appeal 
would be warranted. 
 

Id. 

 Having thoroughly reviewed each issue raised by petitioner, the court concludes 

that, for the reasons set forth in the memorandum opinion, none satisfy the standard for the 

granting of a COA.  Therefore, the court DENIES a COA as to all of petitioner’s grounds 

for relief. 

 IT IS SO ORDERED this 20th day of September, 2017.   

 

 

Case 5:12-cv-01111-HE   Document 40   Filed 09/20/17   Page 2 of 2

APPENDIX D



86 Okl. 268 PACIFIC REPORTER, 3d SERIES

relate back to the original filing date.  No
prejudice or loss of opportunity can be occa-
sioned by Caddo County under these circum-
stances.8  Yet, the trial court failed to hold
either county responsible based on an un-
founded, illogical, and antiquated technicality.
It is patently clear that by Caddo County’s
own conduct of overlaying the road after
Comanche County’s initial repairs, that Cad-
do County knew or had reason to know, but
for McWilliams mistakenly naming Co-
manche County, the action would have been
commenced against it.

CONCLUSION

¶ 27 Today, we recognize the application of
the relation back doctrine found in section
2015(C) to the GTCA. See Pan v. Bane, 2006
OK 57, 141 P.3d 555.  The evidentiary record
substantiates that the undisclosed agreement
between Comanche County and Caddo Coun-
ty coupled with Comanche County’s dilatory
conduct, prevented McWilliams of any means
to discover Comanche County’s true role in
the litigation.  As a matter of public policy,
Comanche County is now estopped to deny
liability of McWilliams’ claim.

CERTIORARI PREVIOUSLY GRANT-
ED;  OPINION OF COURT OF CIVIL AP-
PEALS VACATED;  TRIAL COURT RE-
VERSED;  CAUSE REMANDED FOR
PROCEEDINGS CONSISTENT WITH
THIS OPINION.

CONCUR:  COLBERT, V.C.J.;
KAUGER, WATT, WINCHESTER,
EDMONDSON, REIF, COMBS, GURICH,
JJ.

CONCURS IN RESULT:  TAYLOR, C.J.

,
 

 
2011 OK CR 29

Nicholas Alexander DAVIS, Appellant,

v.

The STATE of Oklahoma, Appellee.

No. D–2007–891.

Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma.

Dec. 12, 2011.

As Corrected Feb. 7, 2012.

Background:  Defendant was convicted in
a jury trial in the District Court, Okla-
homa County, Kenneth C. Watson, J., of
first-degree malice murder, shooting with
intent to kill after former conviction of two
or more felonies, felonious possession of a
loaded firearm after former conviction of a
felony, and was sentenced to death. Defen-
dant appealed.

Holdings:  The Court of Criminal Appeals,
Lumpkin, J., held that:

(1) wearing of ribbons in support of vic-
tims did not violate defendant’s right
to fair trial;

(2) evidence was sufficient to support mur-
der conviction;

(3) crime scene photographs were rele-
vant;

(4) evidence was sufficient to support ag-
gravating circumstances;

(5) recording of 911 call was not unfairly
prejudicial;

(6) defendant was not entitled to present
evidence of victim’s prior acts of vio-
lence;

8. This Court takes this opportunity to note that
the instant case is on all fours with the following:

If the originally named defendant or the party
sought to be added either knowingly allows
plaintiff to think plaintiff has sued the proper
party or actually misleads plaintiff as to the
identity of the party that should be held re-
sponsible, the new defendant will be estopped
from asserting a statute-of-limitations defense.
For example, when the named defendant files
a general denial and appears prepared to de-

fend on the merits, but after the expiration of
the limitation period suddenly claims it is not
the party to be sued, there is a presumption
that the true defendant received the notice
required by the rule, especially if there is a
strong business or personal relationship be-
tween that party and the originally named de-
fendant.

6A C. Wright, A. Miller, M. Kane, & R. Marcus,
Federal Practice and Procedure § 1500 (1990).
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(7) prosecutor did not commit prosecutori-
al misconduct; and

(8) defendant did not receive ineffective
assistance of counsel.

Affirmed and remanded.

A. Johnson, P.J., specially concurred and
filed opinion in which C. Johnson and Win-
chester, JJ., joined.

Lewis, V.P.J., concurred in the result and
filed opinion in which Winchester, J., joined.

C. Johnson, J., specially concurred and filed
opinion in which Winchester, J., joined.

1. Criminal Law O1985

Non-participants wearing orange rib-
bons commemorating ‘‘National Victims
Week’’ during voir dire of murder prosecu-
tion did not constitute State-sponsored con-
duct intended to prejudice defendant’s right
to a fair trial; although the State had the
ribbons made and was responsible for their
distribution, at no time did the prosecutor
attempt to justify the display of the ribbons
in the courtroom or courthouse, rather she
admitted to the court she did not believe the
victim-witness advocate should have worn the
ribbon into the courtroom, and the prosecu-
tor specifically stressed to the jury that they
should not be influenced by the ribbons. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

2. Criminal Law O659

Wearing of orange ribbons commemo-
rating ‘‘National Victims Week’’ by victim-
witness advocate and victim’s mother during
murder prosecution did not prejudice defen-
dant so as to violate defendant’s right to a
fair trial, where prospective jurors were ad-
monished by the trial court to disregard the
ribbons and were told the ribbons were to
play no part in the jury’s consideration of the
case, written instructions given to the jury at
the close of the evidence directed the jury to
consider only the evidence introduced at tri-
al, and ribbons were worn only briefly in the
courtroom by two non-participants in the tri-
al. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices con-
curring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.

3. Jury O108

Prospective juror who had indicated that
he favored imposition of the death penalty
was not required to be excluded for cause in
murder prosecution, where juror indicated
that he would consider all punishment op-
tions, and that his views would not otherwise
prevent or substantially impair the perform-
ance of his duties as a juror in accordance
with the instructions and oath. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)

4. Jury O108

Prospective juror who had indicated that
he favored imposition of the death penalty
was not required to be excluded for cause in
murder prosecution, where, although juror
indicated that he would ‘‘lean toward’’ the
death penalty, juror indicated that he could
fairly consider all punishment options. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

5. Jury O107

Prospective juror who had indicated that
she would likely view testimony from law
enforcement as being more credible was not
required to be excluded for cause in murder
prosecution, where juror’s initial concerns
about her ability to be fair and impartial
seemed to fade away as the process and the
law was explained to her, and by the end of
her voir dire, she indicated she could be fair
and impartial to both parties and their wit-
nesses. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

6. Jury O97(1)

Answers to a written juror questionnaire
must be read as a starting place for discus-
sion and education and not as the basis for a
final determination on the prospective juror’s
impartiality. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)

7. Jury O97(1)

That a prospective juror’s responses
may change during the course of voir dire is
not automatic grounds for excusal for cause.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)
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8. Jury O108
Prospective juror who indicated that she

could not impose the death penalty was prop-
erly excluded for cause during voir dire in
murder prosecution, where juror indicated
that there was a ‘‘99%’’ chance she could not
impose the death penalty. (Per Lumpkin, J.,
with four justices concurring in the result.)

9. Jury O108
Prospective juror who indicated that she

did not believe in imposition of the death
penalty was properly excluded for cause dur-
ing voir dire of murder prosecution, where,
although when juror went through question-
ing she learned there was another way of
looking at the issues, after going through the
voir dire process, she determined her initial
belief was firm. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

10. Jury O108, 132
A juror’s bias against the death penalty

need not be proved with unmistakable clarity
in order to warrant to juror being excused
for cause; neither must the juror express an
intention to vote against the death penalty
automatically. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

11. Jury O97(1)
Determination of a juror’s bias so as to

warrant excusing juror for cause often can-
not be reduced to a question and answer
session. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

12. Jury O97(1)
Despite the lack of clarity in the written

record, there are situations where the trial
judge is left with the definite impression that
a prospective juror would be unable to faith-
fully and impartially apply the law so as to
warrant exclusion of juror for cause. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

13. Jury O108
Prospective juror who indicated that he

could not impose the death penalty was prop-
erly excluded for cause during voir dire of
murder prosecution, where juror was firm in
his statement that he could never impose the
death penalty in any situation. (Per Lump-

kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)

14. Jury O45
Prospective juror’s prior felony convic-

tions warranted exclusion of juror for cause
during voir dire of murder prosecution; stat-
ute governing general causes of challenged
provided that a person who had been convict-
ed of a felony was subject to being excused
for cause, with no mention of the status of
the juror’s civil rights following termination
of sentence. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)  22 Okl.St.
Ann. § 658.

15. Jury O33(1.15)
Exclusion of convicted felons from jury

pool did not deprive defendant of a jury
chosen from a fair cross-section of the com-
munity in murder prosecution; although de-
fendant presented two internet based publi-
cations purporting to show that there were a
disproportionate number of African-Ameri-
can males who had been convicted of felonies,
this was insufficient to establish that venire
panel assembled in defendant’s trial was not
drawn from a fair cross-section of the com-
munity. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amends. 6, 14.

16. Grand Jury O2.5
 Jury O33(1.1)

The federal constitution requires that
grand jurors and the venire of petit jurors be
chosen from a fair cross-section of the com-
munity. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amends. 6, 14.

17. Jury O33(1.1)
Defendants are not entitled to a jury of

any particular composition, nor is there any
requirement juries reflect the various distinc-
tive groups in the population. (Per Lumpkin,
J., with four justices concurring in the re-
sult.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amends. 6, 14.

18. Jury O33(1.1)
To establish a prima facie case of a

violation of the fair cross-section requirement
for a jury, the defendant must show: (1) that
the group alleged to be excluded is a distinc-
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tive group in the community; (2) that the
representation of this group in venires from
which juries are selected is not fair and
reasonable in relation to the number of such
persons in the community; and (3) that this
underrepresentation is due to systematic ex-
clusion of the group in the jury selection
process. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amends. 6, 14.

19. Criminal Law O1144.13(3), 1159.2(7)
The Court of Criminal Appeals reviews

sufficiency of the evidence claims in the light
most favorable to the prosecution to deter-
mine whether any rational trier of fact could
have found the essential elements of the
crime beyond a reasonable doubt. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

20. Criminal Law O1144.13(5)
When reviewing a sufficiency of the evi-

dence claim, the Court of Criminal Appeals
will accept all reasonable inferences and
credibility choices that tend to support the
verdict. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

21. Homicide O536
Premeditation sufficient to constitute

murder may be formed in an instant or it
may be formed instantaneously as the killing
is being committed. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)  21
Okl.St.Ann. § 702.

22. Homicide O1136
For purposes of a murder conviction,

malice aforethought may be proved by cir-
cumstantial evidence. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)  21
Okl.St.Ann. § 702.

23. Homicide O667
For purposes of a manslaughter convic-

tion, the elements of heat of passion are: (1)
adequate provocation; (2) a passion or emo-
tion such as fear, terror, anger, rage or
resentment; (3) the homicide occurred while
the passion still existed and before a reason-
able opportunity for the passion to cool; and
(4) a causal connection between the provoca-
tion, passion and homicide. (Per Lumpkin, J.,

with four justices concurring in the result.)
21 Okl.St.Ann. § 711(2).

24. Homicide O667
The heat of passion must render the

mind incapable of forming a design to effect
death before the defense of manslaughter is
established. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.
Ann. § 711(2).

25. Homicide O1142, 1155
Evidence was sufficient to support find-

ing that defendant acted with malice after-
thought when he shot victims so as to sup-
port convictions for first-degree murder and
shooting with intent to kill; defendant arrived
at the apartment of one of the victims, his ex-
girlfriend, dressed all in black, including a
black hooded sweatshirt pulled over his head,
defendant covered the peephole in the door
so those inside the apartment could not see
out, defendant forced his way into the apart-
ment uninvited, defendant shut and locked
the door behind him, defendant was the only
person in the apartment with a weapon, de-
fendant raised a firearm without provocation
and fired at three victims, and each victim
was struck multiple times. (Per Lumpkin, J.,
with four justices concurring in the result.)
21 Okl.St.Ann. § 701.7(A).

26. Criminal Law O1159.3(3.1)
Where there is conflict in the testimony,

the Court of Criminal Appeals will not dis-
turb the verdict on appeal if there is compe-
tent evidence to support the jury’s finding.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)

27. Criminal Law O553, 742(1)
The credibility of witnesses and the

weight and consideration to be given to their
testimony are within the exclusive province
of the trier of facts and the trier of facts may
believe the evidence of a single witness on a
question and disbelieve several others testi-
fying to the contrary. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)

28. Criminal Law O438(1), 1153.11
The admissibility of photographs is a

matter within the trial court’s discretion and
absent an abuse of that discretion the Court
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of Criminal Appeals will not reverse the trial
court’s ruling. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

29. Criminal Law O438(1, 7)
Photographs are admissible if their con-

tent is relevant and their probative value is
not substantially outweighed by their preju-
dicial effect. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

30. Criminal Law O438(6)
The probative value of photographs of

murder victims can be manifested in numer-
ous ways, including showing the nature, ex-
tent and location of wounds, establishing the
corpus delicti, depicting the crime scene, and
corroborating the medical examiner’s testi-
mony. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

31. Criminal Law O438(4, 6)
Photographs of crime scene were rele-

vant in murder prosecution, where photo-
graphs depicted the area of the apartment
where the shootings occurred, photographs
depicted the absence of weapons in the
apartment, photographs rebutted defendant’s
assertion that the victims were smoking mar-
ijuana when he arrived, and photographs aid-
ed the jury in understanding testimony from
police officers and the medical examiner con-
cerning the position of the body when shot,
and the nature and extent of the gunshot
wounds. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

32. Criminal Law O438(7)
Probative value of crime scene photo-

graphs was not outweighed by any prejudi-
cial impact in murder prosecution; although
it was uncontested that defendant shot the
victims and that the decedent died from his
wounds, the State was charged with estab-
lishing the corpus delicti of the crime and
was entitled to corroborate and illustrate the
testimony of its witnesses about what the
crime scene looked like and the manner of
death. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

33. Criminal Law O661
When presenting evidence, the State is

not required to downplay the violence in-

volved in a crime or its repercussions. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

34. Criminal Law O438(7)
Probative value of photographs of inju-

ries of shooting victims that were not killed
was not outweighed by any prejudicial im-
pact in murder and shooting with intent to
kill prosecution, where medical examine to
did not testify regarding injuries to these
victims, and photographs corroborated testi-
mony of victims regarding injuries alleged
suffered at the hands of defendant. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

35. Criminal Law O770(2)
A theory of defense instruction must

embrace a defense recognized in law, which
either exonerates guilt or reduces the charge
to a lesser included offense. (Per Lumpkin,
J., with four justices concurring in the re-
sult.)

36. Criminal Law O772(6)
When prima facie evidence meeting the

legal criteria for a defense is presented, an
instruction should be given. (Per Lumpkin,
J., with four justices concurring in the re-
sult.)

37. Criminal Law O549
‘‘Prima facie evidence’’ is evidence which

in the judgment of the law, is sufficient to
establish a given fact, or the group or chain
of facts constituting the defendant’s claim or
defense, and which if not rebutted or contra-
dicted, will remain sufficient to sustain a
judgment in favor of the issue which it sup-
ports. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

 See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and def-
initions.

38. Criminal Law O770(2)
A theory of defense instruction is prop-

erly refused if there is insufficient evidence
to support it. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

39. Homicide O795
Self-defense is a defense although the

danger to life or personal security may not
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have been real, if a reasonable person, in the
circumstances and from the viewpoint of the
defendant, would reasonably have believed
that he/she was in imminent danger of death
or great bodily harm. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)  21
Okl.St.Ann. § 733(2).

40. Homicide O794, 795

The bare belief that one is about to
suffer death or great personal injury will not,
in itself, justify taking the life of one’s adver-
sary; there must exist reasonable grounds for
such belief at the time of the killing. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann. § 733(2).

41. Homicide O774, 780

The right of self-defense cannot be in-
voked by an aggressor or by one who volun-
tarily enters into a situation armed with a
deadly weapon. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.
Ann. § 733(2).

42. Homicide O1480

Evidence did not warrant jury instruc-
tion on self-defense in murder prosecution;
defendant was the aggressor, arriving at the
apartment of one of the victims visibly armed
with a firearm, and defendant shot the un-
armed decedent merely because decedent
moved toward defendant and refused to back
away. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

43. Homicide O1458

Evidence did not warrant jury instruc-
tion on lesser included offense of manslaugh-
ter by resisting criminal attempt in first-
degree murder prosecution; although defen-
dant asserted that he shot decedent to pre-
vent decedent from assaulting defendant, de-
fendant was the only person with a weapon
in the apartment, decedent was lawfully at-
tempting to protect himself and the other
unarmed people, including children, in the
apartment, and wound to top of decedent’s
head was more consistent with him having
been shot in a defensive position. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)

44. Criminal Law O795(1.5, 2.1)
Whether any particular offense is a less-

er included offense depends upon which less-
er included offense test or approach is uti-
lized and whether the trial evidence warrants
the instruction. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

45. Criminal Law O795(1.5)
The analysis to determine whether any

particular offense constituted a lesser includ-
ed offense so as to warrant a jury instruction
on the lesser included offense requires courts
to make a legal determination about whether
a crime constitutes a lesser included offense
of the charged crime or whether it is legally
possible for the charged crime to include a
lesser included offense. (Per Lumpkin, J.,
with four justices concurring in the result.)

46. Criminal Law O795(1.5)
To determine what constitutes a lesser

included offense of any charged crime for
purposes of a defendant’s entitlement to a
jury instruction on a lesser included offense,
the Court of Criminal Appeals looks not only
at the elements but also to the crimes the
trial evidence tends to prove. (Per Lumpkin,
J., with four justices concurring in the re-
sult.)

47. Criminal Law O795(2.5)
Prima facie evidence of a lesser included

offense for purposes of a defendant’s entitle-
ment to a jury instruction on the lesser in-
cluded offense is that evidence which would
allow a jury rationally to find the accused
guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of
the greater. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)

48. Homicide O1451
A defendant’s statements concerning the

homicide are sufficient to warrant a jury
instruction on a lesser included offense only
if those statements are supported by other
evidence presented at trial. (Per Lumpkin, J.,
with four justices concurring in the result.)

49. Homicide O1457
Evidence did not warrant jury instruc-

tion on lesser included offense of heat of
passion manslaughter in first-degree murder
prosecution; unarmed victim’s movement to-
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ward defendant, without a verbal threat or
physical altercation, was not sufficient provo-
cation to support heat of passion manslaugh-
ter. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices con-
curring in the result.)

50. Homicide O688, 694

A homicide may be reduced from mur-
der to manslaughter where the killing was
done because the slayer believed that he was
in great danger, even if he was not warrant-
ed in such belief or where the slayer al-
though acting in self-defense was not himself
free from blame. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

51. Homicide O1458

Depending on the evidence, a jury might
conclude that the defendant’s self-defense
claim is ‘‘imperfect,’’ and while not sufficient
to negate culpability, at least sufficient to
mitigate it; in such situations, instructions on
heat-of-passion manslaughter may be war-
ranted. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

52. Homicide O1458

The ‘‘passion’’ necessary to support a
manslaughter instruction due to heat of pas-
sion must be so great as to render the mind
incapable of forming a design to effect death.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)

53. Homicide O667

For purposes of heat of passion man-
slaughter, adequate provocation is measured
by an objective test of reasonableness. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

54. Constitutional Law O4637

 Homicide O1457

Trial court’s refusal to give jury instruc-
tion on lesser included offense of manslaugh-
ter that was unsupported by the evidence did
not violate defendant’s due process rights in
first-degree murder prosecution; jury was
not required to be given a third, non-capital
option when the evidence absolutely did not
support that option. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14.

55. Criminal Law O795(2.1)

If a defendant’s statement is contrary to
or inconsistent with other evidence presented
at trial, it is insufficient to warrant a jury
instruction on a lesser included offense. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

56. Sentencing and Punishment O1679

Evidence was sufficient to support ag-
gravating circumstance of creating a great
risk of death to more than one person so as
to support imposition of death penalty in
first-degree murder prosecution; all three
victims were within view of each other in the
confines of a small apartment living room
when defendant opened fire with a firearm.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann.
§ 701.12(2).

57. Sentencing and Punishment O1788(7,
9)

In order to determine whether the State
has met its burden in proving an aggravating
circumstance, the Court of Criminal Appeals
reviews the record in the light most favor-
able to the State to determine whether any
rational trier of fact could have found the
facts necessary to support the aggravating
circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann.
§ 701.12(2).

58. Sentencing and Punishment O1679

The aggravating circumstance of creat-
ing a great risk of death to more than one
person is proved by a defendant’s acts which
create a risk of death to another in close
proximity, in terms of time, location, and
intent to the killing. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)  21
Okl.St.Ann. § 701.12(2).

59. Sentencing and Punishment O1679

It is not merely the death of more than
one person that satisfies the aggravator for
creating a great risk of death to more than
one person, but the acts of a defendant that
create a great risk of death to at least one
other person who is near to the homicide.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
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ring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann.
§ 701.12(2).

60. Sentencing and Punishment O1679
The death of a person other than the

homicide victim is not a prerequisite for a
finding of aggravator for creating a great
risk of death to more than one person. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann. § 701.12(2).

61. Sentencing and Punishment O1679
The gravamen of the aggravating cir-

cumstance of creating a great risk of death to
more than one person is not the number of
persons killed, but the callous creation of the
risk to more than one person. (Per Lumpkin,
J., with four justices concurring in the re-
sult.)  21 Okl.St.Ann. § 701.12(2).

62. Sentencing and Punishment O1680
Aggravating circumstance that murder

was committed while defendant was serving
a sentence of imprisonment for a felony was
not limited to killings in a correctional facility
or some other area of confinement; defendant
was on parole for three separate convictions
when he murdered the victim, thus, defen-
dant was still serving a sentence of imprison-
ment on conviction of a felony. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann. § 701.12(6).

63. Sentencing and Punishment O1720
Evidence was sufficient to support find-

ing that defendant was a continuing threat to
society so as to support imposition of death
penalty in first-degree murder prosecution;
defendant had a history of unprovoked vio-
lence, defendant had a history of violence
against women, and defendant’s criminal his-
tory showed a pattern of escalating violence.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann.
§ 701.12(6).

64. Sentencing and Punishment O1720
A finding that the defendant would com-

mit criminal acts of violence that would con-
stitute a continuing threat to society is ap-
propriate when the evidence establishes the
defendant participated in other unrelated
criminal acts and the nature of the crime
exhibited the calloused nature of the defen-

dant. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)  21 Okl.St.Ann.
§ 701.12(6).

65. Sentencing and Punishment O1788(3)

Defendant failed to preserve for appel-
late review his assertion that State’s lethal
injection procedures constituted cruel and
unusual punishment, where, although defen-
dant filed a motion with the trial court chal-
lenging State’s lethal injection protocol, chal-
lenge was limited to the three chemicals used
and did not address the procedure surround-
ing the administration of those chemicals.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend.
8.

66. Sentencing and Punishment O1780(3)

Jury instruction on mitigating circum-
stances did not limit jury’s consideration of
mitigating evidence presented by defendant
in murder prosecution, where the testimony
of defendant’s witnesses was summarized
into ten specific mitigating factors for the
jury’s consideration as well as any other
evidence the jury might consider mitigating.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)

67. Criminal Law O438.1
 Sentencing and Punishment O1767

Probative value of recording of 911 call
made by one of the victims after being shot,
which contained screams and pleas for help,
was not outweighed by risk of unfair preju-
dice to defendant in guilt and punishment
stages of murder and shooting with intent to
kill prosecution; recording was relevant as it
corroborated both surviving victims’ versions
of what happened in the apartment immedi-
ately after the shootings, this was particular-
ly important in light of defense counsel’s
thorough cross-examination of the women
and attempts to impeach their descriptions of
the crime and surrounding circumstances, re-
cording showed caller’s demeanor after being
shot and explained how she might have trou-
ble remembering details from the night of
the shooting, and it tended to rebut defen-
dant’s claim that caller walked to the bath-
room after being shot in order to dispose of
some marijuana. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
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justices concurring in the result.)  12 Okl.St.
Ann. § 2402.

68. Homicide O1054
Defendant was not aware of prior acts of

violence by victim at time of murder, and
therefore defendant was not entitled to pres-
ent evidence regarding such acts in support
of self-defense theory; while defendant said
he recognized the victim when he entered the
apartment, and knew he was a ‘‘gangster,’’ he
never said he fired at the victim because he
was aware of the victim’s previous criminal
acts as a juvenile and feared for his life
because of that knowledge, rather defendant
alleged that he fired at the unarmed victim
because victim lunged at defendant. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)  12 Okl.St.Ann. § 2404(A)(2).

69. Criminal Law O661
Whether a defendant was denied the

right to present a defense ultimately turns on
whether the evidence at his disposal was
admissible. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)

70. Criminal Law O661, 1153.1
The admission of evidence is left to the

sound discretion of the trial court and will
not be disturbed absent an abuse of discre-
tion. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

71. Homicide O1054
In a homicide case where the defense is

that of self-defense, acts of violence by the
victim antecedent to the homicide may be
introduced where the defendant was aware of
the specific prior acts of violence and that
awareness or knowledge helped form the ba-
sis for his purported fear of the victim result-
ing in the alleged act of self-defense against
the victim, and tending to establish the vic-
tim as the aggressor. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)

72. Homicide O1051(1)
In a case where the defense is self-

defense, the pertinency requirement limits
admission of evidence to those traits of char-
acter of the victim that would have affected
the defendant’s perception of the threat with
which he was confronted. (Per Lumpkin, J.,

with four justices concurring in the result.)
12 Okl.St.Ann. § 2404(A)(2).

73. Criminal Law O1171.1(2.1)
A criminal conviction is not to be lightly

overturned on the basis of a prosecutor’s
comments standing alone, for the statements
or conduct must be viewed in context; only
by so doing can it be determined whether the
prosecutor’s conduct affected the fairness of
the trial. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)

74. Criminal Law O1171.1(2.1)
In order for the remarks of the prose-

cuting attorney to constitute reversible error
they must be flagrant and of such a nature as
to be prejudicial to the defendant. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

75. Criminal Law O1171.1(1)
Every slight excess by the prosecutor

does not require that a verdict be overturned
and that a new trial be ordered. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)

76. Criminal Law O2117
Prosecutor’s statement during closing

argument of guilt phase of murder prosecu-
tion regarding defendant’s intent to kill did
not constitute prosecutorial misconduct,
where prosecutor did not inform jury that it
could presume defendant’s intent to kill, as
defendant suggested, rather, prosecutor fo-
cused on recurring theme that defendant’s
acts of pointing a loaded gun at the victims’
head and body and pulling the trigger
showed defendant’s intent to kill. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)

77. Criminal Law O2199
Prosecutor’s statements during closing

argument of guilt phase of murder prosecu-
tion regarding the difficulty of firing a gun
did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct
warranting a mistrial, where trial court sus-
tained defense counsel’s objection and ad-
monished the jury to disregard the state-
ments and rely on their own memory and life
experience. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)
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78. Criminal Law O2117
Prosecutor’s assertion during closing ar-

gument of guilt phase of murder prosecution
that defendant must have taken the safety
off of the gun he possessed prior to entering
the apartment was a proper inference on the
evidence, and therefore did not constitute
prosecutorial misconduct warranting a mis-
trial, where a ballistics expert testified that
most all semiautomatic and automatic weap-
ons have safeties so someone is not shot
accidentally, and he further testified that the
safety would have to manually disengage and
explained to the jury the process for doing
so. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices con-
curring in the result.)

79. Criminal Law O2153
Prosecutor’s reference during closing ar-

gument of guilt phase of murder prosecution
to two arguments by defense counsel as ‘‘red
herrings’’ did not denigrate defense counsel
so as to deny defendant a fair trial; defen-
dant was convicted and sentenced to death
based upon the facts of his crime and the
aggravating circumstances in the case, rather
than any improper remarks by the prosecu-
tor. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices con-
curring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.

80. Criminal Law O2179
Prosecutor’s reference during closing ar-

gument of punishment phase of murder pros-
ecution to defendant as ‘‘toxic’’ was proper
rebuttal argument that did not constitute
prosecutorial misconduct warranting a mis-
trial, where reference was rebuttal to the
recurring theme in the defense closing argu-
ment that the ‘‘toxic love’’ between defendant
and one of the victims was responsible for
the murder and absolved defendant of any
responsibility. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

81. Criminal Law O2143
Prosecutor’s reference during closing ar-

gument of punishment phase of murder pros-
ecution to defendant as a ‘‘cold-blooded kill-
er’’ was supported by the evidence, and
therefore did not constitute prosecutorial
misconduct that warranted a mistrial, where
defendant shot three unarmed victims multi-
ple times within a confined area after victims

did nothing to provoke defendant. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)

82. Criminal Law O1186.1

Allegations of prosecutorial misconduct
do not warrant reversal of a conviction unless
the cumulative effect was such as to deprive
the defendant of a fair trial. (Per Lumpkin,
J., with four justices concurring in the re-
sult.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

83. Criminal Law O1881

In order to show ineffective assistance of
counsel, the defendant must show that coun-
sel’s performance was deficient, an the defen-
dant must show the deficient performance
prejudiced the defense; unless the defendant
makes both showings, it cannot be said that
the conviction resulted from a breakdown in
the adversary process that renders the result
unreliable. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 6.

84. Criminal Law O1871, 1882

When asserting ineffective assistance of
counsel, the defendant bears the burden of
establishing that his trial counsel made er-
rors so serious that counsel was not func-
tioning as the ‘‘counsel’’ guaranteed the de-
fendant by the federal constitution. (Per
Lumpkin, J., with four justices concurring in
the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

85. Criminal Law O1870

Review of counsel’s performance under
an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis is
highly deferential. (Per Lumpkin, J., with
four justices concurring in the result.)
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

86. Criminal Law O1871

When ineffective assistance of counsel is
asserted, a court must indulge a strong pre-
sumption that counsel’s conduct falls within
the wide range of reasonable professional
assistance; that is, the defendant must over-
come the presumption that, under the cir-
cumstances, the challenged action might be
considered sound trial strategy. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.
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87. Criminal Law O1961
Trial counsel’s failure to present expert

to testify regarding defendant’s social history
was reasonable trial strategy in punishment
phase of murder prosecution, and therefore
did not constitute ineffective assistance of
counsel, where counsel decided that, under
the circumstances, the best mitigation case
was a limited one, focusing only on certain
aspects of defendant’s life, as such a report
would have contained more harmful informa-
tion for defendant than mitigating informa-
tion. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices
concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.

88. Criminal Law O1961
Trial counsel’s failure to present expert

to testify regarding defendant’s social history
did not prejudice defendant in punishment
phase of murder prosecution, and therefore
did not constitute ineffective assistance of
counsel; an expert was not needed to present
a cohesive mitigation case or ‘‘connect the
dots’’ as the jury could draw the same con-
clusions as those an expert social history
report that defendant’s criminal conduct was
the result in part of his failed relationship
with his mother. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 6.

89. Criminal Law O1961
Trial counsel’s failure to call defendant’s

brother as a witness in punishment phase of
murder prosecution to testify regarding de-
fendant’s alleged difficult upbringing was
reasonable trial strategy, and therefore did
not constitute ineffective assistance of coun-
sel, where counsel used reasonable efforts to
obtain the attendance of defendant’s brother
at trial, but it was clear brother was actively
avoiding service of process, and brother’s
proposed testimony was refuted by several
other family members. (Per Lumpkin, J.,
with four justices concurring in the result.)
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

90. Criminal Law O1961
Counsel does not have an obligation in a

capital case to introduce any and all evidence
that might conceivably be considered mitigat-
ing in the hope that it might outweigh the
aggravating evidence and save the defen-

dant’s life. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)  U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 6.

91. Criminal Law O1882

Counsel’s obligation is to use reasonable
professional judgment in making decisions
concerning the defendant’s case. (Per Lump-
kin, J., with four justices concurring in the
result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

92. Criminal Law O1961

Trial counsel’s failure to call defendant’s
brother as a witness in punishment phase of
capital murder prosecution to testify regard-
ing defendant’s alleged difficult upbringing
did not prejudice defendant, and therefore
did not constitute ineffective assistance of
counsel, where evidence in aggravation was
great and supported the finding of the three
aggravating circumstances found by the jury
in support of imposition of the death penalty.
(Per Lumpkin, J., with four justices concur-
ring in the result.)  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend.
6.

93. Criminal Law O1186.1

A cumulative error argument has no
merit when the Court of Criminal Appeals
fails to sustain any of the other errors raised
by defendant. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four
justices concurring in the result.)

94. Criminal Law O1186.1

When there have been numerous irregu-
larities during the course of a trial that tend
to prejudice the rights of the defendant, re-
versal will be required if the cumulative ef-
fect of all the errors is to deny the defendant
a fair trial. (Per Lumpkin, J., with four jus-
tices concurring in the result.)

95. Sentencing and Punishment O1679,
1680, 1720

Jury was not influenced by passion,
prejudice, or any other arbitrary factor in
imposing death sentence in first-degree mur-
der prosecution in which jury found existence
of three aggravating circumstances; jury
found that defendant knowingly created a
great risk of death to more than one person,
that the murder was committed by defendant
was he was serving a sentence of imprison-
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ment on conviction of a felony, and there
existed a probability that defendant would
commit criminal actions of violence that
would have constituted a threat to society,
and jury considered nine witnesses defendant
presented in mitigation. (Per Lumpkin, J.,
with four justices concurring in the result.)
21 Okl.St.Ann. § 701.13(C).

96. Criminal Law O795(2.1)

If evidence supports a lesser offense,
even if that evidence is contradicted by other
evidence which suggests a defendant may
have committed the charged crime, a trial
court should give a lesser offense instruction.
(Per concurring opinion of A. Johnson, P.J.,
with two justices joining.)

97. Homicide O1451

Where the purported evidence support-
ing a lesser offense, accepted as true, does
not tend to establish a lower grade of homi-
cide, the trial court should not give jury
instructions on any lesser form of homicide.
(Per concurring opinion of A. Johnson, P.J.,
with two justices joining.)

98. Criminal Law O795(2.1)

Where the evidence, if believed, sup-
ports a lesser offense, even if contradicted,
the issue should be submitted to the jury for
resolution. (Per concurring opinion of A.
Johnson, P.J., with two justices joining.)

¶ 0 An Appeal from the District Court of
Oklahoma County;  The Honorable Kenneth
C. Watson, District Judge.

Catherine Hammarsten, Cynthia Viol, As-
sistant Public Defenders, Oklahoma City,
OK, counsel for appellant at trial.

C. Wesley Lane II, District Attorney, San-
dra Howell–Elliott, Suzanne Lister, Assistant
District Attorneys, Oklahoma City, OK, coun-
sel for the State at trial.

Kim Chandler Baze, Assistant Public De-
fender, Oklahoma City, OK, counsel for ap-
pellant on appeal.

W.A. Drew Edmondson, Attorney General
of Oklahoma, Seth S. Branham, Assistant
Attorney General, Oklahoma City, OK, coun-
sel for the State on appeal.

OPINION

LUMPKIN, Judge.

¶ 1 Appellant Nicholas Alexander Davis
was tried by jury and convicted of First
Degree Malice Murder (Count I) (21 O.S.
2001, § 701.7(A), two counts of Shooting with
Intent to Kill After Former Conviction of
Two or More Felonies (Counts II and III),
(21 O.S.2001, § 652), and Felonious Posses-
sion of a Loaded Firearm, After Former
Conviction of a Felony, (Count IV) (21 O.S.
2001, § 1283), Case No. CF–2004–347, in the
District Court of Oklahoma County.  In
Count I, the jury found the presence of three
aggravating circumstances:  1) that the de-
fendant knowingly created a great risk of
death to more than one person, 2) the mur-
der was committed by a person while serving
a sentence of imprisonment on conviction for
a felony, and 3) the existence of a probability
that the defendant would commit criminal
acts of violence that would constitute a con-
tinuing threat to society, and set punishment
at death.  In Counts II and III, the shoot-
ings of Tia Green and Chinetta Hooks, re-
spectively, the jury recommended prison sen-
tences of forty-five (45) years and sixty-five
(65) years respectively.  In Count IV, the
jury recommended a sentence of twenty-five
(25) years imprisonment.  The trial judge
sentenced Appellant in accordance with the
jury’s determination and ordered all sen-
tences to run concurrently.  Appellant now
appeals his convictions and sentences.1

¶ 2 On January 15, 2004, at approximately
10:30 p.m., Tia Green picked up her sister,
Chinetta Hooks, from work and took her
home.  Hooks, her husband and four chil-
dren, all under the age of ten, lived in Apart-
ment 1111 in the Falls Creek Apartments in
Oklahoma City. Seventeen year old, Marcus
Smith, Hooks’ brother-in-law, had been
watching the children while Hooks and her

1. Appellant’s Petition in Error was filed in this
Court on March 4, 2008.  His brief was filed
September 8, 2008.  The State’s brief was filed
on October 22, 2008.  Appellant’s reply brief was

filed December 22, 2008.  The case was submit-
ted to the Court on January 12, 2009.  Oral
arguments were held on May 11, 2010.
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husband worked.  When Green and Hooks
arrived at the apartment, the children had
made a pallet in the living room intending to
sleep there all night.  Hooks rejected the
idea and sent the children to bed.  She,
Green and Smith then visited for a while.

¶ 3 Shortly after 11:00 p.m., there was a
knock on the front door.  Smith went to the
front door and tried to look out of the peep-
hole.  However, the person on the other side
had put their thumb over it.  The trio inside
the apartment repeatedly asked who was at
the door but received no response.  Thinking
it might be his brother, Smith slightly
opened the door.  Appellant, clad completely
in black clothing, forced his way into the
apartment with a gun in his hand.  He shut
the front door behind him and locked it.
Appellant was Green’s former boyfriend.
She had only recently ended a turbulent
relationship with him.  When Appellant en-
tered the apartment, he pointed the gun at
Smith as Smith put his hands in the air and
backed up.  Green and Hooks remained seat-
ed on the sofa.  Smith asked Appellant,
‘‘what’s going on’’ and ‘‘why are you doing
this, man?’’  Appellant offered no reply.
Green also asked Appellant what he was
doing.  Appellant initially gave no response,
but eventually looked at Green and said, ‘‘you
hurt me for the last time.’’  Appellant then
lowered the gun to his side.  Green reached
for her cell phone but Appellant told her,
‘‘you bet not touch that phone.’’  Green and
Hooks then started screaming for Appellant
not to shoot.  Appellant responded by raising
his gun, pointing it at Smith, then lowering
the gun.  Green pleaded with Appellant to go
outside with her and talk things over.  Ap-
pellant’s response was to raise the gun a
third time to Smith’s head and fire.

¶ 4 After the first shot, Green ran into the
nearby bathroom.  She locked the door and
attempted to call the police.  Unable to get
her call to go through, she phoned another
sister, told her Appellant had shot her, and
directed her to call the police.  Appellant
followed Green to the bathroom, kicking at
the door and shouting at her to open the
door.

¶ 5 Meanwhile, intending to call the police,
Hooks had run into the kitchen upon hearing

the first gunshot.  She felt a shot go through
her leg before falling to the floor.  She heard
a total of nine gunshots.  The children, upon
hearing the gunshots, ran to the kitchen to
find their mother on the floor in a pool of
blood.  When they began screaming that
their mother was going to die, Hooks told
them to go to the neighbor’s apartment.
Still holding the telephone, she dialed 911,
said she had been shot and then lost con-
sciousness.

¶ 6 Green was still hiding in the bathroom
when she heard the children run down the
hallway toward the kitchen.  As Appellant
was no longer kicking the door, Green left
the bathroom and sat with her sister until
police arrived.  Oklahoma City Police Officer
Matthew Reed responded to the 911 call and
was met at the apartment complex gate by
Hooks’ children.  Before being taken to the
hospital, Green identified Appellant as the
shooter.  She had been shot twice—once in
the side and once in the back.  The bullet
which entered her side became lodged in her
chest while the other bullet exited her body.

¶ 7 Hooks had been shot in the right arm,
right leg, and the back of her head.  Only the
bullet to her arm became lodged in her body,
the other two having exited.  Marcus Smith
was dead at the scene.  He had been shot
three times—on the top of his head, the left
shoulder, and the back between the shoulder
blades.  The bullet to his left shoulder was
the only one to exit his body.

¶ 8 After the shootings, Appellant fled the
scene.  He was eventually arrested four
months later in San Antonio, Texas.  Appel-
lant voluntarily spoke with police and told
them he threw the murder weapon onto the
side of an interstate highway in Oklahoma.
The weapon has never been recovered.  Ap-
pellant also told police that Green had called
him and told him to meet her at her sister’s
apartment so they could talk.  He said he
took a gun with him because he did not trust
Green as she had tried to harm him in the
past.  Appellant said he was surprised to
find Smith at the apartment as he was not
expecting a man to be there.  Appellant ad-
mitted shooting Green, Hooks and Smith but
said he shot Smith in self-defense after
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Smith lunged at him.  Further facts will be
set forth as necessary.

JURY SELECTION

¶ 9 In his first proposition of error, Appel-
lant contends that orange ribbons commemo-
rating ‘‘National Victims Week’’ worn in the
courtroom during voir dire denied him a fair
trial and due process.  Appellant asserts the
wearing of the ribbons constituted state ac-
tion which severely prejudiced him and were
‘‘clearly intended to brand [him] with an
‘unmistakable mark of guilt.’ ’’ (Appellant’s
brief, pg. 22).

¶ 10 The record reflects that after a lunch
recess on the second day of voir dire defense
counsel informed the court that another at-
torney in her office had seen people in the
courthouse wearing orange ribbons.  De-
fense counsel said she had noticed the rib-
bons for the first time that day and asked a
woman wearing one where she got it.  The
woman told her the District Attorney’s Vic-
tim Witness Center was handing them out.2

Defense counsel described the ribbons as
orange with the words ‘‘one victim, one
crime, one week’’ written in gold.  Defense
counsel asked the court for an in-camera
voir dire of the prospective jurors to deter-
mine if any of them had seen the ribbons and
if they were prejudiced by them. The prose-
cutors objected, commenting that the writing
on the ribbons was small and only visible up
close and there had been no claim that any of
the jurors in Appellant’s case had even seen
the ribbons.  The court denied Appellant’s
request for an in-camera voir dire, but
agreed to collectively inquire of the prospec-
tive jurors if they had seen and read the
ribbons.  The court reminded defense coun-
sel that ‘‘a lot of these things are going to be
able to be resolved by you on your voir dire.’’

¶ 11 After a brief in-camera hearing on an
unrelated juror matter, the prosecutor in-
formed the court that the court’s bailiff had
said that the decedent’s mother, accompanied
by a victim-witness advocate, had entered the
courtroom wearing the orange ribbon while
the court and counsel were occupied in cham-
bers.  This occurred in full view of the pro-

spective jurors awaiting the resumption of
voir dire.  The women went to the bar of the
courtroom looking for one of the prosecutors
and one of the women was identified as the
decedent’s mother.  When the bailiff in-
formed the women she didn’t think they
should be in the courtroom at the time, one
of them wrote a note and told the bailiff to
tell the prosecutor they were going back to
the witness center.

¶ 12 Defense counsel asked for a mistrial
‘‘based on the ribbon, coupled with the vic-
tim’s mother and the jury realizing that
that’s who it was.’’  Defense counsel argued
that ‘‘[n]ormally the jurors don’t know who
the victim’s mother is until some point down
the road, like after they have testified’’ and
therefore this was prejudicial to the defen-
dant.  The court denied the request for a
mistrial finding no impropriety in the dece-
dent’s mother’s presence.  However, the
court did question the prospective jurors re-
garding the ribbons.

¶ 13 When the trial court asked the pro-
spective jurors if they had seen anyone wear-
ing ribbons with some distinct writing on
them, only four prospective jurors raised
their hands.  Two of the jurors said they had
seen the ribbons but had not read the writing
on them.  One juror commented, ‘‘there was
a lady a few minutes ago,’’ which the judge
took to refer to the courtroom presence of
either the decedent’s mother or the victim
witness advocate.  The court informed the
prospective jurors that it was National Vic-
tim’s Week and the ribbons were being worn
in support.  The court admonished the panel
to ignore the ribbons.  The court reminded
the venire panel of the need to maintain the
integrity of the trial and that both parties
were entitled to a fair trial with unbiased
jurors.  The court admonished the prospec-
tive jurors that they must not form an opin-
ion or otherwise commence deliberations un-
til completion of the testimony and the giving
of the legal instructions.  The jurors collec-
tively agreed to follow the admonishment.

¶ 14 The trial court then allowed the prose-
cutor to resume the questioning she had

2. Voir dire transcripts were separately numbered
by the court reporter in four volumes, although

the last two volumes are both marked Volume
Three.
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begun prior to the lunch recess.  The court
specifically commented that both sides would
have an opportunity to address the issue
further in voir dire.  The prosecutor in-
quired briefly of the jurors whether they
would all agree that they should not be influ-
enced at all by the ribbons.  The jurors
collectively agreed.  When asked if anyone
thought they would be influenced by the fact
they saw the orange ribbons, none replied.
The prosecutor then resumed the line of
questioning she had started before lunch.
Defense counsel did not raise the subject of
the ribbons during subsequent voir dire.  Of
the four jurors who indicated they saw the
ribbons, only one, R.W., actually served on
Appellant’s jury.  Regarding the ribbons,
R.W. said he saw them, but did not read
them.

[1] ¶ 15 Appellant claims the wearing of
the ribbons was ‘‘state-sponsored’’ conduct
because the District Attorney’s Office had
the ribbons made, distributed, and displayed
throughout the courthouse.  Based upon the
record before us, we reject this argument.

¶ 16 The record indicates the ribbons were
obtained from the Victim–Witness Center of
the District Attorney’s Office.  There is
nothing in the record pertaining as to how
they were handed out or displayed in the
courthouse.  Even if Appellant’s assertions
are true, the prosecutors handling Appel-
lant’s trial were not wearing the ribbons and
they attempted to prevent anyone wearing
the ribbons from entering the courtroom.  In
fact, as soon as the prosecutor learned about
the ribbons, she called the witness center to
tell them not to send anyone to the court-
house wearing any kind of ribbons.  When
she could not reach anyone at that phone
number, she phoned the District Attorney’s
secretary and directed her to go to the wit-
ness center and make sure no one came to
the courthouse wearing the ribbons.  At no
time did the prosecutor attempt to justify the
display of the ribbons in the courtroom or
courthouse, rather she admitted to the court
she did not believe the victim-witness advo-
cate should have worn the ribbon into the
courtroom.  The prosecutor specifically
stressed to the jury that they should not be
influenced by the ribbons.

¶ 17 In Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501,
96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976) the
United States Supreme Court found that
compelling the defendant to stand trial in
prison clothes was a government sponsored
courtroom practice which denied the defen-
dant his right to a fair trial.  In Holbrook v.
Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 106 S.Ct. 1340, 89
L.Ed.2d 525 (1986) the presence of four uni-
formed state troopers in the row of specta-
tors’ seats immediately behind the defendant
at trial was also found to be government
sponsored conduct.  In determining whether
the government sponsored courtroom prac-
tices were so prejudicial as to deny a defen-
dant his constitutional right to a fair trial, the
Supreme Court used an ‘‘inherent prejudice
test’’ stating that some practices are ‘‘so in-
herently prejudicial’’ that they must be justi-
fied by an ‘‘essential state’’ policy or interest.
475 U.S. at 568–569, 106 S.Ct. at 1346.  In
contrast, the wearing of buttons by the vic-
tim’s family members which contained pic-
tures of the victims was found not to be state
sponsored conduct.  See Carey v. Musladin,
549 U.S. 70, 72–73, 127 S.Ct. 649, 652, 166
L.Ed.2d 482 (2006);  Mitchell v. State, 1994
OK CR 70, ¶¶ 21–22, 884 P.2d 1186, 1196.

¶ 18 The present case falls between the
examples set out above as the State had the
ribbons made and was responsible for their
distribution, yet the wearing of the ribbons in
the courtroom by the victim-witness advocate
and decedent’s mother seems to be purely
private-actor conduct.  The record gives ev-
ery indication that the State did not promote
the wearing of the ribbons in the courtroom
and actively sought to prevent anyone else
from wearing the ribbons in the courtroom.
The inherent prejudice test used in Williams
and Flynn has not been applied to private-
actor or spectator conduct.  Carey, 549 U.S.
at 76, 127 S.Ct. at 653–54.  Therefore, Appel-
lant must show actual prejudice.  Mitchell,
1994 OK CR 70, ¶¶ 21–22, 884 P.2d at 1196.

[2] ¶ 19 The prospective jurors were ad-
monished by the trial court to disregard the
ribbons and were told the ribbons were to
play no part in the jury’s consideration of the
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case.3  The written instructions given to the
jury at the close of the evidence directed the
jury to consider only the evidence introduced
at trial.

¶ 20 Further, the ribbons were worn only
briefly in the courtroom by two non-partici-
pants in the trial.  As noted by the prosecu-
tor, ‘‘[t]he jurors know who the victims fami-
ly members are from the beginning.  [The
prosecutors] sit and talk to them and [the
defense attorneys] sit and talk to the Defen-
dant’s family.  Of course they know who the
family members are.’’  As we stated in
Mitchell, ‘‘[s]orting out the various court-
room participants would have been relatively
easy.’’  1994 OK CR 70, ¶ 22, 884 P.2d at
1196.

¶ 21 Appellant contends that ‘‘we do not
know how many hands were raised’’ when
the trial court inquired of the prospective
jurors about the ribbons.  (Appellant’s brief,
pg. 22).  However, the record clearly states
four prospective jurors raised their hands
and they are identified by name in the rec-
ord.  Defense counsel made no additional
record regarding whether other hands were
raised.  Based upon the record before us, we
find Appellant has failed to show he suffered
any prejudice due to the display of the Na-
tional Crime Victims Week ribbons.  This
proposition of error is denied.

¶ 22 In his second proposition of error,
Appellant contends the trial court erred in
failing to remove for cause prospective jurors
J.M., J.W., and K.C. as they were biased in
favor of the death penalty.  Appellant asserts
the court’s ruling and the court’s failure to
grant his request for additional peremptory
challenges (having used his allotted nine
challenges, including three to remove the

above mentioned prospective jurors) forced
him to keep three unacceptable jurors.

¶ 23 Potential jurors in this case filled out
a questionnaire prior to initial questioning by
the trial court.  After getting general back-
ground information from each venireperson,
the judge questioned each person about his
or her ability to consider all three punish-
ment options.  Having finished his portion of
the voir dire, the trial judge allowed the
prosecutor to conduct voir dire and then
defense counsel.  When the trial court did
not excuse J.M., J.W., or K.C. for cause,
defense counsel objected.  At the conclusion
of voir dire, the for-cause challenges were
renewed and denied again.  Defense counsel
used her first three peremptory challenges to
remove J.M., J.W., and K.C. Counsel then
requested three additional peremptory chal-
lenges, identifying three additional panel
members she would have removed with the
additional challenges.  The request was de-
nied.  Appellant has properly preserved this
claim for appellate review.  See Eizember v.
State, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 36, 164 P.3d 208, 220
(to preserve for appellate review an objection
to a denial of a challenge for cause, the
defense must excuse the challenged juror
with a peremptory challenge and make a
record of which remaining jurors the defen-
dant would have excused if he had not used
that peremptory challenge to cure the trial
court’s alleged erroneous denial of the for
cause challenge).

¶ 24 The standard of review for determin-
ing when a prospective juror may be exclud-
ed for cause because of his or views on
capital punishment was set out in Eizember,
wherein this Court stated:

3. Appellant asserts the court told the jury to
consider the ribbons when they retired for delib-
erations.  In admonishing the jury not to be
influenced by the ribbons, the trial court said in
part:

I guess what I’m saying to you is nobody needs
to be influenced by that [seeing the ribbons] TTT

because we are trying to preserve the integrity of
this trial, we’re trying as everyone will tell you is
that everybody is entitled to a fair trial and any
kind of outside influences that tend to influence
your opinion before you have heard any evidence
just disrupts the integrity, TTT And we have to
depend on you, that you will not lose your focus

and the focus of what we’re asking you to do as
jurors, and that’s to be unbiased about these
proceedings and not form an opinion or share
with someone else an opinion that you have until
the testimony is complete and you have gotten
the rules of law by me and you’ve gone and you
retire to deliberate.  Then its free game.  You
can discuss it, you can bring in—but all within
the bounds of the law and that’s all were asking.
(Tr. V.D.Vol.II, pgs. 411–412).
This comment did not raise any objections from
the defense or requests for follow-up.  When
read in context, the trial court clearly admon-
ished the jury not to consider the ribbons.
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The proper standard for determining when
a prospective juror may be excluded for
cause because of his or her views on capital
punishment is ‘‘whether the juror’s views
would ‘prevent or substantially impair the
performance of his duties as a juror in
accordance with his instructions and his
oath.’ ’’ Witt, 469 U.S. [412], at 424, 105
S.Ct. [844], at 852 [83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985) ].
See also Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648,
658, 107 S.Ct. 2045, 2051, 95 L.Ed.2d 622
(1987).  Inherent in this determination is
that the potential juror has been fully in-
formed of the law and his or her responsi-
bilities under the law and oath of a juror.
This standard does not require a juror’s
bias be proved with unmistakable clarity;
neither must the juror express an intention
to vote against the death penalty automati-
cally. Witt, 469 U.S. at 425, 105 S.Ct. at
852.  ‘‘Deference must be paid to the trial
judge who sees and hears the jurors’’.  Id.,
469 U.S. at 425, 105 S.Ct. at 853.  See also
Uttecht v. Brown, 551 U.S. 1, 127 S.Ct.
2218, 2224, 167 L.Ed.2d 1014 (2007) (‘‘def-
erence to the trial court is appropriate
because it is in a position to assess the
demeanor of the venire, and of the individ-
uals who compose it, a factor of critical
importance in assessing the attitude and
qualifications of potential jurors’’).
This Court has adhered to the principles
set forth in Witt. See Glossip v. State, 2007
OK CR 12, ¶¶ 31–33, 157 P.3d 143, 150–
151;  Williams v. State, 2001 OK CR 9,
¶ 10, 22 P.3d 702, 709 (and cases cited
therein).  We have said the Witt standard
only requires that each juror be willing to
consider each of the three statutory pun-
ishments:  the death penalty, life imprison-
ment without the possibility of parole, and
life imprisonment (with the possibility of
parole).  Glossip, 2007 OK CR 12 at ¶ 31,
157 P.3d at 150.  See also Williams, 2001
OK CR 9 at ¶ 10, 22 P.3d at 709–710.
Further, all doubts regarding juror impar-
tiality must be resolved in favor of the
accused.  Williams, 2001 OK CR 9 at ¶ 10,
22 P.3d at 709–710.  This Court will look
to the entirety of the juror’s voir dire
examination to determine if the trial court
properly excused the juror for cause.  Id.
As the trial court personally observes the

jurors and their responses, this Court will
not disturb its decision absent an abuse of
discretion.  Id.

2007 OK CR 29, ¶¶ 41–42, 164 P.3d at 221–
222 (footnote omitted).  See also Frederick v.
State, 2001 OK CR 34, ¶ 51, 37 P.3d 908, 926
(‘‘[t]he decision to disqualify a prospective
juror for cause rests within the sound discre-
tion of the trial court, whose decision will be
overturned only where an abuse of discretion
exists’’).

[3] ¶ 25 During initial questioning, pro-
spective juror J.M. agreed he would consider
all three penalty options and would not auto-
matically impose the death penalty.  During
questioning by defense counsel, J.M. agreed
that prior to his jury service, he had written
and told people in discussion that the death
penalty should be used more often.  He ex-
plained that this belief came from watching
‘‘non-fictional’’ programs on television.
When asked by defense counsel if he could
assume that for him, the death penalty ‘‘has
a head start’’, J.M. agreed.  When asked if
that was a ‘‘big head start’’, J.M. replied,
‘‘[w]ell I would like to be objective.  I
wouldn’t say a big head start, but yeah, it’s
probably got a step or two on the others.’’
When asked whether those were ‘‘big steps
or baby steps’’, J.M., said, ‘‘kind of in be-
tween.’’

¶ 26 Defense counsel then asked if J.M.’s
views were the equivalent of two other pro-
spective jurors who had just been excused
for cause, J.M. replied, ‘‘it would be close to
that, maybe not quite as, but close.’’  When
asked if Appellant should be worried about
what J.M. was saying about the death penal-
ty, J.M. replied that he didn’t know, because
they had not heard any testimony yet.  J.M.
said that once they got to the point of decid-
ing punishment, ‘‘the death penalty is proba-
bly going to be the first thing I look at.’’
When asked if it was going to be the primary
thing he looked at, J.M. said, ‘‘depending on
the circumstances I would say it would be
the primary, not the only but the primary.’’
J.M. further explained that it was not as if he
would not look at all three punishments, but
he would look at the death penalty first.  He
continued, ‘‘[t]here could be extenuating cir-
cumstances, but as I said since we’ve actually
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not heard any testimony or anything, I
couldn’t make that decision until we went to,
you know, before we found out whether there
was guilty or not guilty.’’  J.M. further ex-
plained, ‘‘[l]ike I said the death penalty would
be the one I’d primarily look at, but without
having seen all the circumstances and the
evidence and the what not, there is a scenar-
io where you could look at the others more
objectively.’’

¶ 27 In Frederick, 2001 OK CR 34, ¶¶ 51–
52, 37 P.3d at 926, this Court unanimously
rejected a similar challenge to a prospective
juror who said she could consider all three
punishment options, she would not automati-
cally vote for a sentence of death, and she
would vote for a life sentence if she thought
it was appropriate.  This prospective juror
also said although she might ‘‘lean toward’’
the death penalty in a murder case, she
would consider all the options.  Id. This
Court found the trial court did not abuse its
discretion in declining to excuse the prospec-
tive juror for cause because ‘‘[t]o withstand a
challenge for cause concerning punishment
issues, a venireperson need only be willing to
consider all the penalties provided by law
and not be irrevocably committed to any one
punishment option before the trial has be-
gun.’’  Id., 2001 OK CR 34, ¶ 52, 37 P.3d at
926, quoting Carter v. State, 1994 OK CR 49,
¶ 20, 879 P.2d 1234, 1244.

¶ 28 Nothing in J.M.’s responses indicate
that he would be unable to consider all three
possible punishment options, or that his
views would otherwise prevent or substan-
tially impair the performance of his duties as
a juror in accordance with the instructions
and oath.  The trial court, who personally
observed J.M. and heard his responses first-
hand, was satisfied with his assurances that
he could follow the law.  Appellant presents
nothing to overcome this credibility determi-
nation.

[4] ¶ 29 Prospective Juror J.W. indicated
he would accept and follow the law as includ-
ed in the jury instructions, that he could be a
fair and impartial juror and could consider all
three punishment options, and that he would
not automatically impose the death penalty if
the defendant was convicted of first degree
murder.  The prosecutor told J.W. she want-

ed to talk about punishment because she was
‘‘a little concerned about the answers’’ he
gave on the juror questionnaire.  The prose-
cutor said they did not want someone who
was ‘‘hard line one way and hard line the
other TTT and I get the impression from your
questionnaire that you’re, at least it appears
to be, you are hard lined in terms of the
person should receive the death penalty if
they are convicted of murder in the first
degree, is that right?’’  J.W., responded,
‘‘[t]hat’s my thoughts, yes.’’

¶ 30 Upon further questioning, J.W. indi-
cated that he could consider all three punish-
ments, and could give ‘‘honest consideration’’
to all three punishments.  When the prosecu-
tor emphasized that she did not mean merely
‘‘paying lip service to a sentence of life or life
without parole’’ but honestly considering all
three possible punishments, J.W. said that
based on the instructions he could consider
all punishment options.  When asked if any
of the punishments ‘‘start out ahead,’’ he
replied, ‘‘no.’’  J.W. said he could ‘‘absolute-
ly’’ consider all three punishment options and
vote for the one he thought was the most
appropriate under the law and evidence.
J.W. agreed that the evidence might show
that a verdict of not guilty was the most
appropriate verdict or it might show that a
guilty verdict and a life sentence, a life with-
out parole sentence or a death sentence was
the most appropriate.  J.W. said he was com-
fortable that he could give both sides a fair
trial.

¶ 31 When questioned by defense counsel,
J.W. said that after three days of discussion,
he could easily come to a verdict imposing
the death penalty.  ‘‘It would probably be
more my primary punishment as opposed to
life or life without parole.’’  J.W. said he
would follow the judge’s instructions on the
three punishment options, but he ‘‘would lean
more toward death.’’  J.W. agreed with de-
fense counsel’s characterization of his view as
similar to ‘‘I would look at the death penalty,
the other I would look at quickly and dis-
card.’’

¶ 32 When defense counsel moved to strike
J.W. for cause, the trial court allowed the
prosecutor additional questioning.  The pros-
ecutor stressed that it was okay for jurors
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‘‘to have a preference one way or the other
regarding the applicability of the death pen-
alty’’, that ‘‘[t]he key is can you be fair and
can you give meaningful consideration to all
of the appropriate punishments.’’  J.W. indi-
cated he could discuss the other punishments
with the other jurors, he could listen to their
opinions and give his own opinion, he would
not be embarrassed if the person next to him
convinced him that a life sentence was the
most appropriate punishment, and he would
and could vote for a life sentence if he
thought it was the most appropriate punish-
ment.  J.W. agreed that whatever sentence
he gave, it would have to be based on the law
and the evidence he heard in court.

¶ 33 On defense follow-up questioning,
J.W. again said he would ‘‘lean toward’’ the
death penalty.  When asked if his view was
‘‘I know [life and life without parole] are
there but I’m not going to thoughtfully think
of those as potential punishments that I
would endorse,’’ J.W. said, ‘‘I would think
about it, possibly endorse it if the discussion
in the group were valid.’’  J.W. also agreed
that in making the sentencing decision, he
would like to know the defendant’s life story
and that ‘‘the more information the better,
absolutely.  Even personal.’’

¶ 34 Reviewed in their entirety, J.W.’s re-
sponses do not demonstrate an irrevocable
bias toward the death penalty.  J.W.’s re-
sponses indicate he could consider all three
possible punishments.  Appellant directs us
to selected portions of J.W.’s voir dire to
support his claim of bias.  However, any
questions about J.W.’s ability to be a fair and
impartial juror were for the trial court to
resolve.  Our review of the record supports
the trial court’s finding that J.W. did not
have such a strong bias towards the death
penalty that the performance of his duties as
a juror would be prevented or substantially
impaired.  Accordingly, the trial court did
not abuse its discretion in refusing to remove
him for cause.

[5] ¶ 35 Potential Juror K.C. agreed that
on her questionnaire she stated she could
consider all three punishments and added
that none of them started out ahead for her.
She indicated that she was ‘‘not just talking
about lip service,’’ but she could consider

each possible punishment and impose the one
warranted by the law and evidence.

¶ 36 During defense questioning the next
day, K.C. stated that ‘‘after thinking about it
the last two or three days I just don’t know
how fair I could be.’’  K.C. said she did not
feel like the State starts out with a ‘‘leg up,’’
but due to friends and acquaintances in law
enforcement, she might give the State’s wit-
nesses more credibility.  When asked by de-
fense counsel if she believed she could be a
fair and impartial juror, K.C. replied, ‘‘the
more I think about it, no.’’

¶ 37 When questioned by the prosecutor,
K.C. explained that she did not mean that
the mere fact that she knew police officers
would affect her ability to judge the testimo-
ny of any police officer who testifies.  The
prosecutor pointed out that the defense had
included more police officers on their witness
list than had the State.  K.C. said she still
wasn’t sure how fair she could be, that she
might take the State’s testimony ‘‘a little bit
higher’’ than that of the defense.

¶ 38 When the prosecutor explained that
the venire was not being asked to pre-judge
witness credibility but rather to judge testi-
mony after it heard it, K.C. was asked
whether she could judge everybody’s testi-
mony fairly, using the court’s instructions.
K.C. responded, ‘‘I would try, I think I could
TTT I mean, yeah, okay.’’ The prosecutor
further explained that trials involved factual
disputes, jurors were the ones who resolved
those disputes and that all that can be asked
of juror is to do their best to be fair to
everyone who comes into the courtroom.
K.C. responded, ‘‘I would do my best to be
fair, yes.’’  When asked what her specific
concerns were, K.C. said, ‘‘nothing specific.’’
K.C. later agreed that she would hold the
State to its burden of proof and that neither
the prosecutor nor the State’s witnesses
would ‘‘start out ahead of anybody.’’

¶ 39 During a discussion by defense coun-
sel concerning whether the jurors could fair-
ly consider the defendant’s testimony, in
light of his prior felony convictions, K.C.
indicated she could ‘‘possibly’’ lean towards
the State’s witnesses and against the defen-
dant if he were to take the stand.  During
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this exchange, when defense counsel asked
the venire whether there was anyone who
felt they simply could not be fair, K.C. did
not raise her hand.  On the contrary, K.C.
responded affirmatively that she believed it
was fair for defense counsel to expose those
jurors who could not be fair and impartial.
Later, when asked whether the death penalty
was ‘‘ahead of the others or does it rank
equally?’’  K.C. responded, ‘‘they’re all equal,
depends on the case.’’

¶ 40 Appellant asserts that although Pro-
spective Juror K.C. was questioned primarily
on guilt/innocence issues, she implicitly fa-
vored the death penalty because she exhibit-
ed a strong bias against criminal defendants
in general.  Appellant argues that her inabil-
ity to meaningfully consider the evidence,
even if primarily applied during the guilt/in-
nocence portion of the trial, would have
clearly prejudiced him.

[6, 7] ¶ 41 It would not be an understate-
ment to say that to the majority of people
called to jury service, the law and procedures
involved in a criminal trial are foreign issues.
Unlike the attorneys involved, the potential
jurors are not predisposed to thinking about
issues involved in determining the defen-
dant’s guilt or innocence and the appropriate
punishment.  Voir dire is the time to educate
the prospective jurors on what will be asked
of them under the law.  Eizember, 2007 OK
CR 29, ¶ 40, 164 P.3d at 221. Often times,
these prospective jurors are asked for an
immediate decision or response on issues
which they have not considered or considered
only generally.  Thus, answers to a written
juror questionnaire must be read as a start-
ing place for discussion and education and
not as the basis for a final determination on
the prospective juror’s impartiality.  That a
prospective juror’s responses may change
during the course of voir dire is not automat-
ic grounds for excusal for cause.

¶ 42 K.C. illustrates the prospective juror
who may be initially unsure as to what is
expected of a juror but learns through voir
dire how to consider and apply the law and
evidence. Her initial concerns about her abili-
ty to be fair and impartial seemed to fade
away as the process and the law was ex-
plained to her.  By the end of her voir dire,

she indicated she could be fair and impartial
to both parties and their witnesses.  Any
ambiguity or inconsistencies in her responses
were subject to resolution by the trial court.
Having the benefit of observing K.C.’s de-
meanor throughout voir dire, the court found
her responses credible and insufficient to
excuse her for cause.  Our review of the
totality of K.C.’s voir dire supports the trial
court’s decision.  While her voir dire seemed
to concentrate on guilt/innocence issues, she
did not exhibit a strong bias against criminal
defendants in general so that she could not
be a fair and impartial juror.

¶ 43 Having thoroughly reviewed the voir
dire examinations of prospective jurors J.M.,
J.W., and K.C., we find the trial court did not
abuse its discretion in failing to remove these
jurors for cause.  Therefore, there is no need
to address whether Appellant was entitled to
additional peremptory challenges.  Williams
v. State, 2008 OK CR 19, ¶ 33, 188 P.3d 208,
218;  Rojem v. State, 2006 OK CR 7, ¶ 37, 130
P.3d 287, 295.

¶ 44 As much as Appellant argues that
Prospective Jurors J.M., J.W., and K.C.
should have been excused for cause, he as-
serts in his third proposition of error that
Prospective Jurors M.L., L.W., and P.H.
should not have been excused for cause.  Ap-
pellant asserts these jurors gave in to exten-
sive prosecutorial interrogation without an
adequate determination of whether they
could set aside generalized opposition to capi-
tal punishment sufficiently to follow the law
and consider the death penalty, along with
other punishment options.

[8] ¶ 45 Prospective Juror M.L., a medi-
cal doctor, wrote on her juror questionnaire
that she could not impose the death penalty.
When asked by the prosecutor if there were
any circumstances under which she believed
she could return a verdict of death, M.L.
replied, ‘‘I do not think so.’’  The prosecutor
then asked, ‘‘[s]o no matter what the law said
or what the evidence was, and that’s perfect-
ly okay, you do not believe that you could
ever return a verdict of death?’’  M.L. re-
plied, ‘‘[n]o.’’  When asked if there was any-
thing the prosecution could do to change her
mind, M.L. replied, ‘‘[i]t would be very diffi-
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cult.  I don’t think so.’’  Although M.L. indi-
cated that it was a position she had held for a
long time, when asked if it was something
she could set aside and reach a verdict, she
replied, ‘‘I’d like to think that I could, but I
don’t know.’’  M.L. agreed with the prosecu-
tor that it would be unfair to the State if she
stayed on the jury knowing that she could
not carry out that function.  M.L. repeated,
‘‘I do not think that I can impose the death
penalty.’’  When asked by the prosecutor,
‘‘under no circumstances, under no facts?’’
M.L. replied, ‘‘[v]ery unlikely.’’  The State
then moved to excuse her for cause.

¶ 46 When questioned by defense counsel
whether she was ‘‘100 percent foreclosed’’ on
what she can or cannot do, M.L. replied, ‘‘I
would say 99 percent.  I mean, there’s a slim
chance I could do it, but I don’t think I
could.’’  When asked whether she could envi-
sion any circumstances in which she might
impose the death penalty, M.L. stated, ‘‘[o]h!
Possibly, but not very likely.’’  Asked if she
could follow the law, M.L. said, ‘‘I would try
to do it but it would be very difficult for me
to.’’  Defense counsel objected to the State’s
motion to excuse M.L. for cause on the basis
that she was not ‘‘entirely foreclosed.’’  The
court found the prospective juror ‘‘marginal
almost to the side saying she can’t do it’’ but
allowed the defense further voir dire because
the judge had not heard a ‘‘definite’’ answer
from the juror.

¶ 47 In response to the prosecutor’s follow-
up questioning concerning M.L.’s somewhat
inconsistent responses about imposing the
death penalty, M.L. said ‘‘I don’t think I’m
the right juror for this job.  I do not think
that I could impose the death penalty.’’
M.L. further stated, ‘‘I do not believe that I
will ever give a verdict of death, but if some-
thing was so heinous and potentially yes, but
I don’t think that you receive a fair shake
from me.’’  M.L. agreed with the prosecutor
that ‘‘the odds are extremely slim, 1 percent
to 99 percent’’ that she could ever impose the
death penalty no matter the law and the
evidence.

¶ 48 Later that afternoon, the prosecutor
returned to M.L. ‘‘to make sure that nothing
[had] changed’’ for her.  M.L. said, ‘‘[t]he
more that I think about it I do not think that

I can vote for the penalty of death.’’  When
the prosecutor commented, ‘‘that leaves room
for equivocation though’’, M.L. replied, ‘‘I
know I took an oath to follow the law here,
but I also took an oath to do no harm.  And I
think to impose a penalty of death is doing
harm to someone, I don’t think I could [do]
it.’’  When asked about her previous state-
ment that she would not vote for the death
penalty 99 percent of the time, thus leaving a
slim chance she could, M.L. replied, ‘‘I’m not
a person to say 100 percent anything, so I do
believe there probably are situations, but I
don’t think we’re going to encounter them
here.’’  M.L. agreed that no matter what the
law said and no matter what the circum-
stances were, she did not believe she could
return a verdict of death.  When asked if she
was equivocating in any way, M.L. said she
was ‘‘positive.’’  Asked again if there were
any circumstances under which she could
envision returning a verdict of death, M.L.
replied, ‘‘[n]o.’’  The prosecutor again asked
that M.L. be excused for cause.

¶ 49 Defense counsel approached the bench
and told the court that the juror’s voice was
quivering and she was about to cry, therefore
she did not think it would be productive to
question her further.  Counsel said she was
leaving the decision on removing the juror to
the court but renewed her objection to excus-
ing her for cause.  The court found the pro-
spective juror ‘‘had moved from saying there
were some circumstances under which she
could impose the death sentence to an un-
equivocal no to imposing death.’’  However,
the court allowed defense counsel further
questioning.

¶ 50 M.L. agreed with defense counsel’s
characterization of her prior statement as
stating that she could consider a set of cir-
cumstances where she could consider the
death penalty but she didn’t think it was
going to be in this case.  When defense
counsel said, ‘‘so it sounds like to me there is
a point where you would consider the death
penalty,’’ M.L. replied, ‘‘[n]o.  I’m going—the
more I think about it the more I think that
I’m not able to consider the death penalty
TTT under any circumstances.’’  Over defense
counsel’s objection, the trial court excused
M.L. finding ‘‘she was very firm in her belief
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now where she had a 1 percent and that 1
percent seems to have evaporated.’’

¶ 51 The trial court did not abuse its dis-
cretion in removing M.L. for cause.  While
she seemed to vacillate at times in her re-
sponses, the trial court appropriately deter-
mined that she would not be able to consider
all three punishment options.  Appellant’s
characterization of voir dire is not supported
by the record.  Contrary to Appellant’s com-
parison of the prosecutor’s questioning as
‘‘interrogation’’, we find nothing in the record
showing the prosecutor badgered or intimi-
dated M.L. In fact, the prosecutor repeatedly
stressed there was nothing wrong with the
position M.L. held on capital punishment but
that the lawyers simply needed to clarify her
position.  The trial court gave both sides
ample opportunity to question M.L. Even
when defense counsel stated she didn’t think
further questioning would be of any use, the
court allowed her additional questioning.
Defense counsel did not complain that she
was prevented from adequately questioning
M.L. and she did not argue that the prosecu-
tor’s questions were too aggressive or some-
how crossed the line.  Upon review of the
totality of M.L.’s voir dire, we find the ques-
tioning was sufficient to determine that M.L.
could not consider all three punishment op-
tions and she was properly excused for cause.

[9] ¶ 52 Prospective Juror L.W. told the
court from the start that she did not believe
in the death penalty.  She said that if some-
one were trying to convince her that the
death penalty should be imposed, ‘‘I don’t
think I could do it.’’  This was based on her
religious views and her opinion that a person
suffered more when they were in prison
without parole.  When specifically asked if
she could consider all three punishments,
L.W. replied, ‘‘[n]o.’’  The prosecution then
asked that L.W. be excused for cause.  De-
fense counsel objected, asking for more ques-
tioning.  The court eventually retired to
chambers to conduct individual voir dire.

¶ 53 In an attempt to make it clear that
there were no ‘‘right or wrong answers’’ and
that attorneys were just trying to determine
how the juror felt, the prosecutor again
asked L.W. if she could impose the death
penalty.  L.W. said, ‘‘I don’t think I can’’,

and ‘‘my family, we have talked about it, and
like my husband said he could, but I said I
can’t’’.  L.W. said she thought the death
penalty was the ‘‘easy way out,’’ stating, ‘‘I
think they’re just gone and they really ha-
ven’t paid for what they did TTT and I think a
person suffers more if they have to stay in
prison.’’  She explained further, ‘‘I could sit
up here and say well maybe I’ll consider it,
you know, but I wouldn’t be really telling the
truth.’’

¶ 54 L.W.’s responses to defense counsel’s
subsequent questioning are best described as
confusing.  When asked by defense counsel if
it made a difference to L.W. that she would
never be told that she had to assess the
death penalty, L.W.’s somewhat rambling re-
sponse came down to she didn’t want some-
one in the jury room ‘‘harassing’’ her on what
they thought she should do and she agreed
that it could get ‘‘difficult or very angry’’ in
deliberations if everyone else wanted the
death penalty.

¶ 55 In an attempt to refocus on the perti-
nent issue, the court again asked L.W. if she
could consider all three punishments.  She
replied, ‘‘I guess I could go through trial, I’ll
listen, you know, and I can consider every-
thing.  I’m just thinking.  And then I’ll have
my opinion.  But I wouldn’t want nobody
trying to—I really—I don’t.’’  When asked
by the court for a definitive answer, she
replied, ‘‘[y]eah.  Yes or no.  Yes or no.’’  In
a further attempt to clear up the situation,
the court asked again if she could consider all
three punishment options, L.W. replied, ‘‘I
guess I can say I can consider it.  I’m just
really thinking now.  I guess a person should
always have an open mind on anything.’’

¶ 56 Before leaving chambers, the court
allowed both sides additional questions.
When asked by defense counsel whether she
could envision a set of circumstances where
she could assess the death penalty, L.W.
replied, ‘‘I have never thought of it the way
some of the terms that ya’ll—let me see.
I’m kind of considering it thinking I have to
change my, a different way of thinking the
way I’m thinking.  I would have to think
that, like they took a life then they life should
be taken, but I haven’t always thought about
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that, you know, that way.’’  Defense counsel
then indicated she had no further questions.

¶ 57 In a brief follow-up by the prosecutor
and the court, L.W. stated unequivocally that
she could not consider the death penalty or
vote for it under any set of circumstances,
adding ‘‘I’ll just say it like this, it’s religion.
And maybe I could do this if they ever take
that death penalty out.  I’ll leave it at that.
I couldn’t do it.  I couldn’t do it, I’ll just say
it like that.’’  The trial court then excused
L.W. for cause over defense counsel’s objec-
tion.

¶ 58 During an argument on the for-cause
challenge, defense counsel argued that the
juror had gone back and forth, that it would
be hard for her, but she did say she was
willing to consider all three punishments.
The trial court responded that he ‘‘didn’t
hear that part.’’  The trial court commented,
‘‘[a]nd we have gone all the way around the
mulberry bush on her.  She started out how
she ended up and she’s kind of waffled in
between.  I’m going to excuse her for cause.
I just think that her—She doesn’t leave a lot
of ambiguity in her statement that she can-
not do that and I don’t know whether it’s
religious or moral but she just says that she
cannot do that.’’

[10–12] ¶ 59 ‘‘A juror’s bias need not be
proved with ‘unmistakable clarity’;  neither
must the juror express an intention to vote
against the death penalty ‘automatically.’ ’’
Williams v. State, 2001 OK CR 9, ¶ 10, 22
P.3d 702, 709–710.  Determination of a ju-
ror’s bias often cannot be reduced to a ques-
tion and answer session.  Id. ‘‘Despite the
lack of clarity in the written record, there are
situations where the trial judge is left with
the definite impression that a prospective
juror would be unable to faithfully and im-
partially apply the law.’’  Id. This is just such
a case.

¶ 60 L.W. is an example of a prospective
juror who entered voir dire with a particular
belief.  Through questioning she learned
there was another way of looking at the
issues.  However, after going through the
voir dire process, she determined her initial
belief was firm.  Any ambiguity stemming
from her unfocused responses during ques-
tioning by defense counsel was undermined

by her focused and unequivocal statements at
the beginning and end of her voir dire that
she could not consider or impose the death
penalty under any circumstances.  Both par-
ties and the court thoroughly questioned
L.W. Defense counsel was not denied the
opportunity for additional questioning.  The
trial court did not abuse its discretion in
excusing L.W. for cause.

[13] ¶ 61 Prospective Juror P.H. was an
18 year old college student.  He was very
firm during his initial questioning that he
could not impose the death penalty under
any circumstances.  He said he had held
these view since his teenage years;  he ‘‘went
into high school being anti-death penalty.’’
On his juror questionnaire, P.H. said he
could consider the death penalty, however he
informed the prosecutor that was merely ‘‘lip
service’’ and ‘‘I don’t believe honestly, the
more I think about it, that I could do that.  I
don’t think I could.’’  When asked if there
were any set of circumstances where he
could impose the death sentence, he replied,
‘‘[n]o.’’  When asked whether he could vote
for the death penalty even if the law and
evidence allowed it, he replied, ‘‘[n]o.’’

¶ 62 Under questioning by defense counsel,
P.H. agreed that he would do his best to
follow the law and if instructed, he would set
aside his personal view and follow the law.
When told that if he remained on the jury he
would be instructed to consider the three
possible punishments and make a decision
based on the law, P.H. replied that he ‘‘would
be deeply conflicted and troubled’’ but he
was ‘‘literally capable of it.’’  However, when
asked if he could actually impose the death
penalty if he thought the facts and circum-
stances warranted it, P.H. said, ‘‘I don’t hon-
estly think that I could find myself, find it
within myself to impose it.’’  P.H. said he
could not envision a set of circumstances or
level of crime where he would consider im-
posing the death penalty.  In an attempt to
clear up any confusion, the court asked P.H.
whether he was saying if the law says you
have to consider the three punishments and
if the facts and circumstances warranted you
would have to consider the death penalty and
if the facts warrant it, issue a verdict of

APPENDIX E



109Okl.DAVIS v. STATE
Cite as 268 P.3d 86 (Okla.Crim.App. 2011)

imposing the death penalty?’’  P.H. replied,
‘‘I don’t believe that that I could give fair
consideration to that, no.  I would follow the
instructions, but I don’t believe I could hon-
estly give it—.’’  The court then advised P.H.
that the law requires him to consider all
three punishment options and if the evidence
and law warrant it, the death penalty would
be imposed.  P.H. said, ‘‘Then no, I could not
follow procedure in that case I don’t think.  I
could not.’’

¶ 63 Defense counsel objected to the excu-
sal of P.H. for cause.  The court said it heard
the prospective juror ‘‘waffling’’ but when he
was asked by the court if he could impose the
death penalty, he said ‘‘[n]o.’’  The court
offered defense counsel a chance to rehabili-
tate the juror, but counsel admitted that they
had asked him a lot of questions and she
didn’t know if he was going to be ‘‘any clear-
er about it.’’  When asked again if she want-
ed to ask any more questions, defense coun-
sel told the judge she could not think of any
but she still objected to the juror being
stricken.  The judge overruled the objection
and excused the juror for cause.

¶ 64 P.H. was firm in his statements that
he could not impose the death penalty.  Any
ambiguity in his statements was resolved
with additional questioning which made it
clear he was irrevocably committed to vote
against the death penalty, regardless of what
the evidence and law warranted.  Further,
both parties were allowed sufficient question-
ing to determine the juror’s ability to be fair
and impartial.  Defense counsel in fact ad-
mitted she had no further questions for P.H.
The record does not support Appellant’s
claim that defense counsel’s inquiry was un-
fairly restricted or that the court did not
have an adequate record upon which to de-
termine the juror’s qualifications.  Further,
contrary to Appellant’s claim on appeal,
there were no objections raised to the prose-
cutor’s voir dire questioning on the basis that
it was too aggressive, intimidating or other-
wise improper.  We find the record supports
the court’s excusal of P.H. for cause.  This
proposition of error is denied.

[14] ¶ 65 In his fourth proposition of er-
ror, Appellant contends that Prospective Ju-
ror D.R. was improperly removed for cause

for being a convicted felon.  Appellant ar-
gues that the systematic exclusion of convict-
ed felons from juries violates Oklahoma law
as the law allows restoration of one’s civil
rights upon the expiration of the time period
set forth in the judgment and sentence.  Ap-
pellant argues that systematically excluding
anyone with a felony conviction from serving
on a jury denied Appellant his right to a fair
cross section of society because the number
of black males who have been to the peniten-
tiary is grossly disproportionate to the num-
ber of white males who have been in the
penitentiary.

¶ 66 During a lengthy voir dire, D.R. ad-
mitted that twenty years previously he had
been charged with a felony and the case had
been disposed of.  On the basis of this re-
sponse, and as he had denied having a felony
conviction on his juror questionnaire, the
prosecutor requested voir dire continue in
chambers.

¶ 67 D.R. admitted in chambers that he
was a convicted felon.  He explained that he
did not say so on his questionnaire because
he was hoping he would not make it so far in
the process, he did not want to tell anyone
about his prior convictions, and he was trying
to get out of jury duty.  When asked by the
prosecutor if he had done anything to have
his civil rights restored after being convicted,
D.R. said he had been trying but there were
‘‘so many different other people that done
stuff and been in jail under my name.’’
When asked how many times he had been
charged with a crime, D.R. replied, ‘‘a few
TTT I think three’’.  When asked if he re-
membered what the charges were for, he
replied, that one was for unauthorized use of
a vehicle and another was for possession of
paraphernalia, which was pending at the time
and he was to report to court that day.  D.R.
thought the third charge had been for public
drunk.  When asked about a 1983 arrest for
concealing stolen property and grand larce-
ny, D.R. said, ‘‘I got out of it.’’

¶ 68 Under questioning by defense counsel,
he admitted he had two convictions, running
concurrent.  He said he was on probation
and didn’t report so he was sent to the
penitentiary.  When asked by defense coun-
sel if he had done anything to restore his
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civil rights or expunge his case, he replied,
‘‘[n]othing.’’  Although defense counsel
agreed that a convicted felon could not serve
on a jury, an objection to the removal was
raised based on constitutional grounds that
Appellant would be denied a fair cross sec-
tion of the population sitting on his jury,
specifically, black males.  Over defense coun-
sel’s objection, the court excused D.R. for
cause because he was a convicted felon.

¶ 69 We review Appellant’s challenge un-
der state law grounds for plain error only in
light of his objection.  See Wackerly v. State,
2000 OK CR 15, ¶ 9, 12 P.3d 1, 8. Under
Oklahoma law, convicted felons are subject to
a challenge for cause.  Title 22 O.S.2001,
§ 658 provides that ‘‘[g]eneral causes of chal-
lenges are:  1. A conviction for felony.’’  Ad-
ditionally, 38 O.S.2001, § 28(B)(6) provides:

C. Persons who are not qualified to serve
as jurors are:
5. Persons who have been convicted of
any felony or who have served a term of
imprisonment in any penitentiary, state or
federal, for the commission of a felony;
provided, any such citizen convicted, who
has been fully restored to his or her civil
rights, shall be eligible to serve as a juror;

¶ 70 In Jackson v. State, 1998 OK CR 39,
964 P.2d 875 (per curiam ) this Court heard
an argument similar to the one in the present
case.4  In that case the prospective juror
admitted to having a prior felony conviction
and that the sentence had expired.  Id., 1998
OK CR 39, ¶ 14, 964 P.2d at 884.  The trial
court excused the prospective juror based on
his felony conviction.  On appeal, the appel-
lant argued that because the prospective ju-
ror had completed his sentence, his civil
rights were restored and he was eligible to
serve on the jury.  Id., 1998 OK CR 39, ¶ 15,
964 P.2d at 884.  This Court said the clear
intent of 38 O.S. § 28(B)(6) was ‘‘to exclude
those who have either been convicted of any
felony or have served a term of imprison-
ment in any penitentiary for the commission

of a felony unless that person has been fully
restored to his or her civil rights TTT’’ Id.
The Court found it unnecessary to discuss
the issue of whether a person’s civil rights,
including the right to serve on a jury, are
restored upon the termination of a sentence
as 22 O.S. § 658, provides that a person who
has been convicted of a felony is subject to
being excused for cause, with no mention of
the status of his civil rights. 1998 OK CR 39,
¶ 17, 964 P.2d at 884.  As the decision to
excuse a prospective juror for cause rests
within the sound discretion of the trial judge,
this Court found no abuse of the trial court’s
discretion.  Id.

¶ 71 As Jackson makes clear, convicted
felons are subject to being excused for cause
in a criminal case regardless of whether that
person has had his civil rights restored.  Ap-
pellant’s reliance on 21 O.S.2001, § 65 which
states that ‘‘[a] sentence of imprisonment
under the Department of Corrections sus-
pends all the civil rights of the person so
sentenced, TTT during the term of such im-
prisonment’’ was rejected in Jackson.  Ap-
pellant’s reliance on the general provisions of
Title 38 dealing with jury service in civil
cases is also not persuasive.  The fact that
certain civil rights are restored upon termi-
nation of a felony sentence does not mean
that all civil rights are restored under state
law.  See Mehdipour v. Wise, 2003 OK 3, ¶ 9,
65 P.3d 271, 272 (discussing the meaning of
the term ‘‘civil rights’’ as it relates to convict-
ed felons).  As Appellant has failed to show
that Jackson is not the prevailing law, we
find the trial court did not abuse its discre-
tion in removing D.R. for cause.5

[15–18] ¶ 72 As for Appellant’s federal
constitutional challenge, the United States
Constitution requires that grand jurors and
the venire of petit jurors be chosen from a
fair cross-section of the community. Taylor v.
Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 527, 95 S.Ct. 692,
696, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975).  However, defen-
dants are not entitled to a jury of any partic-

4. The separate writings to Jackson indicate this
issue was not the cause of the per curiam vote.

5. D.R. stated that he had served on a civil jury
three to four years previously.  This in itself does
not show the trial court in this case abused its
discretion in removing the prospective juror for

cause.  Without knowing more about Appellant’s
prior jury service, we only note that under the
Criminal Procedure Code in Title 22, D.R.’s sta-
tus as a convicted felon made him subject to a
challenge for cause in a criminal trial.
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ular composition, nor is there any require-
ment juries reflect the various distinctive
groups in the population.  State ex rel. Macy
v. Bragg, 2000 OK CR 21, ¶ 8, 13 P.3d 503,
506.  To establish a prima facie case of a
violation of the fair cross-section require-
ment, Appellant ‘‘must show (1) that the
group alleged to be excluded is a ‘distinctive’
group in the community;  (2) that the repre-
sentation of this group in venires from which
juries are selected is not fair and reasonable
in relation to the number of such persons in
the community;  and (3) that this underrepre-
sentation is due to systematic exclusion of
the group in the jury selection process.’’
Hooker v. State, 1994 OK CR 75, ¶ 21, 887
P.2d 1351, 1358–59 (quoting Duren v. Mis-
souri, 439 U.S. 357, 364, 99 S.Ct. 664, 668, 58
L.Ed.2d 579 (1979)).

¶ 73 At trial, defense counsel argued that
‘‘it’s well known and accepted that there’s a
disproportionate number of African–Ameri-
can men who have been to the penitentiary
disproportionate to their numbers in the pop-
ulation, that denies Mr. Davis a sufficient
cross section, member of his own race sitting
on his jury.’’  However, defense counsel of-
fered no evidence to support the argument.
Now on appeal, Appellant offers for the first
time statistics from two internet based publi-
cations by Human Rights Watch, an organi-
zation dedicated to the abolition of capital
punishment.  This information was not evi-
dence in the trial and is insufficient to show
that the venire panel assembled in Appel-
lant’s trial was not drawn from a fair cross-
section of the community.  Therefore, this
claim of error is denied.

FIRST STAGE ISSUES

[19, 20] ¶ 74 In his eighth proposition of
error, Appellant challenges the sufficiency of
the evidence supporting his convictions for
first degree murder and shooting with intent
to kill.  We review sufficiency of the evidence
claims in the light most favorable to the
prosecution to determine whether any ration-
al trier of fact could have found the essential
elements of the crime beyond a reasonable
doubt.  Spuehler v. State, 1985 OK CR 132,
¶ 7, 709 P.2d 202, 203–04 (citing Jackson v.
Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S.Ct. 2781,

2787, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, 571 (1979)).  This
Court will accept all reasonable inferences
and credibility choices that tend to support
the verdict.  Bland v. State, 2000 OK CR 11,
¶ 24, 4 P.3d 702, 713.

¶ 75 Appellant asserts the State’s evidence
was insufficient to prove that he shot Marcus
Smith with malice aforethought and that he
shot Tia Green and Chinetta Hooks with the
intent to kill them.  Appellant argues the
evidence showed only that he was acting ‘‘in
a heat of passion at the time of the shooting.’’

[21, 22] ¶ 76 ‘‘A person commits murder
in the first degree when that person unlaw-
fully and with malice aforethought causes the
death of another human being.’’  21 O.S.2001,
§ 701.7(A).  ‘‘Malice is that deliberate inten-
tion unlawfully to take away the life of a
human being, which is manifested by exter-
nal circumstances capable of proof.’’  Id. ‘‘A
design to effect death [i.e., premeditation] is
inferred from the fact of killing, unless the
circumstances raise a reasonable doubt
whether such design existed.’’  21 O.S.2001,
§ 702.  See also Bland, 2000 OK CR 11, ¶ 26,
4 P.3d at 713.  Premeditation sufficient to
constitute murder may be formed in an in-
stant or it may be formed instantaneously as
the killing is being committed.  Id. Malice
aforethought may be proved by circumstan-
tial evidence.  Id.

[23, 24] ¶ 77 By contrast, a homicide is
manslaughter in the first degree when
‘‘perpetrated without a design to effect death,
and in a heat of passion, but in a cruel and
unusual manner, or by means of a dangerous
weapon TTT’’ 21 O.S.2001, § 711(2).  The ele-
ments of heat of passion are:  1) adequate
provocation;  2) a passion or emotion such as
fear, terror, anger, rage or resentment;  3)
the homicide occurred while the passion still
existed and before a reasonable opportunity
for the passion to cool;  and 4) a causal
connection between the provocation, passion
and homicide.  Allen v. State, 1991 OK CR
35, ¶ 10, 821 P.2d 371, 374.  The heat of
passion must render the mind incapable of
forming a design to effect death before the
defense of manslaughter is established.  Id.

[25] ¶ 78 The evidence in this case
showed that Appellant and Tia Green had a

APPENDIX E



112 Okl. 268 PACIFIC REPORTER, 3d SERIES

turbulent relationship that involved multiple
breakups, physical abuse, and other violence.
Appellant had left numerous threatening
messages for Green as late as December
2003.  On December 30, 2003, Green was
served with a lawsuit filed by Appellant over
unpaid rent from an apartment the two had
shared.  Green was not bothered by the law-
suit as she had no intentions of paying Appel-
lant any money.  In his statement to police,
Appellant discussed at length his feelings for
Green and the many ways he believed she
had ‘‘wronged’’ him, despite his love for her.
Appellant’s statements show he was obsessed
both with Green’s treatment of him and with
making amends for these perceived wrongs.

¶ 79 Appellant claimed Green had called
him and told him to meet her at Hooks’
apartment that evening.  This was disputed
by both Green and Hooks who testified they
were not expecting Appellant at Hooks’
apartment that evening.  Regardless of
whether or not he was expected, Appellant
arrived at the apartment armed.  He later
told police he had eight rounds in the clip of
a .32 semi-automatic weapon plus another
round chambered, making a total of nine
rounds.  Appellant also had another fully
loaded clip in his pocket.  He had obtained
the gun the day before the shootings.  A few
hours before the shootings, he had gone to
his uncle’s house for help in removing a
bullet which had jammed inside the gun.
Appellant’s uncle removed the jammed bul-
let.

¶ 80 Appellant told police his purpose in
going to the apartment that night was ‘‘to go
over there and hopefully she was gonna do
the right thing’’ regarding the money Green
allegedly owed him and which was the sub-
ject of the lawsuit.  However, Green had told
him as recently as the night before the shoot-
ings that she did not have the money to pay
him.

¶ 81 When he arrived at Hooks’ apartment,
Appellant was dressed all in black, including
a black hoodie pulled over his head.  He
covered the peephole in the door so those
inside the apartment could not see out.  He
forced his way into the apartment uninvited,
and shut and locked the door behind him.
Appellant was the only person in the room

with a weapon.  Appellant aimed the gun at
the decedent’s head the first time then
dropped the gun to his side.  He would raise
the gun up two more times before firing.  He
shot the decedent for doing nothing more
than keeping his hands raised and asking,
‘‘what’s going on’’ and ‘‘why are you doing
this, man?’’  Before firing, Appellant told
Green, ‘‘you’ve hurt me for the last time.’’
Despite pleas from Green and Hooks not to
shoot, and that there were children in the
apartment, Appellant raised the gun from his
side and fired at all three victims.  Each
victim was struck multiple times.  The dece-
dent was struck in the head and twice in the
back.  Hooks was shot as she ran away from
Appellant and at least once as she lay on the
kitchen floor.  Appellant told police he in-
tended to hit Hooks because she was running
away from him and then he ‘‘went to the
kitchen, and I shot one more time at her.’’
Appellant chased the wounded Green to the
bathroom where he kicked and pounded on
the locked door.  Appellant later admitted
that sometime after the shootings, he called
Green and said ‘‘this wasn’t over.’’

¶ 82 Appellant asserts he was threatened
by Smith and his aggressive behavior in
lunging towards him.  However, Appellant
admitted to police that he shot the decedent
as the decedent backed away from him.
Further, Green and Hooks testified that the
decedent did not act aggressively towards
Appellant or lunge at him;  he merely stood
with his hands up and backed away from
Appellant.  Investigating officers testified
that the decedent’s head wound was consis-
tent not only with a person shot in the pro-
cess of trying to tackle another, but also with
a person ducking or kneeling down to avoid
being shot.

[26, 27] ¶ 83 Appellant argues that be-
cause he loved Tia Green he did not intend to
kill her or her sister.  The State’s evidence
suggests otherwise.  Where there is conflict
in the testimony, this Court will not disturb
the verdict on appeal if there is competent
evidence to support the jury’s finding.
Bland, 2000 OK CR 11, ¶ 29, 4 P.3d at 714.
The credibility of witnesses and the weight
and consideration to be given to their testi-
mony are within the exclusive province of the
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trier of facts and the trier of facts may
believe the evidence of a single witness on a
question and disbelieve several others testi-
fying to the contrary.  Id.

¶ 84 Appellant’s attempts to show he did
not have the intent to kill fell short as the
jury apparently gave greater weight to the
State’s evidence than Appellant’s self-sup-
porting statements.  More than anything
else, the jury’s verdict is supported by the
undisputed evidence that Appellant arrived
at the apartment heavily armed and he not
only shot each victim multiple times, but he
continued to shoot as the victims either at-
tempted to get away or lay on the ground.
This conduct leads to the unmistakable con-
clusion that Appellant shot at the victims
fully intending to kill each one.  Having re-
viewed the evidence in the light most favor-
able to the State, we find sufficient evidence
was presented to prove that Appellant acted
with malice aforethought when he killed the
decedent and that he shot Green and Hooks
with the intent of killing them.  See Mar-
quez–Burrola v. State, 2007 OK CR 14, ¶ 23,
157 P.3d 749, 758;  Allen, 1991 OK CR 35,
¶ 12, 821 P.2d at 374.  This proposition of
error is denied.

¶ 85 In his ninth proposition of error, Ap-
pellant challenges the admission of photo-
graphs depicting the victims’ injuries as well
as certain crime scenes.  Appellant argues
the photographs were irrelevant, unfairly
prejudicial and cumulative to other photo-
graphs and exhibits.

[28–30] ¶ 86 The admissibility of photo-
graphs is a matter within the trial court’s
discretion and absent an abuse of that discre-
tion;  this Court will not reverse the trial
court’s ruling.  Warner v. State, 2006 OK CR
40, ¶ 167, 144 P.3d 838, 887.  Photographs
are admissible if their content is relevant and
their probative value is not substantially out-
weighed by their prejudicial effect.  Id. The
probative value of photographs of murder
victims can be manifested in numerous ways,
including showing the nature, extent and lo-
cation of wounds, establishing the corpus de-
licti, depicting the crime scene, and corrobo-
rating the medical examiner’s testimony.  Id.

[31] ¶ 87 State’s Exhibits 66, 68, 76, 78–
81, 83–85 are photographs of the crime scene,
including views of the decedent’s body from
various points in the apartment.  One photo-
graph is a close up view of the decedent’s
body showing a shell casing discovered un-
derneath his chin.  State’s Exhibits 181–184
are close up views of the decedent’s gunshot
wounds.  These exhibits were specifically ad-
mitted without objection by the defense.  We
therefore review their admission only for
plain error.  Young v. State, 2000 OK CR 17,
¶ 47, 12 P.3d 20, 37.

¶ 88 The photographs were relevant in de-
picting the area of the apartment where the
shootings occurred, the absence of any weap-
ons in the apartment, and to rebut Appel-
lant’s claim that the shooting victims were
smoking marijuana when he arrived at the
apartment.  The photographs showing the
decedent’s body face down on the floor and
his various gunshot wounds were relevant to
aid the jury in understanding testimony from
police officers and the medical examiner con-
cerning the position of the body when shot,
and the nature and extent of the gunshot
wounds.

[32, 33] ¶ 89 Appellant argues the photo-
graphs were unduly prejudicial as it was
uncontested that he shot the victims, that the
decedent died from his wounds, and because
the decedent’s wounds were fully explained
by the testimony and diagrams of the medi-
cal examiner.  Despite these claims, the
State is charged with establishing the corpus
delicti of the crime.  The State is entitled to
corroborate and illustrate the testimony of
its witnesses about what the crime scene
looked like and the manner of death.  Pavatt
v. State, 2007 OK CR 19, ¶ 55, 159 P.3d 272,
290.  Further, the State is not required to
downplay the violence involved or its reper-
cussions.  Warner, 2006 OK CR 40, ¶ 168,
144 P.3d at 887.

¶ 90 These photographs were relevant in
establishing the corpus delicti and to dis-
prove the defense of self-defense.  While cer-
tain images in this group of photographs are
cumulative to other photographs or exhibits,
Appellant has failed to meet his burden of
showing the repetition was needless or in-
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flammatory.  Id. We find no plain error in
the admission of these photographs.

[34] ¶ 91 Appellant next challenges the
admission of State’s Exhibits 167–170, 173,
176, 177, and 179, photographs of the injuries
suffered by Tia Green and Chinetta Hooks.
Admission of these photographs was met
with contemporaneous objections by the de-
fense.

¶ 92 As these women were removed from
the crime scene and taken to the hospital as
soon as possible after emergency personnel
arrived on the crime scene, the photographs
of their wounds were taken in the hospital.
As before, Appellant argues the photographs
were unnecessary as the medical examiner’s
testimony and diagrams were sufficient to
prove the women’s wounds.  However, the
record reflects that the medical examiner did
not address the gunshot wounds suffered by
the women.  The medical examiner’s testimo-
ny was limited to her examination of the
decedent’s body during the autopsy. The
medical examiner did not examine the surviv-
ing victims of the shootings.  Rather, the
photographs in question were introduced
during the testimony of Green and Hooks
and corroborated their descriptions of the
injuries they suffered at the hands of Appel-
lant. Each of the photographs depicts a dif-
ferent wound and helped the jury visualize
the location and extent of the injuries.  Ap-
pellant has failed to meet his burden of show-
ing any repetition was needless or inflamma-
tory.

¶ 93 In reviewing the prejudicial impact of
the photographs this Court has said, ‘‘where
the probative value of photographs or slides
is outweighed by their prejudicial impact on
the jury that is, the evidence tends to elicit
an emotional rather than rational judgment
by the jury then they should not be admit-
ted into evidence.’’  Warner, 2006 OK CR
40, ¶ 170, 144 P.3d at 887.  Applying that
standard to this case, we find the photo-
graphs were not introduced solely to elicit
an emotional response.  The photographs
were probative and that probative value was
not outweighed by any prejudicial impact.
Appellant has failed to meet his burden of
prejudice, and we find the trial court did not
abuse its discretion in admitting the photo-

graphs.  See Pavatt, 2007 OK CR 19, ¶¶ 54–
55, 159 P.3d at 290.  This proposition of
error is denied.

FIRST STAGE JURY INSTRUCTIONS

[35–38] ¶ 94 In his fifth proposition of
error, Appellant challenges the trial court’s
refusal to give his requested instructions on
his theory of defense—self-defense.  A theo-
ry of defense instruction must embrace a
defense recognized in law, which either exon-
erates guilt or reduces the charge to a lesser
included offense.  Ball v. State, 2007 OK CR
42, ¶ 29, 173 P.3d 81, 89.  When prima facie
evidence meeting the legal criteria for the
defense is presented, an instruction should
be given.  Id. Prima facie evidence is evi-
dence ‘‘which in the judgment of the law, is
sufficient to establish a given fact, or the
group or chain of facts constituting the de-
fendant’s claim or defense, and which if not
rebutted or contradicted, will remain suffi-
cient to sustain a judgment in favor of the
issue which it supports.’’  Id., 2007 OK CR
42, ¶ 29, 173 P.3d at 90, n. 4. See also Bland
v. State, 2000 OK CR 11, ¶ 56, 4 P.3d 702,
719–20.  A theory of defense instruction is
properly refused if there is insufficient evi-
dence to support it.  Ball, 2007 OK CR 42,
¶ 29, 173 P.3d at 89.

[39–41] ¶ 95 Self-defense is an affirma-
tive defense which admits the elements of the
charge, but offers a legal justification for
conduct which would otherwise be criminal.
21 O.S.2001, § 733(2).  See also McHam v.
State, 2005 OK CR 28, ¶ 10, 126 P.3d 662,
667;  Camron v. State, 1992 OK CR 17, ¶ 13,
829 P.2d 47, 56;  West v. State, 1990 OK CR
61, ¶ 6, 798 P.2d 1083, 1085.  ‘‘Under Okla-
homa law, ‘[s]elf-defense is a defense al-
though the danger to life or personal security
may not have been real, if a reasonable per-
son, in the circumstances and from the view-
point of the defendant, would reasonably
have believed that he/she was in imminent
danger of death or great bodily harm.’ ’’ Per-
ryman v. State, 1999 OK CR 39, ¶ 9, 990 P.2d
900, 903 (quoting OUJI–CR (2d) 8–46).  ‘‘The
bare belief that one is about to suffer death
or great personal injury will not, in itself,
justify taking the life of [one’s] adversary.
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There must exist reasonable grounds for
such belief at the time of the killing.’’  Id.,
1999 OK CR 39, ¶ 9, 990 P.2d at 904 (empha-
sis in original).  The right of self-defense
cannot be invoked by an aggressor or by one
who voluntarily enters into a situation armed
with a deadly weapon.  Orr v. State, 1988 OK
CR 265, ¶ 7, 764 P.2d 1362, 1364.  See also
Le v. State, 1997 OK CR 55, ¶ 23, 947 P.2d
535, 547;  Stiles v. State, 1992 OK CR 23,
¶ 26, 829 P.2d 984, 991;  Ruth v. State, 1978
OK CR 79, ¶ 8, 581 P.2d 919, 922.

[42] ¶ 96 Arguably, the only evidence
which could support Appellant’s claim of self-
defense was his statement that the decedent
lunged at him and he thought the decedent
might be trying to grab the gun.  However,
by Appellant’s own statement, he was the
aggressor in the situation, arriving at the
apartment visibly armed.  Taking Appel-
lant’s statement in the best light possible, he
shot the unarmed decedent merely because
he moved toward him and refused to back
away.  Based upon Appellant’s statement, no
rational jury would find Appellant had a rea-
sonable belief he was in imminent danger of
great bodily harm.

¶ 97 Further, when compared with the rest
of the evidence, Appellant’s statement does
not support his claimed self-defense.  Eizem-
ber v. State, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 111, 164 P.3d
208, 236 (a defendant’s statements concern-
ing the homicide are sufficient to warrant a
jury instruction only if those statements are
supported by other evidence presented at
trial).  It was obvious to all in the apartment,
that Appellant was the only one armed.  Ms.
Green and Ms. Hooks testified that Appellant
pointed the gun at all three of them when he
first entered the apartment, then pointed it
directly at the decedent and proceeded to
lower and raise it three times before shooting
the decedent.

¶ 98 Further, this was not the first time
Appellant had been the aggressor in situa-
tions involving Green.  While the evidence
showed Green had attacked Appellant on
previous occasions, the evidence also showed

that Green had filed for a temporary Victim
Protection Order alleging Appellant re-
peatedly threatened and stalked her and that
he had choked her and pulled a knife on her.
Appellant’s own statements showed he was
obsessed with making amends for perceived
wrongs committed by Green against him.
This evidence, combined with Appellant ar-
riving at the apartment heavily armed, shows
he was prepared for a violent confrontation.

¶ 99 When the record reveals no evidence
of self-defense, the trial court is not bound to
instruct on that defense.  Smallwood v.
State, 1995 OK CR 60, ¶ 46, 907 P.2d 217,
230.  As the evidence in this case did not
support Appellant’s statements concerning
his claim of self-defense or otherwise support
a claim of self-defense, the trial court did not
abuse its discretion in refusing to give the
requested jury instruction.  This proposition
of error is denied.

[43] ¶ 100 In his sixth proposition of er-
ror, Appellant contends the trial court erred
in refusing to give his requested instruction
on the lesser included offense of manslaugh-
ter by resisting criminal attempt.  Appellant
argues the instruction was warranted based
upon evidence that he fired the gun in resist-
ing the attempt of the deceased to commit
assault and battery.

[44–47] ¶ 101 Whether any particular of-
fense is a lesser included offense depends
upon which lesser included offense test or
approach is utilized and whether the trial
evidence warrants the instruction.  Shrum v.
State, 1999 OK CR 41, ¶ 7, 991 P.2d 1032,
1035.  ‘‘This two part analysis first requires
courts to make a ‘legal determination about
whether a crime constitutes [a lesser includ-
ed offense] of the charged crime or whether
it is legally possible for the charged crime to
include [a lesser included offense].’ ’’  Id. To
determine what constitutes a lesser included
offense of any charged crime, this Court
looks not only at the elements but also to the
crimes the trial evidence tends to prove.  Id.
1999 OK CR 41, ¶¶ 9–10, 991 P.2d at 1035.6

6. While my colleagues tend to disagree, I find
Shrum states that determining whether instruc-
tions on a lesser included offense should be given
in any particular case is a two step process.

However, I find that two step process is more
appropriately set forth in Schmuck v. United
States, 489 U.S. 705, 716–717, 109 S.Ct. 1443,
1451, 103 L.Ed.2d 734 (1989).  In Schmuck, the
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Prima facie evidence of the lesser included
offense must be presented at trial in order to
warrant giving the lesser included instruc-
tion.  Ball, 2007 OK CR 42, ¶ 32, 173 P.3d at
90.  Prima facie evidence of a lesser includ-
ed offense is that evidence which would allow
a jury rationally to find the accused guilty of
the lesser offense and acquit him of the
greater.  Eizember, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 111,
164 P.3d at 236 citing Hogan v. Gibson, 197
F.3d 1297, 1305 (10th Cir.1999).  See also
Simpson v. State, 2010 OK CR 6, ¶ 17, 230
P.3d 888, 897 (a lesser offense instruction
should not be given unless the evidence
would support a conviction for the lesser
offense).

¶ 102 Manslaughter by resisting criminal
attempt is committed when a homicide is
‘‘perpetrated unnecessarily either while re-
sisting an attempt by the person killed to
commit a crime, or after such attempt shall
have failed.’’  21 O.S.2001, § 711(3).  The
term ‘‘unnecessarily’’ as used in the statute is
equivalent to ‘‘unlawfully’’ or ‘‘without legal
justification.’’  See Committee Comments to
OUJI–CR (2d) 4–102.  ‘‘An ‘unnecessary’
killing constituting first-degree manslaughter
would thus be found under circumstances
where the defendant did not initiate the diffi-
culty, yet honestly but unreasonably believed
either that he is in danger of injury, or that

slaying is the only way to prevent injury.’’
Id.

¶ 103 Once again, the only evidence even
arguably supporting Appellant’s claim was
his statement that the decedent lunged at
him.  Appellant said he was standing at the
door to the apartment when the decedent
‘‘came towards me and I showed them the
gun.’’  Appellant explained that the decedent
then ‘‘jumped back’’ and asked what was
going on.  Appellant said he told the dece-
dent to ‘‘get back’’ and pointed the gun at the
decedent’s chest.  Appellant said the dece-
dent kept asking what was going on?  Appel-
lant described the decedent as ‘‘acting like he
don’t wanna back up, like he was trying to be
superman or something.’’  Appellant said the
decedent then ‘‘jumped towards me, I get to
the door and close, so he thought he could
grab it TTT So when he did that, I pulled the
trigger.’’  Appellant said he ‘‘knew it’s over
for meTTT so I just shot this dudeTTTT They
started running, I just kept on shooting.’’
Appellant said he didn’t know if the decedent
was ‘‘really trying to hurt me or was he just
trying to stop me from doing something’’ or
he was trying to grab the gun.

¶ 104 This statement does not support a
finding that the unarmed decedent was at-
tempting to commit an assault and battery

United States Supreme Court upheld convictions
for twelve counts of mail fraud.  In so doing, the
Court found that under Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 31(c) a jury instruction on the then
misdemeanor offense of tampering with an
odometer was not warranted.  The Court reject-
ed the ‘‘inherent relationship’’ test for determin-
ing what constitutes a lesser included offense for
purposes of jury instructions in favor of the ‘‘ele-
ments test’’.  489 U.S. at 716, 109 S.Ct. at 1450.
Federal Rule 31(c) provides in relevant part:
‘‘The defendant may be found guilty of an offense
necessarily included in the offense charged.’’
489 U.S. at 715, 109 S.Ct. at 1450.  As the
language of Federal Rule 31(c) is similar to the
language used in 22 O.S.2001, § 916 (‘‘[t]he jury
may find the defendant guilty of any offense, the
commission of which is necessarily included in
that with which he is charged, or of an attempt
to commit the offense’’), I find the elements test
utilized in Schmuck should be adopted as the
first step of the Shrum two step analysis.

This is consistent with the history of § 916 and
this Court’s traditional approach of looking first
to the statutory elements of the charged crime
and any lesser degree of that charged crime to
determine the existence of any lesser included

offenses.  See State v. Uriarite, 1991 OK CR 80,
¶ 8, 815 P.2d 193, 195;  Martin v. State, 1983 OK
CR 168, ¶¶ 10–11, 674 P.2d 37, 40;  Jennings v.
State, 1982 OK CR 42, ¶ 8, 643 P.2d 643, 645;
Porter v. State, 1980 OK CR 44, ¶ 5, 611 P.2d
278, 279–280;  Wallace v. State, 1974 OK CR 224,
¶¶ 6–7, 529 P.2d 548, 549;  Thoreson v. State, 69
Okla.Crim.App. 128, 100 P.2d 896, 901–02
(1940).  This determination is not case specific
and can only be made by looking at the statutory
elements.  Under this approach, the offenses that
comprise lesser included offenses do not change
from case to case.  The only change is whether
the evidence in each particular case is sufficient
to warrant a jury instruction.  Once the determi-
nation is made that the offense is a legally recog-
nized lesser included offense of the charged of-
fense, we move to the second step of the analysis
and look at whether prima facie evidence of the
lesser included offense has been presented.  If
sufficient evidence has been presented, a jury
instruction is warranted.  See Ball, 2007 OK CR
42, ¶ 32, 173 P.3d at 90;  Eizember, 2007 OK CR
29, ¶ 111, 164 P.3d at 236;  Bland, 2000 OK CR
11, ¶ 56, 4 P.3d at 719–720.  This two step pro-
cess is also consistent with the manner of review
adopted by 38 other states.
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upon Appellant.  Instead, it shows the dece-
dent was lawfully attempting to protect him-
self and the other unarmed people, including
children, in the apartment.  See 21 O.S.2001,
§ 643(3) (the use or attempt to use force
upon or toward another person is not unlaw-
ful when committed by the person about to
be injured provided the force or violence
used is not more than sufficient to prevent
such offense).  See also Young, 2000 OK CR
17, ¶ 60, 12 P.3d at 39 (defendant not entitled
to instruction on resisting criminal attempt
where evidence showed intended victim chose
to defend himself).

[48] ¶ 105 A defendant’s statements
concerning the homicide are sufficient to
warrant a jury instruction only if those
statements are supported by other evidence
presented at trial.  Eizember, 2007 OK CR
29, ¶ 111, 164 P.3d at 236.  See also Cipri-
ano, 2001 OK CR 25, ¶ 14, 32 P.3d at 873–
874, citing Newsted v. Gibson, 158 F.3d
1085, 1092 (10th Cir.1998) (when the only
evidence supporting the appellant’s claim to
an instruction on a lesser form of homicide
was his own self-serving statements and
those statements were contradictory and in-
consistent with the other evidence present-
ed at trial, the evidence is insufficient to
warrant the jury instruction).  Appellant’s
statement that the decedent moved toward
him was not only inconsistent with other
statements he made to police (Appellant
also admitted at one point that he shot the
decedent as the decedent backed away
from him) but with the other evidence pre-
sented at trial.  Both Green and Hooks
testified that the decedent did not act ag-
gressively or move towards Appellant but
merely stood with his hands up and backed
away from Appellant while Appellant point-
ed the gun at the decedent and lowered it
three times before firing.

¶ 106 Further, contrary to Appellant’s ar-
gument, ‘‘any conjecture’’ as the trial court
put it ‘‘about what position [the decedent]
was in when he got shot in the top of his
head’’ does not support the jury instruction.
The medical examiner testified that the gun-
shot wound to the decedent’s head was ap-
proximately three-quarters of an inch from
the top of his head.  She testified that the

bullet was fired from long range, traveled
downward from the decedent’s head and was
found at the base of the decedent’s tongue.
The wound to the top of the decedent’s head
is more consistent with him having been shot
in a defensive position rather than jumping,
lunging or moving in some other manner
toward Appellant.

¶ 107 Appellant has failed to establish a
prima facie case that he shot the decedent
while resisting a crime or attempted crime.
Therefore, the elements of manslaughter by
resisting criminal attempt have not been met.
Under the evidence presented in this case, a
rational jury would not have found Appellant
shot the decedent while resisting a crime or
attempted crime perpetrated by the dece-
dent, nor would a rational jury have acquit-
ted Appellant of first degree murder in favor
of a conviction for first degree manslaughter
by resisting criminal attempt.  Therefore,
the trial court did not abuse its discretion in
refusing to give an instruction on the lesser
included offense of manslaughter by resisting
criminal attempt.  This proposition of error
is denied.

[49] ¶ 108 In his seventh proposition of
error, Appellant argues the trial court erred
in refusing to give his requested instruction
on the lesser included offense of heat of
passion manslaughter.  Appellant contends
that he shot the decedent out of fear for his
life after the decedent lunged at him.  Appel-
lant admits that while his fear of imminent
harm or bodily injury may have been unrea-
sonable under the circumstances, it is suffi-
cient to mitigate the crime of murder to
manslaughter as an ‘‘imperfect self-defense.’’

[50, 51] ¶ 109 ‘‘A homicide may be re-
duced from murder to manslaughter where
the killing was done because the slayer be-
lieved that he was in great danger, even if he
was not warranted in such belief or where
the slayer although acting in self-defense was
not himself free from blame.’’  McHam, 2005
OK CR 28, ¶ 14, 126 P.3d at 668, quoting
Wood v. State, 1971 OK CR 232, ¶ 9, 486 P.2d
750, 752.  See also Le, 1997 OK CR 55, ¶ 21,
947 P.2d at 546–547.  Depending on the evi-
dence, a jury might conclude that the defen-
dant’s self-defense claim is ‘‘imperfect,’’ and

APPENDIX E



118 Okl. 268 PACIFIC REPORTER, 3d SERIES

while not sufficient to negate culpability, at
least sufficient to mitigate it. In such situa-
tions, instructions on heat-of-passion man-
slaughter may be warranted.  Id.

[52, 53] ¶ 110 To warrant an instruction
on first degree heat of passion manslaughter,
there must be evidence that the defendant
killed the deceased with adequate provoca-
tion, in a heat of passion, without the design
to effect death.  21 O.S.2001, § 711(2).  See
also Eizember, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 112, 164
P.3d at 236.  The ‘‘passion’’ necessary to
support a manslaughter instruction must be
so great as to ‘‘render the mind incapable of
forming a design to effect deathTTTT’’ Eizem-
ber, 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 112, 164 P.3d at 236.
The elements of heat of passion are 1) ade-
quate provocation;  2) a passion or emotion
such as fear, terror, anger, rage or resent-
ment;  3) homicide occurred while the passion
still existed and before a reasonable opportu-
nity for the passion to cool;  and 4) a causal
connection between the provocation, passion
and homicide.  Id. The question is whether,
in addition to evidence of intent, there was
evidence that Appellant killed the deceased
with adequate provocation, in a heat of pas-
sion, without the design to effect death.  Id.
Adequate provocation is measured by an ob-
jective test of reasonableness.  Bland, 2000
OK CR 11, ¶ 36, 4 P.3d at 715.

¶ 111 Appellant refers us to cases finding
that heat of passion can result from fear and
anger which precludes rational reasonable
thought.  However, in each case the victim
either attacked the defendant without provo-
cation or attacked the defendant with a dan-
gerous weapon.7  These cases do not suggest
this instruction is appropriate absent evi-
dence of adequate provocation.

¶ 112 In his statement to police, Appellant
said he was mad at Green when he went to
her apartment.  He repeatedly said he took
the gun to the apartment because he did not
trust Green based upon her previous conduct
toward him.  He said he didn’t know if she
was ‘‘setting [him] up’’ or ‘‘playing games’’ or
really wanted to work things out.  Appellant
said he did not expect a man to be at the
apartment.  Only once in his forty-nine page
statement to police did he say he was scared.
Appellant explained that he did not know
what the decedent was doing, whether he
was trying to grab for the gun, or ‘‘he was
really trying to hurt me, or was he just
trying to stop me from doing something.  I
don’t knowTTTT But in the moment of that
time, I got scared.’’

¶ 113 The unarmed decedent’s movement
toward the armed Appellant was not suffi-
cient provocation to support heat of passion
manslaughter.  See Washington v. State,
1999 OK CR 22, ¶ 13, 989 P.2d 960, 968, n. 4
(adequate provocation requires personal vio-
lence by the deceased likely to cause pain,
bloodshed or bodily harm).8  Even by Appel-
lant’s own statement, the decedent had not
verbally threatened him.  At most, the men
were arguing about what was going on, and
not engaged in a physical altercation.  Any
movement by the decedent towards Appel-
lant could reasonably be seen as an attempt
to defend and protect himself, Green, and
Hooks.  Appellant is not entitled to a heat of
passion manslaughter instruction because the
decedent attempted to defend himself and
protect others.  Id. See also Young, 2000 OK
CR 17, ¶ 60, 12 P.3d at 39.

¶ 114 Further, Appellant’s single, general
statement that he was scared during the
commission of the offense is not enough to
establish the requisite fear or terror neces-

7. Hogan v. Gibson, 197 F.3d 1297, 1309 (10th
Cir.1999) (victim attacked defendant with a
knife);  Hayes v. State, 1981 OK CR 96, ¶ 2, 633
P.2d 751, 752 (victim attacked defendant with
knife);  Farmer v. State, 1977 OK CR 215, ¶ 22,
565 P.2d 1068, 1070 (victim shot first);  Williams
v. State, 1973 OK CR 354, ¶ 8, 513 P.2d 335,
336–8 (victim attacked defendant with scissors
and threatened to cut his heart out);  Wood v.
State, 1971 OK CR 232, ¶¶ 2–4, 486 P.2d 750,
751–752, (victim and defendant involved in a
‘‘street brawl’’).

8. Under OUJI–CR (2d) 4–98, adequate provoca-
tion is defined in part as ‘‘any improper conduct
of the deceased toward the defendant(s) which
naturally or reasonably would have the effect of
arousing a sudden heat of passion within a rea-
sonable person in the position of the defen-
dant(s)’’TTTT Personal violence or aggression by
the deceased of a nature sufficiently violent to
cause or threaten to cause pain, bloodshed, or
bodily harm to the defendant may be adequate
provocation.  See OUJI–CR (2d) 4–98. (emphasis
added).
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sary to support heat of passion manslaugh-
ter.  See Jones v. State, 2006 OK CR 17,
¶ 7, 134 P.3d 150, 154 (defendant’s claim of
‘‘[b]eing ‘scared’ after being grabbed while
committing First Degree Murder does not’’
warrant instruction on First Degree Man-
slaughter).

¶ 115 After reviewing Appellant’s state-
ment to the police, by itself, and in context of
the other evidence presented at trial, a pri-
ma facie case of manslaughter was not estab-
lished as no reasonable juror could find that
Appellant acted in a heat of passion on ade-
quate provocation that rendered him incapa-
ble of forming a design to effect death.  The
evidence in this case would not permit a jury
rationally to find Appellant guilty of the less-
er offense of heat of passion manslaughter
and acquit him of first degree murder.
Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its
discretion in refusing the requested instruc-
tions.

[54] ¶ 116 Appellant also raises a federal
constitutional claim to lesser included in-
structions under Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S.
625, 633–45, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392
(1980), and Hogan v. Gibson, 197 F.3d 1297
(10th Cir.1999).  Appellant argues that with-
out the manslaughter instructions or any
lesser included instructions, the jury’s only
options were convicting him or acquitting
him of first degree murder and the trial
court’s failure to provide the jury with a
third, non-capital option violated his Eighth
and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

¶ 117 In Beck, the Supreme Court held
that a death sentence cannot constitutionally
be imposed unless the jury is permitted to
consider a verdict of guilt as to a lesser-
included non-capital offense, provided that
the evidence would support such a verdict.
Id. at 627, 100 S.Ct. 2382.  Without such an
instruction, the Court reasoned, defendants
would be subject to a heightened risk of
erroneous conviction if juries were presented
only with the stark choice either to convict a
defendant of a capital offense or set him free.
Id. at 637, 100 S.Ct. at 2389.  Accordingly,
the denial of a proper lesser-included non-
capital instruction, when warranted by the
evidence, violates due process by ‘‘dimin-

ish[ing] the reliability of the guilt determina-
tion.’’  Id. at 638, 100 S.Ct. at 2390.

¶ 118 The applicability of Beck to Okla-
homa has been met with some inconsistency.
In Le, 1997 OK CR 55, ¶ 22, 947 P.2d at 547,
this Court stated that Beck is not applicable
in Oklahoma as the Oklahoma death penalty
scheme allows the jury to choose between
acquittal, life, life without parole, or death.
See also Williams, 2001 OK CR 9, ¶ 32, 22
P.3d at 714;  Young, 2000 OK CR 17, ¶¶ 52–
53, 12 P.3d at 38;  Davis v. State, 1999 OK
CR 16, ¶ 19, 980 P.2d 1111, 1117;  Cummings
v. State, 1998 OK CR 45, ¶ 42, 968 P.2d 821,
834.

¶ 119 The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals
adopted the same reasoning in United States
v. McVeigh, 153 F.3d 1166, 1197 (10th Cir.
1998).  However, a year later they found
Beck did apply even where there is a later
opportunity to sentence to life imprisonment
rather than death, Boyd v. Ward, 179 F.3d
904, 916 (10th Cir.1999).  In Hooks v. Ward,
184 F.3d 1206, 1227 (10th Cir.1999), the
Tenth Circuit attempted to clear up the con-
fusion by ‘‘explicitly disapprov[ing] the lan-
guage in McVeigh suggesting that Beck does
not apply when a jury has sentencing discre-
tion to issue a penalty less than death.’’  184
F.3d at 1227.  The Tenth Circuit went on to
say ‘‘a proper reading of Beck entitles a
defendant in a capital case to a lesser includ-
ed instruction when the evidence warrants it,
notwithstanding the fact that the jury may
retain discretion at sentencing to issue a
penalty less than death.’’  Id. Since then, the
Tenth Circuit has consistently held Beck ap-
plicable to Oklahoma.  Phillips v. Workman,
604 F.3d 1202, 1210–1216 (10th Cir.2010);
Taylor v. Workman, 554 F.3d 879, 892–893
(10th Cir.2009);  Wilson v. Sirmons, 536 F.3d
1064, 1103 (10th Cir.2008);  Young v. Sir-
mons, 486 F.3d 655, 670 (10th Cir.2007);  Ma-
licoat v. Mullin, 426 F.3d 1241, 1252–1254
(10th Cir.2005);  Darks v. Mullin, 327 F.3d
1001, 1008–1009 (10th Cir.2003);  Mitchell v.
Gibson, 262 F.3d 1036, 1050 (10th Cir.2001);
Hogan, 197 F.3d at 1304.  Therefore, until
the United States Supreme Court rules on
the application of Beck to Oklahoma, we will
follow the guidance provided by the Court of
Appeals.
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¶ 120 Turning to the merits of Appellant’s
claim, a Beck claim has two components.
Phillips, 604 F.3d at 1210.  ‘‘First, [a capital
defendant] must establish that the crime on
which the trial court refused to instruct was
actually a lesser-included offense of the capi-
tal crime of which he was convicted’’.  Id.,
citing Hogan, 197 F.3d at 1306.  ‘‘Second, he
‘must show that the evidence presented at
trial would permit a rational jury to find him
guilty of the lesser included offense and ac-
quit him of first degree murder.’ ’’ Id., quot-
ing Young, 486 F.3d at 670.

[55] ¶ 121 As we have previously dis-
cussed, inter alia, first degree manslaughter
is a lesser included offense of first degree
murder.  Therefore, Appellant has met the
first step.  Considering the evidence in this
case, Appellant’s statement about the homi-
cide, considered in isolation, might support a
conviction for manslaughter. However, we do
not review a defendant’s statement in iso-
lation but rather in context with the other
evidence presented at trial.  Eizember, 2007
OK CR 29, ¶ 111, 164 P.3d at 236.  If the
statement is contrary to or inconsistent with
other evidence presented at trial, it is insuffi-
cient to warrant a jury instruction on a lesser
included offense.  Id. Here, Appellant’s
statement was inconsistent on its face and
with all of the other evidence presented at
trial.  ‘‘Viewing the totality of the evidence
presented at trial, any inference of provoca-
tion is mere speculation and therefore insuffi-
cient to establish the adequate provocation
needed to support heat of passion man-
slaughter.’’  Darks, 327 F.3d at 1011.  The
evidence in this case would not permit a
rational jury to acquit Appellant of first de-
gree murder in favor of a finding of guilt for
heat of passion manslaughter or manslaugh-
ter by resisting criminal attempt.

¶ 122 Beck requires an instruction only
when supported by the evidence.  Beck does
not require the jury in a capital case be given
a third, non-capital option ‘‘where the evi-
dence absolutely does not support that op-
tion’’.  Turrentine v. State, 1998 OK CR 33,
¶ 36, 965 P.2d 955, 970 (emphasis added).

Where no lesser included offense exists, a
lesser included offense instruction detracts
from, rather than enhances, the rationality

of the process.  Beck does not require that
result TTT Beck does not require that the
jury be tricked into believing that it has a
choice of crimes for which to find the
defendant guilty, if in reality there is no
choice.  Such a rule not only would under-
mine the public’s confidence in the criminal
justice system, but it also would do a seri-
ous disservice to the goal of rationality on
which the Beck rule is based.

Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 455–56,
104 S.Ct. 3154, 3159–3160, 82 L.Ed.2d 340
(1984).

¶ 123 The evidence in this case did not
establish a prima facie case of the elements
of heat of passion manslaughter or man-
slaughter by resisting criminal attempt and
was therefore insufficient to support instruc-
tions on those lesser included offenses.
Therefore, Appellant was not denied his right
to due process under Beck and its progeny
when the trial court refused to instruct the
jury on first degree manslaughter.

SECOND STAGE ISSUES

¶ 124 In his thirteenth proposition of error,
Appellant contends his death sentence should
be vacated because the aggravating circum-
stances were not charged in an information
or Indictment, were not subjected to adver-
sarial testing at a preliminary hearing and
therefore were not determined to probably
exist by a neutral and detached magistrate.
Thus, Appellant argues, the District Court
never acquired jurisdiction over the aggrava-
ting circumstances.

¶ 125 This very argument has been previ-
ously rejected by this Court in Davis v.
State, 2004 OK CR 36, ¶¶ 44–46, 103 P.3d 70,
82–83;  Thacker v. State, 2004 OK CR 32,
¶¶ 9–22, 100 P.3d 1052, 1055–57 and Pri-
meaux v. State, 2004 OK CR 16, ¶¶ 14–16, 88
P.3d 893, 899–900.  Appellant not only fails
to acknowledge these rulings but also fails to
offer any new arguments to undermine them.
Accordingly, this proposition of error is de-
nied.

¶ 126 Appellant challenges the constitu-
tionality of the ‘‘great risk of death’’ aggrava-
ting circumstance in his fourteenth proposi-
tion of error.  See 21 O.S.2001, § 701.12(2).
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First, he argues that it does not narrow the
class of offender because proof of the aggra-
vator required the same intent alleged in the
two counts of Shooting with Intent to Kill.

¶ 127 This Court has rejected similar argu-
ments and upheld the constitutionality of this
aggravator.  See Jackson v. State, 2007 OK
CR 24, ¶ 31, 163 P.3d 596, 605;  Dodd v.
State, 2004 OK CR 31, ¶ 108, 100 P.3d 1017,
1048;  Hooper v. State, 1997 OK CR 64,
¶¶ 40–41, 947 P.2d 1090, 1106;  Paxton v.
State, 1993 OK CR 59, ¶¶ 6–8, 867 P.2d 1309,
1316.  Appellant has not provided persuasive
argument as to why we should reconsider
this well-established precedent and we de-
cline to do so at this time.

[56, 57] ¶ 128 Appellant next challenges
the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the
aggravator.  In order to determine whether
the State has met its burden in proving an
aggravating circumstance, this Court reviews
the record in the light most favorable to the
State to determine whether any rational trier
of fact could have found the facts necessary
to support the aggravating circumstance be-
yond a reasonable doubt.  Eizember, 2007
OK CR 29, ¶ 123, 164 P.3d at 239.

[58–61] ¶ 129 The aggravating circum-
stance of creating a great risk of death to
more than one person is proved by a defen-
dant’s acts which create a risk of death to
another in close proximity, in terms of time,
location, and intent to the killing.  Id. The
rationale behind the aggravator is that, by its
very language, there must be a risk of death,
that risk must be to more than one person, it
must be great, and the defendant must know
that risk exists.  Id. It is not merely the
death of more than one person that satisfies
this aggravator, but the acts of a defendant
that create a great risk of death to at least
one other person who is near to the homicide.
Id. 2007 OK CR 29, ¶ 125, 164 P.3d at 239.
In fact the death of a person other than the
homicide victim is not a prerequisite for a
finding of this aggravator.  Id. The grava-
men of the circumstance is not the number of
persons killed, but the callous creation of the
risk to more than one person.  Id.

¶ 130 In the present case, all three victims
were within view of each other in the con-

fines of the small apartment living room
when Appellant opened fire.  The record
shows Green made it to an adjacent bath-
room after being shot, and that Smith ducked
to avoid being hit.  The record also shows
that Hooks ran to the adjacent kitchen and
then was shot when she fell to the floor.
Appellant’s use of deadly force against three
people at close range was sufficient to sup-
port the aggravating circumstance.  See
Stouffer v. State, 1987 OK CR 92, ¶ 72, 738
P.2d 1349, 1361.  This assignment of error is
denied.

[62] ¶ 131 Appellant next challenges the
aggravating circumstance that the murder
was committed while Appellant was serving a
sentence of imprisonment for a felony.  See
21 O.S.2001, § 701.12(6).  Appellant asserts
the aggravator was designed to apply only to
killings in a correctional facility or some oth-
er area of confinement and not to those like
himself who were on parole at the time of the
murder.

¶ 132 This Court has consistently rejected
claims that this aggravator is limited to cases
where the murder occurs in a prison facility.
Matthews v. State, 2002 OK CR 16, ¶ 48, 45
P.3d 907, 922;  Humphreys v. State, 1997 OK
CR 59, ¶ 31, 947 P.2d 565, 575.  This Court
has found the aggravator constitutional as
applied to those on pre-parole status, Mat-
thews, 2002 OK CR 16, ¶ 48, 45 P.3d at 922;
McCracken v. State, 1994 OK CR 68, ¶¶ 32–
33, 887 P.2d 323, 331;  those participating in a
house arrest program rather than serving a
sentence in prison, Humphreys, 1997 OK CR
59, ¶ 30, 947 P.2d at 576;  and escapees,
Duckett v. State, 1995 OK CR 61, ¶¶ 80–83,
919 P.2d 7, 25–26.

¶ 133 Here, Appellant was on parole for
three separate convictions from the state of
Texas when he murdered the decedent.  His
Oklahoma parole officer testified that even
though Appellant was in the community on
parole, he was considered to be serving a
sentence of incarceration.  That Appellant
was serving a term of imprisonment under
Texas law does not foreclose application of
the aggravator as this Court has not limited
the aggravator to those imprisoned on solely
Oklahoma convictions.  Patton v. State, 1998
OK CR 66, ¶ 94, 973 P.2d 270, 297.  Although
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not incarcerated at the time he committed
the murder, Appellant was still ‘‘serving a
sentence of imprisonment on conviction of a
felony’’ and this evidence sufficiently sup-
ported the existence of the aggravating cir-
cumstance.  This proposition of error is de-
nied.

[63] ¶ 134 In his sixteenth proposition of
error, Appellant contends the ‘‘continuing
threat’’ aggravating circumstance is unconsti-
tutional based on Cudjo v. State, 1996 OK
CR 43, 925 P.2d 895.  ‘‘The existence of a
probability that the defendant would commit
criminal acts of violence that would constitute
a continuing threat to society’’, better known
as the ‘‘continuing threat’’ aggravating cir-
cumstance has been found constitutional by
this Court. See Williams v. State, 2008 OK
CR 19, ¶ 104, 188 P.3d 208, 228;  Harris v.
State, 2007 OK CR 28, ¶ 22, 164 P.3d 1103,
1112;  McElmurry v. State, 2002 OK CR 40,
¶ 84, 60 P.3d 4, 24–25;  Myers v. State, 2000
OK CR 25, ¶¶ 70–74, 17 P.3d 1021, 1036–37.

¶ 135 The Cudjo case did not address the
constitutionality of the aggravator.  In that
case, this Court ruled the evidence insuffi-
cient to support the aggravator, finding that
the State did not demonstrate the defendant
would continue to present a threat to society
after sentencing.  Id. 1996 OK CR 43, ¶ 30,
925 P.2d at 902.  In finding the evidence
insufficient, the Court also looked to the de-
fendant’s criminal history, the callousness of
the crime, threats against others, lack of
remorse, and attempts to prevent calls to the
police.  Id.

[64] ¶ 136 More recently in Warner, 2006
OK CR 40, ¶ 126, 144 P.3d at 879, this Court
said that to support the aggravator of ‘‘con-
tinuing threat’’, ‘‘the State must present evi-
dence showing the defendant’s behavior
demonstrated a threat to society and a prob-
ability that threat would continue to exist in
the future.’’  Id. Further, ‘‘[t]o prove this ag-
gravating circumstance, TTT the State may
present any relevant evidence, in conform-
ance with the rules of evidence, including
evidence from the crime itself, evidence of
other crimes, admissions by the defendant of
unadjudicated offenses or any other relevant
evidence.’’  Id. ‘‘A finding that the defendant
would commit criminal acts of violence that

would constitute a continuing threat to soci-
ety is appropriate when the evidence estab-
lishes the defendant participated in other
unrelated criminal acts and the nature of the
crime exhibited the calloused nature of the
defendant.’’  Id.

¶ 137 In support of the aggravator in the
present case, the State presented evidence
that on November 11, 1991, Appellant and
three other youths severely beat a sixteen
year old schoolmate for nothing more than
the coat he was wearing.  When Appellant
was arrested for this crime a short time
later, he was wearing the coat.  The State
also showed that on November 12, 1992, Ap-
pellant was arrested after crashing and roll-
ing the stolen vehicle he was driving on an
interstate highway.  Appellant had a loaded
.25 caliber semiautomatic handgun in his pos-
session at the time and told police he kept
the gun because he was a gang member and
a rival gang was attempting to kill him.

¶ 138 Additionally, the State’s evidence
showed that on October 17, 1993, Appellant
pushed his fourteen year old ex-girlfriend,
Takisha Powdrill, against a wall, argued with
her regarding her subsequent relationship
then put a gun to her head.  When Appellant
left her, he told her, ‘‘he was going to be
back’’ which she took to mean ‘‘he was going
to come back and kill me.’’  Powdrill testified
she knew what was going to happen when
Appellant cornered her because he had been
physically abusive before and she ended the
relationship because of the abuse.  The
State’s evidence also showed that on April 14,
1994, Appellant was arrested at a known
drug house and found in possession of 12
rocks of crack cocaine and a 9 mm handgun
with twenty-three rounds and a round loaded
in the chamber.  When police, who were in
full uniform, initially approached Appellant,
he fled the residence.  On August 11, 2002, a
domestic altercation occurred between Ap-
pellant and Tia Green where Appellant beat
her while she was on the ground and de-
fenseless.  Additionally, Appellant was on pa-
role for felony convictions from Texas at the
time of the murder.

¶ 139 Appellant’s criminal history shows a
pattern of escalating violence.  This evi-
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dence, combined with the evidence of the
shootings of Smith, Green and Hooks over-
whelmingly supported the aggravator as es-
tablishing the existence of a probability that
Appellant would commit criminal acts of vio-
lence that would constitute a continuing
threat to society.  This proposition of error is
denied.

[65] ¶ 140 In his seventeenth proposition
of error, Appellant contends that Oklahoma’s
lethal injection is cruel and unusual punish-
ment in violation of the Eighth Amendment
to the United States Constitution and the
corresponding provisions of the Oklahoma
Constitution.  Appellant argues that:  1) the
protocol leaves discretion with the Warden
for decisions surrounding the actual adminis-
tration of the chemical (except for dosage
and IV sites), thus insulating the process
from any sort of accountability for a ‘‘botched
execution’’;  2) the identities of the execution-
ers are kept secret;  3) there is no ‘‘back up’’
plan should a doctor be unavailable to assist
with an execution;  and 4) the IV is not
inserted by a doctor.  Appellant offers no
authority for his claim, either factual or legal,
save for a footnote reference to an article
appearing in the New York Times newspaper
on October 7, 2003.

¶ 141 Appellant filed a motion in the trial
court challenging Oklahoma’s lethal injection
protocol.  However, the challenge was limit-
ed to the three chemicals used.  It did not
address the procedure surrounding the ad-
ministration of those chemicals.

¶ 142 Based upon Appellant’s failure to
present the issue now raised on appeal to the
trial court first, and due to Appellant’s fail-
ure to cite any supporting authority for his
claim on appeal, we find Appellant has not
provided this Court with a sufficient record
and legal argument to allow us to appropri-

ately address the issue.  See Rule 3.5(C),
Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal
Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2011).  See
also Warner, 2006 OK CR 40, ¶ 148, 144 P.3d
at 883;  Stouffer v. State, 2006 OK CR 46,
¶ 209, 147 P.3d 245, 281.  Further, this Court
has previously found Oklahoma’s execution
protocol constitutional.  Malicoat v. State,
2006 OK CR 25, ¶ 6, 137 P.3d 1234, 1237.
This proposition is denied.

SECOND STAGE JURY INSTRUCTIONS

[66] ¶ 143 In proposition of error eigh-
teen, Appellant raises his sole challenge to
the second stage jury instructions by object-
ing to Instruction No. 10 which stated in
pertinent part:  ‘‘Mitigating circumstances
are factors which in fairness, sympathy, and
mercy, may extenuate or reduce the degree
of moral culpability or blame.  The determi-
nation of what circumstances are mitigating
is for you to resolve under the facts and
circumstances of this case.’’  The defense
objected to this instruction and provided the
court with a modified version.  The trial
court overruled the objection.  Now on ap-
peal, Appellant argues that Instruction No.
10 prevented the jury from considering any
mitigating evidence which did not tend to
reduce his moral culpability or blame for the
murder, but which nevertheless served as a
legitimate reason why he should not be sen-
tenced to death.

¶ 144 The instruction given to the jury in
this case was verbatim OUJI–CR (2d) 4–78.9

The jury was also given OUJI–CR (2d) 4–79,
which included a list of mitigating evidence
and additional instructions which allowed the
jury to consider other mitigating circum-
stances, if found to exist.  This Court has
previously analyzed these instructions and
determined they are appropriate.  See

9. Instruction No. 10, OUJI–CR (2d) 4–78 reads
in its entirety:
Mitigating circumstances are 1) circumstances
that may extenuate or reduce the degree of moral
culpability or blame, or 2) circumstances which
in fairness, sympathy or mercy may lead you as
jurors individually or collectively to decide
against imposing the death penalty.  The deter-
mination of what circumstances are mitigating is
for you to resolve under the facts and circum-
stances of this case.

While all twelve jurors must unanimously agree
that the State has established beyond a reason-
able doubt the existence of at least one aggrava-
ting circumstance prior to consideration of the
death penalty, unanimous agreement of jurors
concerning mitigating circumstances is not re-
quired.  In addition, mitigating circumstances do
not have to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt
in order for you to consider them.
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Williams, 2008 OK CR 19, ¶ 102–103, 188
P.3d at 227–228.

¶ 145 Appellant directs us to Harris, 2007
OK CR 28, 164 P.3d 1103, and argues this
Court found OUJI–CR (2d) 4–78 was not
clear enough to eliminate the possibility of
misunderstanding.  In Harris, this Court
said ‘‘[w]e do not find that the current uni-
form jury instruction [4–78] prohibits jurors
from considering mitigating evidence’’, and
‘‘[t]he uniform jury instruction given in this
case did not unconstitutionally limit the
jury’s ability to consider mitigating evi-
dence’’.  Id., 2007 OK CR 28, ¶¶ 25 and 28,
164 P.3d at 1113–1114.

¶ 146 Despite the Court’s recommendation
of a clarifying amendment to the language of
the instruction, the Court emphasized ‘‘that
the language of the current instruction itself
is not legally inaccurate, inadequate, or un-
constitutional.  Cases in which the current
OUJI–CR (2d) 4–78 has been used and ap-
plied are not subject to reversal on this
basis.’’  Id., 2007 OK CR 28, ¶ 26, 164 P.3d at
1114.  The real concern for the Court in that
case was the prosecution’s second stage clos-
ing argument telling the jury not to consider
the defendant’s mitigating evidence and the
prosecutor’s ‘‘consistent misuse of the lan-
guage in the instruction.’’  Id.

¶ 147 In the present case, the jury heard
nine mitigation witnesses in a single day.
These witnesses were all members of Appel-
lant’s family.  They testified to his back-
ground and upbringing, alleged good quali-
ties and characteristics and their love for
him.  They asked the jury to spare Appel-
lant’s life by imposing a sentence less than
death.  The testimony of these witnesses was
summarized into ten specific mitigating fac-
tors for the jury’s consideration as well as
any other evidence the jury might consider
mitigating.

¶ 148 The prosecution’s closing argument
does not present the same concerns as those
in Harris.  In fact, the prosecutor told the
jury to consider all of Appellant’s evidence,
but argued it was not sufficiently persuasive
to support a sentence of less than death.
Further, defense counsel specifically told the
jury to consider and analyze the mitigating
evidence, to weigh it against the State’s ag-

gravating circumstances and that ‘‘fairness,
sympathy and mercy are things that are
proper for you to consider.’’

¶ 149 Reading the second stage instruc-
tions as a whole, the jury was properly in-
structed on the definition of mitigating evi-
dence.  There is not a reasonable likelihood
Instruction No. 10 misled the jury into be-
lieving it could not consider Appellant’s miti-
gating evidence.  Therefore, we find the trial
court did not abuse its discretion in giving
Instruction No. 10.  This proposition of error
is denied.

ISSUES RELEVANT TO BOTH
STAGES OF TRIAL

[67] ¶ 150 In his tenth proposition of er-
ror, Appellant asserts the trial court commit-
ted reversible error in admitting State’s Ex-
hibit 100, a recording of the 911 emergency
call made by Hooks from the crime scene
within minutes of being shot.  The recording
was admitted over defense objections to its
relevance and prejudice.  Appellant contends
he was prejudiced in both stages of trial by
the admission of the recording.

¶ 151 The recording begins with a series of
screams, then goes silent for over a minute.
Hooks later tells the operator that she, her
sister, and her brother-in-law had been shot
and an ambulance was needed.  In the back-
ground, children can be heard crying and
screaming.  One of the children got on the
phone and told the operator his mother was
‘‘dying’’ and that there is ‘‘blood all over the
kitchen floor’’.  When asked who shot his
mother, the child replied that he does not
know, that they were asleep and then heard
someone start screaming.  The sounds of the
responding officers attempting to remove the
children from the apartment finish out the
call.  Appellant argues that the recording did
not convey anything to the jurors that had
not been brought out by the testimony of
Hooks and Green, and that the recording did
not materially assist the State in its case
except for the ‘‘huge amount of prejudicial
emotion that it generates.’’

¶ 152 We have previously upheld the ad-
mission of 911 tapes in cases where the party
on the tape testifies at trial.  See Williams,
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2008 OK CR 19, ¶ 71, 188 P.3d at 223;  Stouf-
fer, 2006 OK CR 46, ¶¶ 114–17, 147 P.3d at
269.  The recording in this case was relevant
as it corroborated both Hooks’ and Green’s
versions of what happened in the apartment
immediately after the shootings.  This was
particularly important in light of defense
counsel’s thorough cross-examination of the
women and attempts to impeach their de-
scriptions of the crime and surrounding cir-
cumstances.  The recording showed Hooks’
demeanor after being shot and explained how
she might have trouble remembering details
from the night of the shooting, and it tended
to rebut Appellant’s claim that Hooks walked
to the bathroom after being shot in order to
dispose of some marijuana.  The recording in
this case did not constitute testimonial evi-
dence and is just the type of 911 call evidence
the United States Supreme Court approved
in Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 827–
828, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 2277, 165 L.Ed.2d 224
(2006).

¶ 153 While the emotional impact of the
recording is undeniable, it is not so prejudi-
cial as to have ‘‘swept all before it’’ as Appel-
lant claims.  In light of the other evidence
presented by the State, the recording did not
confuse the issues, mislead the jury, result in
a needless presentation of cumulative evi-
dence, cause unfair and harmful surprise to
the defense or in any other way unfairly
prejudice the defense.  See 12 O.S.2001,
§ 2402.

¶ 154 As for its impact on the sentencing
stage of trial, Appellant argues the reincor-
poration of the first stage evidence into the
second stage, ‘‘undoubtedly tainted the sen-
tence’’ and the impact of all of the above
described irrelevant evidence rendered the
sentencing procedure too unreliable to meet
the standards of the Eighth Amendment.  As
discussed above, the State presented exten-
sive evidence during the sentencing stage of
three aggravating circumstances and victim
impact testimony from the decedent’s family.
In response, the defense presented extensive
evidence in mitigation concerning Appellant’s
family and background.  Nothing in this pro-
cess renders Appellant’s sentencing stage too
unreliable to meet constitutional muster.
Accordingly, we find the trial court did not

abuse its discretion in admitting the 911 re-
cording.  This proposition of error is denied.

[68] ¶ 155 In his eleventh proposition of
error, Appellant argues the trial court erred
in excluding evidence of the decedent’s crimi-
nal record and prior bad acts.  The excluded
evidence were copies of police reports detail-
ing the decedent’s juvenile crimes including
acts of animal cruelty, first and second de-
gree burglary, and assault and battery.  Ap-
pellant asserts that exclusion of the evidence
prevented him from presenting evidence
which supported his claim of self-defense as
well as evidence which negated the aggrava-
ting circumstance of ‘‘heinous, atrocious or
cruel.’’

[69, 70] ¶ 156 ‘‘Whether Appellant was
denied the right to present a defense ulti-
mately turns on whether the evidence at his
disposal was admissible.’’  Pavatt, 2007 OK
CR 19, ¶ 45, 159 P.3d at 287.  The admission
of evidence is left to the sound discretion of
the trial court and will not be disturbed
absent an abuse of discretion.  Williams,
2001 OK CR 9, ¶ 94, 22 P.3d at 724.

[71] ¶ 157 In a homicide case where the
defense is that of self-defense, acts of vio-
lence by the victim antecedent to the homi-
cide may be introduced where the defendant
was aware of the specific prior acts of vio-
lence and that awareness or knowledge
helped form the basis for his purported fear
of the victim resulting in the alleged act of
self-defense against the victim, and tending
to establish the victim as the aggressor.  See
Conover v. State, 1997 OK CR 6, ¶¶ 25–27,
933 P.2d 904, 912;  Bechtel v. State, 1992 OK
CR 55, ¶ 42, 840 P.2d 1, 13;  Harris v. State,
1965 OK CR 29, ¶ 23, 400 P.2d 64, 70;
Thompson v. State, 1961 OK CR 105, ¶ 4, 365
P.2d 834, 837;  Murphy v. State, 72 Okla.
Crim. 1, 112 P.2d 438, 456 (1941);  Edwards
v. State, 58 Okla.Crim. 15, 48 P.2d 1087, 1097
(1935);  Brock v. State, 55 Okla.Crim. 410, 32
P.2d 88, 89–90 (1934);  Mulkey v. State, 5
Okla.Crim. 75, 113 P. 532, 538, 1911 OK CR
41;  Sneed v. Territory, 16 Okl. 641, 86 P. 70,
72.

[72] ¶ 158 Since this principle of law was
first established, the Evidence Code has been
enacted.  Under 12 O.S.2001, § 2404(A)(2),
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evidence of a ‘‘pertinent’’ character trait of a
victim is admissible.  Once the trial court has
determined the particular character trait is
‘‘pertinent’’ or relevant, and an essential ele-
ment of the charge or defense, proof may be
made by specific instances of conduct.  12
O.S.2001, § 2405.  In a case where the de-
fense is self-defense, this ‘‘pertinency’’ re-
quirement limits admission of evidence to
those traits of character that would have
affected the defendant’s perception of the
threat with which he was confronted.10  Acts
unknown to the defendant prior to the homi-
cide cannot meet the ‘‘pertinency’’ require-
ment for admissibility purposes.

¶ 159 Reading the Evidence Code to con-
form to and in conjunction with the long
standing rules of self-defense, § 2404(A)(2)
did not do away with the principle that to be
admissible in self-defense cases, acts of vio-
lence perpetrated against a third party must
be known to the defendant, but sought to
codify that rule in light of the established
case law.  This is evident by the insertion of
the ‘‘pertinency’’ requirement only in subsec-
tion (A)(2) and not in other sections of the
Evidence Code addressing character evi-
dence.

¶ 160 In the present case, Appellant failed
to present sufficient evidence to raise the
defense of self-defense.  See Propositions VI
and VII. Even if he had sufficiently raised
the defense of self-defense, Appellant failed
to make a preliminary showing at trial that
he was aware of the alleged instances of
violence committed by the decedent which he
now complains of on appeal.  While Appel-
lant said he recognized the decedent when he
entered the apartment, and knew he was a
‘‘gangster,’’ he never said he fired at the
decedent because he was aware of the dece-
dent’s previous criminal acts as a juvenile
and feared for his life because of that knowl-
edge.  Appellant said he fired at the dece-
dent because the decedent lunged at him.

¶ 161 In his appellate brief, Appellant as-
serts ‘‘a realistic-looking toy gun’’ found at
the scene ‘‘could have made [him] feel more

threatened.’’  This claim does not support
Appellant’s argument for several reasons.
First, Appellant made no mention of the toy
gun in his statements to police.  Second, the
undisputed testimony from Hooks estab-
lished that the toy gun was not on the living
room floor when Appellant entered the
apartment and most likely one of the chil-
dren dropped it there when they ran out of
the back bedroom immediately after the
shootings.  And third, the crime scene inves-
tigator testified, that based on her initial
observations at the crime scene, the gun was
very obviously a toy.  This is confirmed by
photographs of the item.

¶ 162 Because Appellant presented insuffi-
cient evidence to support the defense of self-
defense and because he did not indicate he
was aware of the decedent’s prior criminal
history or that such awareness or knowledge
helped form the basis for his purported fear
of the victim resulting in the alleged act of
self-defense, the trial court did not abuse its
discretion in excluding the evidence from the
first stage of trial.

¶ 163 As for the exclusion of the evidence
during the second stage of trial, Appellant
claims it would have negated the alleged
aggravator of ‘‘heinous, atrocious or cruel.’’
However, the record reflects the existence of
that aggravating circumstance was never al-
leged by the State.

¶ 164 At trial, defense counsel argued:  1)
the State’s victim impact evidence showed
the decedent’s good character and therefore
opened the door to defense evidence regard-
ing the decedent’s criminal history;  2) the
evidence was relevant in showing Appellant’s
state of mind when he fired the gun;  and 3)
the evidence reduced Appellant’s moral cul-
pability for the crime and presented an accu-
rate portrayal of the life that was extin-
guished, relying on Conover v. State, 1997
OK CR 6, 933 P.2d 904.

¶ 165 In rejecting these arguments, the
trial court stated that it had reviewed the
victim impact statements and any references
to the decedent’s character had been redact-

10. See Evidence Subcommittee Notes to § 2404,
Guide to the Oklahoma Evidence Code, Whinery,
‘‘[t]he limitation to pertinent traits of character,
rather than character generally, in Rule 404(a)(1)

and (2) is designed to sharpen the importance of
relevancy to permit proof of character by evi-
dence of specific acts TTT’’ (emphasis in original).
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ed.  Our review of the victim impact evidence
supports this conclusion.  Testimony from
the decedent’s mother, father and brother
related each family member’s sense of loss
and grief, the impact the murder had on each
of them and the fact that they loved the
decedent.  At trial, defense counsel claimed
that the decedent’s father’s testimony that
the decedent was a Christian and a member
in good standing of his church was improper
character evidence.  Even if this was a refer-
ence to the decedent’s character, it was not
sufficient to open the door to evidence of the
decedent’s history of juvenile crime.  ‘‘[A]
criminal trial is not to be based upon so-
called ‘character’ evidence, and the same
principle applies to sentencing proceedings.’’
Malone v. State, 2002 OK CR 34, ¶ 8, 58 P.3d
208, 210.

¶ 166 Further, the evidence was properly
excluded under Conover.  In that case, this
Court found trial court error in excluding
evidence of the decedent’s drug use as it kept
the jury from having a complete picture of
the crime.  Id. 1997 OK CR 6, ¶¶ 77–79, 933
P.2d at 912, 922–23.  In the present case, the
decedent’s history of juvenile crime had noth-
ing to do with his murder and inclusion of the
evidence would not have added to the jury’s
picture of the crime.  The trial court appro-
priately noted that in looking at the entire
crime in this case, ‘‘it had nothing to do with
self-defense issues TTT It has to do with a
person that was a bystander.  He just hap-
pened to be there at the wrong time.’’

¶ 167 To the extent the decedent’s juvenile
crimes were relevant to Appellant’s state of
mind when he fired the gun;  the jury had
already found Appellant intentionally and
with premeditation killed the decedent.  Any
evidence concerning his state of mind was no
longer relevant.  See Rojem v. State, 2006
OK CR 7, ¶ 56, 130 P.3d 287, 298–99 (improp-
er for issue of residual doubt to make its way
into a capital sentencing proceeding).

¶ 168 Further, we fail to see how this
evidence could in any way be considered
mitigating.  Evidence of the decedent’s crim-
inal history which had no relation to the
crime and of which the Appellant was not
aware does not reduce the degree of Appel-
lant’s moral culpability or blame, and are not

circumstances which in fairness, sympathy or
mercy may lead jurors to decide against im-
posing the death penalty.  See OUJI–CR
(2d) 4–78 (definition of mitigating circum-
stances).

¶ 169 Finally, Appellant relies on Cham-
bers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct.
1038, 1049, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973) and Green
v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95, 99 S.Ct. 2150, 60
L.Ed.2d 738 (1979) for the proposition that
evidence bearing persuasive assurances of
trustworthiness must be admitted regardless
of the application of state evidentiary rules,
when that evidence is critical to a capital
defendant’s case.

¶ 170 Chambers and Green both concerned
evidence which was highly relevant to the
defendant’s defense.  In Chambers, the Unit-
ed States Supreme Court found that a con-
fession to the crime from a third person,
made to three close acquaintances on sepa-
rate occasions shortly after murder, and cor-
roborated by other evidence in the case,
where the confessions were unquestionably
statements against interest, and where the
person was present in the courtroom at de-
fendant’s trial for the same murder and was
under oath and subject to cross-examination,
could not be excluded from evidence by the
mechanistic application of the hearsay rule
‘‘to defeat the ends of justice’’ by preventing
the defendant from introducing the testimo-
ny of the persons to whom the confessions
had been made.  410 U.S. at 302, 93 S.Ct. at
1049.

¶ 171 In Green, the Supreme Court found
that exclusion of testimony that a second
defendant confided to a witness that he had
killed the victim after ordering the defendant
to run was relevant to a critical issue in the
punishment phase of the defendant’s murder
trial, and thus exclusion of such testimony
denied the defendant a fair trial on issue of
punishment and constituted a violation of due
process clause.  442 U.S. at 97, 99 S.Ct. at
2151–2152.  The present case does not fall
within the dictates of either Chambers or
Green.

¶ 172 In Holmes v. South Carolina, 547
U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503
(2006) it was stated:
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While the Constitution thus prohibits the
exclusion of defense evidence under rules
that serve no legitimate purpose or that
are disproportionate to the ends that they
are asserted to promote, well-established
rules of evidence permit trial judges to
exclude evidence if its probative value is
outweighed by certain other factors such
as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues,
or potential to mislead the jury TTT Plainly
referring to rules of this type, we have
stated that the Constitution permits judges
‘‘to exclude evidence that is ‘repetitive TTT,
only marginally relevant’ or poses an un-
due risk of ‘harassment, prejudice, [or]
confusion of the issues.

547 U.S. at 326–327, 126 S.Ct. at 1732–1733
(internal citations omitted).

¶ 173 Evidence of the decedent’s history of
juvenile crime, unrelated to his murder, was
simply not relevant in either the first or
second stage of this case and was properly
excluded.  There is no possible federal con-
stitutional violation from the omission of the
evidence.  This assignment of error is de-
nied.

ALLEGATIONS OF PROSECUTORIAL
MISCONDUCT

[73–75] ¶ 174 In his twelfth proposition of
error, Appellant alleges that several instanc-
es of prosecutorial misconduct denied him a
fair trial.  It is well established that ‘‘a crimi-
nal conviction is not to be lightly overturned
on the basis of a prosecutor’s comments
standing alone, for the statements or conduct
must be viewed in context;  only by so doing
can it be determined whether the prosecu-
tor’s conduct affected the fairness of the
trial.’’  Ryder v. State, 2004 OK CR 2, ¶ 82,
83 P.3d 856, 875, quoting United States v.
Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1044,
84 L.Ed.2d 1, 11 (1985).  In order for the
remarks of the prosecuting attorney to con-
stitute reversible error they must be flagrant
and of such a nature as to be prejudicial to
the defendant.  Id. From a practical stand-
point, every slight excess by the prosecutor
does not require that a verdict be overturned
and that a new trial be ordered. Id.

[76] ¶ 175 Appellant first complains that
during the first stage closing argument, the
prosecutor misstated the law and attempted
to shift the burden of proof by arguing that
Appellant’s intent to kill ‘‘could be presumed’’
as to all three victims.  (Appellant’s brief, pg.
70).  In support, Appellant directs us to elev-
en specific transcript pages.

¶ 176 A recurring theme of the prosecu-
tor’s closing argument was that Appellant’s
acts of pointing the loaded gun at the victims’
head and body and pulling the trigger
showed his intent to kill them. Defense coun-
sel’s initial objection to the argument on
grounds that the prosecution could not argue
that intent was to be presumed and that the
argument shifted the burden of proof to the
defense was overruled as it was closing argu-
ment.  After a subsequent objection on the
same grounds was overruled, defense counsel
asked for and was given a continuing objec-
tion any time that argument was made by
the prosecutor.  Therefore, the claim of er-
ror has been properly preserved for appel-
late review.

¶ 177 Upon reviewing the prosecutor’s ar-
guments, we find no calls to the jury to
presume Appellant intended to kill.  Also
absent are any attempts to shift the burden
of proof to the defense to prove that Appel-
lant did not intend to kill.  Instead, we find
accurate statements of the law that intent to
kill can be proven by the evidence.  See 21
O.S.2001, § 701.7(A) (‘‘[m]alice is that delib-
erate intention unlawfully to take away the
life of a human being, which is manifested
by external circumstances capable of
proof ’’) (emphasis added);  21 O.S.2001,
§ 702 (‘‘[a] design to effect death [i.e., pre-
meditation] is inferred from the fact of kill-
ing, unless the circumstances raise a reason-
able doubt whether such design existed’’).
See also Young, 2000 OK CR 17, ¶ 61, 12
P.3d at 39;  Phillips v. State, 1999 OK CR 38,
¶ 27, 989 P.2d 1017, 1029 (malice afore-
thought may be proved by circumstantial
evidence).  Further, the prosecutor re-
peatedly referred the jury to the instructions
and law stated therein concerning the burden
of proof and the elements of the offenses.
After reviewing the entirety of the prosecu-
tor’s argument in this area, we find no error.
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[77] ¶ 178 Next, Appellant contends the
prosecution argued facts not in evidence first
by arguing that it was ‘‘not real easy to
chamber a round when you got a full maga-
zine, it takes some effort.’’  When the prose-
cutor attempted to explain how it would be
done, defense counsel objected on the
grounds the argument was outside the evi-
dence and moved for a mistrial.  The trial
court overruled the motion for a mistrial but
sustained the objection and admonished the
jury to disregard the statement and rely on
their own memory and life experiences.  This
cured any error.  See Romano v. State, 1995
OK CR 74, ¶ 61, 909 P.2d 92, 116.

[78] ¶ 179 Later, the prosecutor argued
that Appellant must have taken the safety off
of the gun prior to entering the apartment.
Appellant’s objection was overruled.  As the
prosecutor stated, the argument was based
on the evidence.  The ballistics expert testi-
fied that most all semiautomatic and auto-
matic weapons have safeties so someone is
not shot accidentally.  He further testified
that the safety would have to manually disen-
gage and explained to the jury the process
for doing so.  Nothing in the testimony by
Green and Hooks indicates that once inside
the apartment Appellant removed the safety
as described by the expert.  Further, as
argued by the prosecutor, Appellant made no
mention in his interview with police about
removing the safety after he arrived at the
apartment.  The prosecutor’s comments
were proper inferences on the evidence.  See
Bland, 2000 OK CR 11, ¶ 97, 4 P.3d at 728.

[79] ¶ 180 Appellant also contends that
during first stage closing arguments, the
prosecutor denigrated defense counsel by re-
ferring to two different arguments made by
defense counsel as ‘‘red herrings.’’  Neither
comment drew an objection;  therefore we
review only for plain error.  Bland, 2000 OK
CR 11, ¶ 91, 4 P.3d at 727.

¶ 181 A review of the comments made in
this case shows they were made in response
to arguments raised by defense counsel dur-
ing trial and were reasonable inferences on
the evidence.  Any aspersions the comments
may have cast on defense counsel’s integrity
were not such as to deny Appellant a fair
trial.  As we stated in DeRosa v. State, 2004

OK CR 19, ¶ 70, 89 P.3d 1124, 1149, ‘‘[appel-
lant] was convicted and sentenced to death
based upon the facts of his crime and the
aggravating circumstances in the case, rather
than any improper remarks by the district
attorney.’’

[80] ¶ 182 In second stage closing argu-
ment, the prosecutor referred to Appellant as
‘‘toxic Nicholas Davis.’’  No objection was
raised to this comment.  Reviewing only for
plain error, we find none.  Bland, 2000 OK
CR 11, ¶ 91, 4 P.3d at 727.  This comment
was rebuttal to the recurring theme in the
defense closing argument that the ‘‘toxic
love’’ between Appellant and Green was re-
sponsible for the murder and absolved Appel-
lant of any responsibility.  In Warner, 2006
OK CR 40, ¶ 182, 144 P.3d at 839 we upheld
comments which merely responded to de-
fense statements made in closing argument.

[81] ¶ 183 The prosecutor also described
Appellant as a ‘‘cold-blooded killer.’’  De-
fense counsel’s objection was overruled.
‘‘This Court has held that the term ‘cold
blooded killer’ is not prohibited in a trial
where the facts support the conclusion.’’
Stouffer, 2006 OK CR 46, ¶ 170, 147 P.3d at
276.  The facts in the present clearly support
the prosecutor’s use of the term.

[82] ¶ 184 ‘‘Allegations of prosecutorial
misconduct do not warrant reversal of a con-
viction unless the cumulative effect was such
[as] to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.’’
Warner, 2006 OK CR 40, ¶ 197, 144 P.3d at
891.  We have thoroughly reviewed each of
Appellant’s allegations of prosecutorial mis-
conduct and while some comments may have
tested the bounds of propriety, we find none
of the comments deprived Appellant of a fair
trial, or had any prejudicial impact on the
judgment and sentence.  Accordingly, this
assignment of error is denied.

ALLEGATION OF INEFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

¶ 185 In his nineteenth proposition of er-
ror, Appellant contends that counsel’s per-
formance in preparing and presenting the
case in mitigation was deficient and deprived
him of his constitutionally guaranteed right
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to effective assistance of counsel. Appellant
argues that had counsel presented expert
testimony, in conjunction with lay witnesses,
‘‘a more cohesive theory of defense’’ would
have been presented to the jury.  Appellant
contends that ‘‘rather than hearing piecemeal
snippets about [Appellant’s] background, an
expert could have ‘connected the dots’ be-
tween the incidents related by the lay wit-
nesses.’’  Appellant’s argument is supported
by non-record information contained in his
separately filed Notice of Extra Record Evi-
dence Supporting Proposition XIX of the
Brief of Appellant and, Alternatively, Rule
3.11 Motion to Supplement Direct Appeal
Record or For an Evidentiary Hearing.

¶ 186 In his motion for evidentiary hearing,
Appellant asserts that trial counsel was inef-
fective for failing to secure an expert to
testify to the effect on him of the neglect and
absence of his mother during his early child-
hood;  the extreme trauma he experienced
leaving his extended family on his grand-
mother’s farm and moving to San Antonio,
Texas;  the impact of graphic violence he
witnessed during his adolescent years and
the loss he experienced as a brother and
others close to him were violently killed.
Appellant argues that a qualified expert wit-
ness could have testified as to how Appel-
lant’s childhood deprivation resulted in a
heightened sense of danger and could have
offered an opinion about the intent element
of the shootings.  Appellant contends this
evidence would have presented a cohesive
and more compelling mitigating case.  Appel-
lant argues that without expert testimony ‘‘to
tie together’’ the mitigation evidence, the cu-
mulative effect of the defense case in mitiga-
tion was a series of short requests for mercy
from family members, some of whom he had
never met.

¶ 187 Appellant also contends that trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to present
his brother, Michael Edmond, as a mitigation
witness.  Appellant asserts that Edmond
could have testified to Appellant growing up
in extreme poverty and neglect and ex-
plained how the absence of their mother
contributed to Appellant’s extreme distrust
of women.

¶ 188 Rule 3.11(B)(3)(6), Rules of the Okla-
homa Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22,
Ch. 18, App. (2009), allows an appellant to
request an evidentiary hearing when it is
alleged on appeal that trial counsel was inef-
fective for failing to ‘‘utilize available evi-
dence which could have been made available
during the course of trialTTTT’’ Once an appli-
cation has been properly submitted along
with supporting affidavits, this Court reviews
the application to see if it contains ‘‘sufficient
evidence to show this Court by clear and
convincing evidence there is a strong possi-
bility trial counsel was ineffective for failing
to utilize or identify the complained-of evi-
dence.’’  Rule 3.11(B)(3)(b)(i).  See also War-
ner, 2006 OK CR 40, ¶ 207, 144 P.3d at 893.

¶ 189 In support of his arguments, Appel-
lant offers a signed affidavit from Selonda M.
Moseley, a licensed clinical social worker,
who at the request of appellate counsel, re-
viewed Appellant’s medical records, Depart-
ment of Corrections records, and police re-
ports as well as interviewed Appellant and
several of his family members.  (See Exhibit
A) Based upon this information, Ms. Moseley
prepared a Social History Report, dated Au-
gust 27, 2008.  (See Exhibit B)

¶ 190 The sixteen page report is divided
into sections addressing Appellant’s mother’s
family background, Appellant’s early child-
hood, school years, adult years, medical/psy-
chiatric, criminal history and summary/con-
clusions.  What is initially striking about this
report is that it presents a very different
view of Appellant’s early childhood years
than was presented at trial.

¶ 191 At trial, nine witnesses testified in
Appellant’s mitigation case.  These witnesses
included two of Appellant’s aunts, Sylvia
Grayer and Mattie Irvin, and an uncle, Leon
Wallace, Sr. These witnesses testified that
they and their extended family lived on the
family farm in Spencer, Oklahoma.  These
witnesses testified that Appellant and his two
brothers were left on the farm by their moth-
er to be raised by their grandmother.  All
three witnesses described Appellant’s early
childhood years on the farm as happy, un-
troubled times, despite the fact his mother
was rarely around and the few times she was
present, she paid little if any attention to
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Appellant.  Ms. Irvin testified she was close
in age to Appellant and they had the same
chores.  The three witnesses testified that
Appellant did not became involved in a life of
crime until he was thirteen years old when
his mother re-entered his life and took him
and his brothers to San Antonio.  All three
witnesses attributed Appellant’s descent into
crime to bad parenting by his mother and
stepfather after Appellant and his brothers
left the family farm.

¶ 192 The other mitigation witnesses at
trial were also family members, one of whom
had not seen Appellant since he was very
young, and two half-brothers who had never
met Appellant.  All of these witnesses asked
the jury to spare Appellant’s life.  No expert
testimony was offered in mitigation.

¶ 193 In contrast, the Social History Re-
port now offered by Appellant details a life of
abuse and neglect suffered by Appellant
while growing up on his grandmother’s farm
and that he had trouble in school beginning
in kindergarten.  The description of Appel-
lant’s life on the family farm was based en-
tirely on an interview with Appellant.  The
Report states that Appellant said his grand-
mother and aunts lived in a part of the house
that had electricity and plumbing while Ap-
pellant, his brothers and uncles lived in the
part of the house without electricity or
plumbing, and had to use candles for light.
The Report states the girls in the family ate
‘‘regular food’’ while the boys ate left-over
food their grandmother had contracted to
take from several businesses to feed the live-
stock.  The Report describes an instance
where one of Appellant’s aunts ‘‘kicked him’’
out of the house and he was left to sleep in
the dog house with the dogs.  The Report
states the children were not permitted to
have friends on the farm or participate in
extracurricular school activities and only
wore used, worn out clothing.  Appellant said
he grew up believing women always had it
easier than men.

¶ 194 The Report also states that Appel-
lant’s troubles in school began as early as
kindergarten which he attended in Midwest
City, Oklahoma.  Appellant could not read
and was teased about his ‘‘old fashioned
wardrobe.’’  Appellant routinely became ag-

gressive with classmates and began fighting
in school.  When Appellant was ten years
old, his family moved to San Antonio, Texas.
Despite his inability to read, his parents did
not put him in any special education classes.
His parents believed he had an attention
deficit disorder, difficulty reading, and was
‘‘just lazy.’’

¶ 195 In the Summary/Conclusions portion,
the Report states that as a result of his
upbringing, Appellant was unable to gain a
positive view of himself or a healthy view of
relationships, that Appellant developed a co-
dependent relationship with his mother in
whom he always saw himself as the victim,
and his flawed thinking continued in his ro-
mantic relationships.  The Report concluded
that Appellant’s family’s lifestyle, and his
mother’s failure to protect him from the ne-
glect he suffered in his grandmother’s home,
made it necessary for him to rely on himself
and make decisions about the world based on
his flawed perceptions.  Ms. Moseley con-
cluded that he suffered from ‘‘undiagnosed
depression’’ and had many of the risk factors
identified by Department of Justice studies
for developing violent and delinquent behav-
ior, including inadequate parenting, maltreat-
ment and parental psychopathology.  The
Report stated that Appellant ‘‘functioned well
within a structured environment with proper
supervision.  During his periods of incarcera-
tion he was able to function within the sys-
tem and adhere to rules and authority.  In
addition, he exhibited very little aggressive
behavior while confined.  He would be ex-
pected to continue to develop healthier cop-
ing skills in a confined setting.’’

¶ 196 Regarding counsel’s failure to pres-
ent testimony from Michael Edmond, Appel-
lant offers a signed affidavit from trial coun-
sel.  (Exhibit C) Counsel states she planned
to endorse Edmond as a witness and planned
to call him to testify at trial.  She states she
requested an investigator with the Oklahoma
County Public Defender’s Office serve Ed-
mond a subpoena to testify and that he was
located in Texas.  Counsel states she in-
structed the investigator to use the long arm
statute to ensure Edmond would be in court.
However, that statute was not used and Ed-
mond was released on his promise to come to
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court.  Edmond did not appear for court and
the defense was unable to call him as a
witness.

¶ 197 Having thoroughly reviewed Appel-
lant’s request for an evidentiary hearing and
supporting materials, this Court was left with
a record where it appeared Appellant was
trying to re-write his life story for mitigation
purposes.  Despite the request for an eviden-
tiary hearing under Rule 3.11(B)(3)(b), we
were unable to find that the facts as stated
were sufficient to show by clear and convinc-
ing evidence that there was a strong possibil-
ity counsel was ineffective in failing to use
the proffered evidence.11  Instead, we re-
manded for an evidentiary hearing pursuant
to Rule 3.11(A) as the information before us
was inadequate for us to fully address the
issue of counsel’s effectiveness.

¶ 198 An evidentiary hearing was held in
the District Court of Oklahoma County and
in accordance with this Court’s request, the
trial court’s written findings of fact and con-
clusions of law along with transcripts of the
hearing were filed in this Court.  The Dis-
trict Court was directed to determine:  1)
whether the evidence proffered in the appli-
cation was available at the time of trial;  2)
whether counsel conducted a reasonable in-
vestigation of the proffered evidence;  3)
whether counsel made a strategic decision
concerning use of the evidence;  4) whether
false evidence concerning Appellant’s life his-
tory has been presented either at trial or in
these affidavits;  5) whether Ms. Moseley was
qualified to provide the analysis and conclu-
sions contained in her report;  and 6) wheth-
er her report was based on anything other
than speculation and lay opinion.  See 59 O.S.
Supp.2007, § 1250.1(20);  59 O.S. Supp.2007,
§ 1261.1.

¶ 199 The District Court stated in its find-
ings of fact and conclusions of law, that it
took testimony from five (5) witnesses:  Mat-
tie Irvin;  Leon Wallace, Sr.;  Selonda Mose-
ley;  Tom Chaney, mitigation investigator

from the Oklahoma County Public Defend-
er’s Office assigned to Appellant’s case;  and
Catherine Hammarsten, trial counsel.  Brief-
ly, the trial court made the following find-
ings:  1) evidence proffered in the application
concerning Appellant’s harsh upbringing on
his grandmother’s farm was available at the
time of trial;  2) counsel and her investigators
conducted a reasonable investigation of all
areas of Appellant’s life, including the prof-
fered evidence;  3) counsel made a strategic
decision concerning the use of the proffered
evidence;  4) false evidence was not present-
ed at trial or on appeal concerning Appel-
lant’s life history;  5) Ms. Moseley was
trained and qualified to provide the analysis
and conclusions contained in her Social His-
tory Report;  and 6) the conclusions in Ms.
Moseley’s report were based on her training
and experience.

[83] ¶ 200 Armed with the information
contained in the record of the evidentiary
hearing, we can now address Appellant’s
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.
The standard of review for claims of ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel is that set forth in
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687,
104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).
Ryder, 2004 OK CR 2, ¶ 85, 83 P.3d at 875–
876.  Strickland sets forth the two-part test
which must be applied to determine whether
a defendant has been denied effective assis-
tance of counsel.  First, the defendant must
show that counsel’s performance was defi-
cient, and second, he must show the deficient
performance prejudiced the defense.  Unless
the defendant makes both showings, ‘‘it can-
not be said that the conviction TTT resulted
from a breakdown in the adversary process
that renders the result unreliable.’’  Id.,
quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct.
at 2064.

[84–86] ¶ 201 To prevail on the first
prong of the Strickland test, an appellant
bears the burden of establishing that his trial

11. Without admitting the truth or accuracy of the
information provided by Appellant, or that a
meritorious claim of ineffective assistance was
raised, the State also requested an evidentiary
hearing ‘‘out of abundance of caution and with a
firm understanding of the reality of today’s capi-
tal jurisprudence.’’  (State’s response, pg. 8).

Despite the language of our order, the District
Court held a hearing pursuant to Rule
3.11(B)(3)(b) and found counsel was not defi-
cient, but presented a coherent and logical theo-
ry of mitigation in keeping with all professional
standards of capital defense.
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counsel ‘‘made errors so serious that counsel
was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaran-
teed the defendant by the Sixth Amend-
ment.’’  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct.
at 2064.  Review of counsel’s performance
under this prong is ‘‘highly deferential.’’  Id.
at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052.  ‘‘[A] court must
indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s
conduct falls within the wide range of reason-
able professional assistance;  that is, the de-
fendant must overcome the presumption
that, under the circumstances, the challenged
action might be considered sound trial strate-
gy.’’  Id. (internal quotations omitted).  See
also Ryder, 2004 OK CR 2, ¶ 85, 83 P.3d at
875 (‘‘Strickland applies the presumption
that trial counsel was competent to provide
the guiding hand that the accused needed’’).

¶ 202 Both the United States Supreme
Court and this Court have declined to articu-
late specific guidelines for appropriate attor-
ney conduct and instead have emphasized
that ‘‘[t]he proper measure of attorney per-
formance remains simply reasonableness un-
der prevailing professional norms.’’  Wiggins
v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527,
2535, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) citing Strick-
land, at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052.  See also Bobby
v. Van Hook, ––– U.S. ––––, 130 S.Ct. 13, 16,
175 L.Ed.2d 255 (2009) (‘‘[t]hat standard
[Strickland ] is necessarily a general one.
No particular set of detailed rules for coun-
sel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account
of the variety of circumstances faced by de-
fense counsel or the range of legitimate deci-
sions regarding how best to represent a
criminal defendant.’’);  Ryder, 2004 OK CR 2,
¶ 85, 83 P.3d at 876 (‘‘[t]his Court has stated
the issue is whether counsel exercised the
skill, judgment and diligence of a reasonably
competent defense attorney in light of his
overall performance’’), citing Bryson v. State,
876 P.2d 240, 264 (Okl.Cr.1994).

[87] ¶ 203 At the evidentiary hearing, tri-
al counsel was not asked and did not specifi-
cally state why she did not offer as a witness
Ms. Moseley or another similarly qualified
expert.  Trial counsel did testify that she had
used Ms. Moseley in prior cases to conduct a
social history, which included basically inter-
viewing everyone in the defendant’s family
and then testifying in court what she learned

about the defendant’s life.  Counsel testified
that in the present case, she, her investiga-
tors and interns in the Public Defender’s
Office interviewed Appellant and his family.

¶ 204 Counsel testified that she was an
experienced capital litigator having over ten
years experience.  She testified that when
she was assigned Appellant’s case (she was
the third lead attorney assigned to the case)
she familiarized herself with the file, met
with Appellant and had certain investigations
done.  She stated that as with all capital
cases defended by the Public Defender’s Of-
fice, an investigator is specially assigned to
find and develop mitigation evidence.

¶ 205 Tom Chaney testified that he was the
mitigation investigator in Appellant’s case.
Mr. Chaney testified he had nine years expe-
rience as a mitigation investigator.  He said
that in Appellant’s case, he interviewed six to
ten of Appellant’s family members, gathered
school records and police reports on Appel-
lant, and photographed the scene where Ap-
pellant’s brother had been killed.

¶ 206 Trial counsel also testified that be-
tween herself, investigators and interns in
the Public Defender’s Office numerous family
members of Appellant had been interviewed
and a clear theme of mitigation emerged
several months prior to trial.  This theme did
not include presentation of a Social History
Report which necessarily included a broad
overview of Appellant’s life.  Based upon in-
formation gathered from the investigators
and interviews, counsel chose to limit the
mitigation evidence presented to the jury to
show that Appellant became involved in a life
of crime in his teenage years due to bad
parenting and that he had other family mem-
bers who loved and supported him.

¶ 207 This is not a case of counsel’s failure
to investigate for Appellant makes no claim
that counsel failed to discover the informa-
tion contained in the Social History Report.
In fact, while the Social History Report was
not prepared until after trial, the record indi-
cates trial counsel was aware of much of the
information contained in the report.  In-
stead, Appellant’s argument is that counsel
was ineffective for failing to present expert
testimony to tie all the mitigation evidence
together.
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¶ 208 Appellant has failed to overcome the
presumption that counsel’s conduct might be
considered sound trial strategy.  Counsel
was clearly aware of the information which
would later be contained in the Social Histo-
ry Report.  As discussed further in the por-
tion of this opinion addressing the absence of
Appellant’s brother at trial, the record indi-
cates counsel decided that under the circum-
stances, the best mitigation case was a limit-
ed one, focusing only on certain aspects of
Appellant’s life.  This Court has held that
‘‘[s]o long as the choices are informed ones,
counsel’s decision to pursue one strategy
over others is ‘virtually unchallengeable.’ ’’
Jones v. State, 2006 OK CR 5, ¶ 78, 128 P.3d
521, 545, quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at
690–91, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.  See also Snow v.
State, 1994 OK CR 39, ¶ 17, 876 P.2d 291, 296
(‘‘[a]s there is no claim defense counsel was
not aware of these witnesses, the decision not
to call them must be considered reasonable
trial tactics.  Reasonable trial tactics, even
those which ultimately are not successful, are
not grounds for finding trial counsel ineffec-
tive.’’)

¶ 209 Further, by not offering a Social
History Report, counsel kept from the jury
much information which would not have been
helpful to Appellant and might even have
been counterproductive.  Specifically, infor-
mation that Appellant began ‘‘gang-banging’’
and selling drugs when he was 12 years old;
during his school years he sold drugs, ‘‘stole
things and got into trouble’’;  that and that
although he was small in stature, Appellant
gained respect by beating up big kids.

¶ 210 If the Social History Report had
been offered, the jury would also have heard
that Appellant went through the San Marcus
court system, was adjudicated an adult and
sentenced to boot camp.  However, upon his
release, he resumed his criminal behavior
and within one month, had new criminal
charges filed against him.  At the age of 17,
Appellant was sentenced to 15 years in an

adult facility in the Texas Department of
Corrections.  Appellant received numerous
misconduct reports while incarcerated.
Many of the incidents included physical ag-
gression toward other inmates and staff.  He
was 28 years old when he was released from
prison and moved to Oklahoma City. The
jury might also have heard about Appellant’s
1995 mental health evaluation and treatment
while in the custody of the Texas Depart-
ment of Corrections.  Granted, by the time
the defense presented its mitigation evi-
dence, the jury had already heard that Ap-
pellant had prior felony convictions.  The
Social History Report contained additional
details about Appellant’s criminal past which
could have been harmful to Appellant.  We
find not taking the risk that cross-examina-
tion could reveal such negative information
which would harm Appellant’s chances for a
sentence less than death is within the realm
of reasonable professional assistance.  See
Lott v. State, 2004 OK CR 27, ¶¶ 159–160,
164, 98 P.3d 318, 356–57 (counsel’s failure to
present a Social History Report which would
not have been helpful to appellant and might
even have been counterproductive was rea-
sonable trial strategy well within the range
of professional reasonable judgment).12 The
Social History Report contained the ‘‘double
edge’’ the Supreme Court has found suffi-
cient to justify limited investigations. Id.,
2004 OK CR 27, ¶ 160 [98 P.3d 318] citing
Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776, 107 S.Ct.
3114, 97 L.Ed.2d 638 (1987).  While the Re-
port contained some information pertinent to
the jury’s sentencing decision, other informa-
tion could have bolstered the State’s case for
future dangerousness.

[88] ¶ 211 Additionally, we find Appellant
has failed to establish Strickland prejudice
by the omission of the evidence.  The mitiga-
tion evidence presented at trial showed that
Appellant’s mother physically and emotional-
ly abandoned him during his early childhood,

12. In Lott, 2004 OK CR 27, ¶ 155, 98 P.3d at
355, defense counsel presented evidence of the
appellant’s life history in a Risk Assessment Re-
port.  However, counsel did not present a Social
History Report which also presented the appel-
lant’s life history and the circumstances sur-
rounding the crimes.  This Court found that both
reports contained information unflattering to the

appellant and ‘‘[p]resenting detailed evidence
concerning the behavioral impact’’ of Appellant’s
life history of having no external or internal
controls (except when incarcerated) combined
with chronic substance abuse ‘‘could reasonably
be viewed as mitigating to one person and aggra-
vating to another’’ citing Murphy v. State, 2002
OK CR 24, ¶ 54, 47 P.3d at 886.
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leaving him to be raised by his grandmother
and aunts.  The evidence showed that when
she was around, Appellant’s mother was
emotionally abusive.  Further, the mitigation
evidence presented showed that things only
got worse for Appellant once his mother re-
entered his life and moved the family to San
Antonio.  An expert was not needed to pres-
ent a cohesive mitigation case or ‘‘connect the
dots’’ in this case as the jury could draw the
same conclusions as those in the Social Histo-
ry Report that Appellant’s criminal conduct
was the result in part of his failed relation-
ship with his mother.  See Wong v. Bel-
montes, ––– U.S. ––––, 130 S.Ct. 383, 389,
175 L.Ed.2d 328 (2009) (counsel not ineffec-
tive for failing to present expert witness in
mitigation as expert’s evidence ‘‘required
only that the jury make logical connections of
the kind a layperson is well equipped to
make.  The jury simply did not need expert
testimony to understand the ‘humanizing’ ev-
idence;  it could use its common sense or own
sense of mercy.’’)  The mere fact that more
evidence in the form of the Social History
Report could have been presented is not, in
itself, sufficient to show counsel was defi-
cient.  Wilson v. Sirmons, 536 F.3d 1064,
1077–1078 (10th Cir.2008).

¶ 212 The mitigation case presented at tri-
al was credible and well developed.  Trial
counsel chose to present evidence of Appel-
lant’s childhood through witnesses who per-
sonally interacted with Appellant and were
able to relate first hand testimony, rather
than relying on the hearsay in a Social Histo-
ry Report.  We find Appellant has failed to
carry his burden to show either deficient
performance by counsel, or prejudice from
the omission of this specific evidence.

[89] ¶ 213 We next turn to defense coun-
sel’s failure to present Appellant’s brother
Michael Edmond as a mitigation witness.  At
the evidentiary hearing, Tom Chaney testi-
fied that as a mitigation investigator in the
case, he was to secure Edmond’s presence at
trial to testify to the neglectful and abusive
environment in which he and Appellant spent
their early childhood.  Mr. Chaney testified
he traveled twice to San Antonio to meet
with Edmond and talked with him on several
occasions.  Mr. Chaney testified he found

Edmond to be ‘‘cagey’’ and not helpful.  Ed-
mond’s versions of life on the family farm
alternated between the hard, abusive up-
bringing portrayed by Appellant, and the
good, decent upbringing portrayed by Appel-
lant’s relatives.  Not only were the details he
gave about life on the farm inconsistent, they
were not corroborated by any family mem-
bers other than Appellant.  Mr. Chaney tes-
tified he suspected Edmond changed his sto-
ry about life on the farm when he realized he
was sought as a defense witness.  Edmond
became increasingly difficult to locate.  He
changed addresses and phone numbers fre-
quently and did not often make contact with
his family.  Despite assistance of an addition-
al investigator, future attempts to locate Ed-
mond were unsuccessful.  The process was
begun for securing the presence of an out-of-
state witness but Chaney was only able to
serve Edmond’s wife with the subpoena and
she did not want to cooperate.  It soon be-
came clear to Chaney that Edmond did not
want to be found.  Unable to serve Edmond
in San Antonio, Chaney returned to Okla-
homa and had a material witness warrant
issued by the district court.  The warrant
was placed onto NCIC, so if Edmond was
stopped by police anywhere in the country,
he could be returned to Oklahoma.  Chaney
also indicated he called the sheriff in the San
Antonio area and told him about the warrant
and to be looking for Edmond.  By the time
of trial, Edmond had not been located.

¶ 214 Chaney also testified that he inter-
viewed Appellant’s mother, Patricia Edmond.
He described her as ‘‘very reluctant,’’ ‘‘hard
to interview’’ and holding back information.
However, Chaney also testified that Ms. Ed-
mond appeared for trial and was willing to
testify for the defense.

¶ 215 Both Chaney and trial counsel testi-
fied they learned primarily from Appellant
that his childhood was troubled.  Relying on
Chaney’s notes from his interviews with Ap-
pellant and Edmond, defense counsel stated
that her initial theory of mitigation was to
show life on the farm was difficult for both
Appellant and Edmond.  Trial counsel testi-
fied that although Edmond recanted many
things he had told Chaney, she still wanted
him as a witness to corroborate Appellant’s

APPENDIX E



136 Okl. 268 PACIFIC REPORTER, 3d SERIES

story of his childhood.  At that point, trial
counsel had two potential theories of mitiga-
tion to present to the jury.  One theory was
that of the abusive and neglectful childhood
on the farm and the other was that life
turned bad for Appellant once he left the
protective environment of the farm and
moved to San Antonio. However, as she
learned of Chaney’s difficulty in locating Ed-
mond, she began to think she might not be
able to use him as a witness.

¶ 216 Defense counsel subsequently inter-
viewed several of Appellant’s family mem-
bers in St. Louis.  They described the family
farm as a good place, where Appellant need-
ed to be.  After these interviews, a clear
theme emerged that Appellant, Michael and
another brother ‘‘became lost’’ and fell into
criminal behavior after they moved to San
Antonio.  Counsel testified she decided that
if Edmond could not be secured as a witness,
she would proceed under the theory that
Appellant’s mother basically abandoned him,
that he had structure and loving relatives on
the farm and that things went bad when his
mother and stepfather moved him to San
Antonio.  Counsel testified she considered
this theory a more ‘‘simple theory of how
[Appellant] came to where he is’’, that it was
consistent with the evidence and would ap-
peal to the jury.

¶ 217 Counsel testified that by the time of
trial, Appellant’s mother was willing to testi-
fy, but she had resisted initial attempts to
interview her.  When the defense team final-
ly did interview her, they felt she was with-
holding information.  Counsel testified that a
strategic decision was made to claim that
Appellant’s mother was absent and unfit and
she was not called as a witness.

¶ 218 Counsel testified that she could not
remember what she did to determine if any
other person was available to testify about
the neglectful life on the farm once she
learned Edmond would not be available to
testify.  Counsel testified that had Edmond
been available to testify, that evidence would
have been presented to the jury.

¶ 219 Also testifying at the evidentiary
hearing was Appellant’s aunt, Mattie Irvin.
She gave more detailed testimony on Appel-
lant’s early childhood years than was devel-

oped at trial.  She testified the family farm
was very isolated and the children had little
interaction with other children.  On cross-
examination, she stated that when the chil-
dren were hungry, despite the presence of a
garden, chickens, pigs and cattle on the farm,
they would sort through food taken out of
restaurant dumpsters to eat.  When asked
why she had not mentioned this when she
testified at trial, she said she was never
asked.  She said she would have been willing
to provide the information had anyone asked
her questions about it prior to trial.

¶ 220 Ms. Irvin testified that on at least
two occasions, she spoke with an investigator
from the Public Defender’s Office.  She said
that in response to their questioning, she told
investigators everything she knew about Ap-
pellant’s relationships with other family
members, she described the farm and the
chores the children were expected to do.
She said none of the chores were abusive and
that they had meat from farm animals and
vegetables from the garden to eat.  She said
the family would go to local restaurants to
get left over food to slop the hogs and the
kids would ‘‘ramble’’ through it.  She said
the kids ate slop lots of times because they
were hungry and it was ‘‘good stuff.’’  Ms.
Irvin testified she never felt abused or ne-
glected on the farm, that none of the children
were physically abused, although they were
whipped when they needed discipline.  She
testified that Appellant was not physically,
emotionally, or sexually abused by his grand-
mother, and his grandmother took good care
of all of the children on the farm.

¶ 221 Appellant’s uncle, Leon Wallace, Sr.,
testified with detail about what life was like
for the children living on the farm.  He said
that in the early years on the farm, there was
no running water, gas, or electric heat and
that they used a wood burning stove. Mr.
Wallace testified that as a child, Appellant
was often upset because his mother was not
there more often to take care of him.  Mr.
Wallace said that when she was there, Appel-
lant’s mother called him lazy, stupid and
worthless.  He testified the chores the chil-
dren were expected to do on the farm and
their working outside jobs, left no time for
play and little time for sleep.  Mr. Wallace

APPENDIX E



137Okl.DAVIS v. STATE
Cite as 268 P.3d 86 (Okla.Crim.App. 2011)

said the family would go to local restaurants
and pick up garbage to feed the farm ani-
mals.  He also said the boys would eat some
of the food taken out of the dumpsters be-
cause they were hungry.  He said he did not
share that with members of the defense team
because it was personal and because people
would not understand it.  On cross-examina-
tion, he admitted it was embarrassing to talk
about eating out of dumpsters.

¶ 222 Based upon this record trial counsel
used reasonable efforts to obtain the attend-
ance of Michael Edmond at trial, but it was
clear Edmond was actively avoiding service
of process.13  Appellant offers no additional
actions counsel could have taken to secure
Edmond’s presence at trial.  Unable to se-
cure Edmond’s attendance, trial counsel
made a strategic decision to present a theory
of mitigation, based upon available evidence
that highlighted the affect on Appellant of his
departure from the family farm and move to
San Antonio.  Appellant argues that even if
counsel’s decision can be called strategic, it
was developed after trial began and without
any investigation into other family members
who could corroborate his version of life on
the farm.

¶ 223 Counsel testified at the evidentiary
hearing that if she had felt unprepared for
trial, she would have asked for a continuance.
Such a request was not made in this case.
While counsel admitted she could not remem-
ber what she did to determine if any other
person was available to testify about the
neglectful life on the farm once she learned
Edmond would not be available to testify, the
record shows she interviewed several family
members and none of them offered a version
of life on the farm similar to Appellant’s.
Now on appeal, Appellant has not offered
any additional family members who would
have corroborated his version.

¶ 224 Even if Edmond had been served
with a subpoena there is no guarantee he
would have actually been present for trial or

that his testimony would have corroborated
Appellant’s version of life on the farm.  Ap-
pellant has not provided an affidavit or any
sworn statement from Edmond describing
what he would have testified to at trial.  De-
fense counsel testified she never personally
interviewed Edmond, so she could not defini-
tively state what he would have testified to or
if she would have actually put him on the
witness stand.

[90, 91] ¶ 225 Counsel does not have an
obligation to introduce any and all evidence
that might conceivably be considered mitigat-
ing in the hope that it might outweigh the
aggravating evidence and save the defen-
dant’s life.  Lott, 2004 OK CR 27, ¶ 162, 98
P.3d at 356.  Counsel’s obligation is to use
reasonable professional judgment in making
decisions concerning the defendant’s case.
Id. Counsel’s decision to go with the consis-
tent corroborated version of Appellant’s life
offered by family instead of the version of-
fered by Appellant and supported only by the
sure to be impeached Edmond must be con-
sidered reasonable trial tactics.  The record
shows that counsel, an experienced capital
litigator, made the decision after a thorough
investigation.  Regarding strategic decisions,
Strickland provides:

‘‘[S]trategic choices made after thorough
investigation of law and facts relevant to
plausible options are virtually unchallenge-
able;  and strategic choices made after less
than complete investigation are reasonable
precisely to the extent that reasonable pro-
fessional judgments support the limitations
on investigation.  In other words, counsel
has a duty to make reasonable investiga-
tions or to make a reasonable decision that
makes particular investigations unneces-
sary.

Id., at 690–691, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

¶ 226 Investigations in this case presented
counsel with two different versions of Appel-
lant’s early childhood.  In one version, sur-

13. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel and
investigator Chaney disagreed on whether the
paperwork for securing the attendance of an out-
of-state witness had been processed and a sub-
poena issued.  Chaney testified that the paper-
work had been completed and the subpoena is-
sued.  However, counsel testified that Chaney

told her Edmond had promised Chaney he would
appear therefore the paperwork was not pro-
cessed.  Regardless of whether the paperwork
was properly completed and the subpoena is-
sued, the record shows the defense used reason-
able efforts to ensure the attendance of a recalci-
trant witness.
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rounded by an extended family, he was
raised on the family farm by a strict but
loving grandmother who provided food, shel-
ter and discipline and where Appellant was
not abused or neglected.  In the other ver-
sion, the children on the farm were subjected
to a hard life of hunger, abuse and depriva-
tion.  The first version was supported by
numerous family members, while the second
version was supported only by Appellant and
an uncooperative brother.  Counsel’s decision
to present the first version to the jury is
actually supported by the evidentiary hearing
testimony of Appellant’s relatives who testi-
fied at trial.  While both Ms. Irvin and Mr.
Wallace testified that while the children
sometimes ate the left-over food or the food
from the dumpsters, this was not because
they had not been fed by their grandmother.
Further, their testimony supports a conclu-
sion that Appellant is more likely to paint a
bleak picture of his life on the farm because
he was subject to discipline and missed his
mother.  Once counsel decided to focus her
theory of mitigation on Appellant’s good life
while on the family farm and descent into
crime after moving off the family farm, and
as this was supported by sufficient credible
evidence, it was reasonable for counsel not to
present a potentially contradictory second
theory of mitigation.

[92] ¶ 227 Even if Edmond had been lo-
cated and presented as a witness, and even if
he testified consistently with Appellant’s ver-
sion of their childhood on the farm, the spec-
ulative claim that the jury would have chosen
any sentence other than death for this ruth-
less slaying falls short of any reasonable
probability that the outcome of the trial
would have been different.  The evidence in
aggravation was great and supported the
finding of three aggravating circumstances.
We find Appellant has failed to carry his
burden to show either deficient performance
by counsel, or prejudice from the omission of
this specific evidence.  This proposition of
error is denied.

ACCUMULATION OF ERROR CLAIM

[93, 94] ¶ 228 In his twentieth proposition
of error, Appellant asserts that cumulative
error warrants a new trial or a modification

of his sentence.  A cumulative error argu-
ment has no merit when this Court fails to
sustain any of the other errors raised by
Appellant.  Warner, 2006 OK CR 40, ¶ 223,
144 P.3d at 896.  However, when there have
been numerous irregularities during the
course of a trial that tend to prejudice the
rights of the defendant, reversal will be re-
quired if the cumulative effect of all the
errors is to deny the defendant a fair trial.
Id. While certain errors did occur in this
case, even considered together, they were
not so egregious or numerous as to have
denied Appellant a fair trial.  Therefore, no
new trial or modification of sentence is war-
ranted and this assignment of error is de-
nied.

MANDATORY SENTENCE REVIEW

[95] ¶ 229 In his twenty-first assignment
of error, Appellant contends his sentence
should be modified under our mandatory sen-
tence review.  He argues his death sentence
was rendered arbitrarily in this case as a
result of passion and prejudice caused by all
of the foregoing errors and due to his inabili-
ty to provide a vehicle for the jury to consid-
er self defense or manslaughter and the
large amount of evidence he was not allowed
to present concerning the decedent’s charac-
ter.  Appellant further argues his execution
would violate the Eighth Amendment prohi-
bition against cruel and unusual punishment.

¶ 230 The allegations of error raised by
Appellant have been thoroughly addressed in
this opinion.  While certain errors did occur
in this case, when considered individually or
cumulatively, they were not so egregious or
numerous as to have denied Appellant a fair
trial or to warrant modification of his sen-
tence.

¶ 231 Pursuant to 21 O.S.2001, § 701.13(C),
we must determine (1) whether the sentence
of death was imposed under the influence of
passion, prejudice or any other arbitrary fac-
tor, and (2) whether the evidence supports
the jury’s finding of the aggravating circum-
stances as enumerated in 21 O.S.2001,
§ 701.12. Turning to the second portion of
this mandate, the jury found the existence of
three (3) aggravating circumstances:  1) the
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defendant knowingly created a great risk of
death to more than one person;  2) the mur-
der was committed by a person while serving
a sentence of imprisonment on conviction of a
felony;  and 3) there exists a probability that
Appellant will commit criminal acts of vio-
lence that would constitute a continuing
threat to society.  21 O.S.2001,
§ 701.12(2)(6)(7).  We have previously con-
sidered the evidence offered in support of
each aggravator and found sufficient evi-
dence to support each aggravator found by
the jury.  See inter alia Propositions XIV,
XV, XVI.

¶ 232 Appellant presented nine witnesses
in mitigation.  These included his father, two
brothers, an uncle, a cousin and four aunts.
These witnesses testified generally that Ap-
pellant had a family who loved him and
would continue to have a relationship with
him while incarcerated;  that he was under
the influence of emotional distress at the
time of the shooting;  he was taken away
from a large, loving extended family at a
critical stage of his life;  after being torn
from his large, loving extended family, he
and his brothers lived in San Antonio, Texas,
without necessary discipline and supervision;
his uncle Tech. Sgt. Leon Wallace, twice
attempted to provide Appellant with an ap-
propriate role model and structure;  Appel-
lant was raised away from his natural father
and half-siblings;  his father was unaware of
Appellant’s legal situation until recently and
he would have been involved in his son’s life
had he known;  Appellant has a daughter
whom he loves;  Appellant’s daughter has a
half-brother who Appellant cares for and
both children may one day want to know
Appellant and be a part of his life;  and while
on parole, Appellant reported regularly to his
parole office and was employed.  This evi-
dence was summarized and presented to the
jury in Instruction No 11 along with any
other mitigating evidence the jury might find
existed.

¶ 233 Upon our review of the record and
careful weighing of the aggravating circum-
stances and the mitigating evidence, we find
the sentence of death to be factually substan-
tiated and appropriate.  Under the record
before this Court, we cannot say the jury was
influenced by passion, prejudice, or any other
arbitrary factor contrary to 21 O.S.2001,
§ 701.13(C), in finding that the aggravating
circumstances outweighed the mitigating evi-
dence.  Accordingly, finding no error war-
ranting reversal or modification, this appeal
is denied.

DECISION

¶ 234 The JUDGMENT and SENTENCE
for First Degree Murder is AFFIRMED, as
are the JUDGMENTS and SENTENCES
for two counts of Shooting with Intent to Kill
and one count of Felonious Possession of
Loaded Firearm.  The case is REMANDED
to the District Court for an Order Nunc Pro
Tunc reflecting that the conviction in Count
IV, of Felonious Possession of Loaded Fire-
arm, in violation of 21 O.S.2001, § 1283.
Pursuant to Rule 3.15, Rules of the Okla-
homa Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22,
Ch.18, App. (2011), the MANDATE is OR-
DERED issued upon the delivery and filing
of this decision.

A. JOHNSON, P.J., C. JOHNSON and
WINCHESTER, JJ.14:  specially concur.

LEWIS, V.P.J.:  concur in result.

A. JOHNSON, Presiding Judge, Specially
Concurring.

¶ 1 I agree with the decision to affirm the
convictions and sentences in this case.  I
write separately, however, to clarify two
points.  First, I write to underscore and
make clear that the opinion expressed in
footnote 6 is solely that of the authoring
judge and not the other judges of the court.
Changing the test for instruction on lesser
offenses is not necessary.  Our existing case
law on this issue is sound and proven.1  See

14. The Honorable James Winchester, Justice of
the Oklahoma Supreme Court, sitting by assign-
ment.

1. Under a strict elements approach, a lesser in-
cluded offense is an offense composed of some,

but not all, of the elements of the greater crime,
and which does not have any element not includ-
ed in the greater offense.  Instructions on lesser
included offenses can only be given if the ele-
ments of the charged crime necessarily include
all the elements of the lesser crime and the lesser
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Shrum v. State, 1999 OK CR 41, ¶ 10, 991
P.2d 1032, 1036 (under the evidence approach
all lesser forms of homicide are necessarily
included and instructions on lesser forms of
homicide should be submitted if they are
supported by the evidence).  Furthermore,
the evidence test adopted in Shrum is consis-
tent with this Court’s earlier case law in
homicide cases, holding that trial courts
should look to the facts of the case to deter-
mine whether instructions on lesser offenses
of homicide are warranted, regardless of any
strict elements test or two step process.  See
e.g., Tarter v. State, 1961 OK CR 18, ¶ 35,
359 P.2d 596, 601 (affirming that trial courts
should give the defendant the benefit of any
doubt which the evidence may suggest, and
instruct the jury on the law of each degree of
homicide which the evidence tends to prove);
Smith v. State, 1936 OK CR 50, 59 Okl.Cr.
111, 115, 56 P.2d 923, 925 (this court has
uniformly held that in a trial for murder the
trial court must instruct the jury, with or
without request, on the law of manslaughter
if there is any substantial evidence that the
crime charged may have been committed un-
der circumstances which would reduce it
from murder to manslaughter and any doubt
about whether the crime is murder or man-
slaughter should be resolved in favor of the
accused);  James v. State, 1918 OK CR 6, 14
Okl.Cr. 204, 208, 169 P. 1127, 1128 (‘‘In a
prosecution for murder the court should sub-
mit the case to the jury for consideration
upon every degree of homicide which the
evidence in any reasonable view of it sug-
gests, and if the evidence tends to prove
different degrees, the law on each degree
which the evidence tends to prove should be
submitted to the jury’’);  and see Carter v.
State, 1994 OK CR 49, ¶ 40, 879 P.2d 1234,
1249 (‘‘In a murder prosecution, the trial
court is to instruct on every degree of homi-
cide which the evidence tends to prove.’’).
The claims raised by Davis in this appeal

have been decided and rejected based upon
our existing case law.

[96–98] ¶ 2 And second, I write to note
that the opinion of the Court should not be
read as changing the quantum of evidence
necessary for an instruction on a lesser in-
cluded offense.  If evidence supports a lesser
offense, even if that evidence is contradicted
by other evidence which suggests a defen-
dant may have committed the charged crime,
a trial court should give a lesser offense
instruction.  Prima facie evidence is defined
as evidence ‘‘which, if unexplained or uncon-
tradicted, is sufficient to sustain a judgment
in favor of the issue which it supports, but
which may be contradicted by other evi-
dence.’’  Black’s Law Dictionary 1190 (Sixth
Edition 1990).  Where the purported evi-
dence supporting a lesser offense, accepted
as true, does not tend to establish a lower
grade of homicide—as was the case here—
the trial court should not give jury instruc-
tions on any lesser form of homicide.  See
Newsted v. Gibson, 158 F.3d 1085, 1092 (10th
Cir.1998).  Where, however, the evidence, if
believed, supports a lesser offense, even if
contradicted, the issue should be submitted
to the jury for resolution.

¶ 3 I am authorized to state that Judge C.
JOHNSON and Justice WINCHESTER join
this special concurrence.

LEWIS, Vice Presiding Judge, Concurs in
Results.

¶ 1 While I concur in the results of this
Opinion, I write separately to address the
issue of instructions on lesser included of-
fenses in homicide cases.  I applaud the
Opinion’s author in his adherence to this
Court’s holding in Shrum v. State, 1999 OK
CR 41, 991 P.2d 1032.  This Court in Shrum
recognized that an elements test in determin-

offense is necessarily committed every time the
greater crime is committed.  The effect of this
approach is to restrict instructions on lesser of-
fenses at the trial level regardless of the evidence.
Even if the trial evidence supported instruction
on a lesser crime, unless its elements were com-
pletely encompassed by those of the charged
crime, no instruction could be given.  What this
means in homicide cases is that there are no
lesser included offenses of first degree malice

aforethought murder because the statutory ele-
ments of the lesser forms of homicide are not
necessarily included in the greater crime.  For
example, provocation, adequate or otherwise, is
not present in every first degree malice afore-
thought murder case.  As such, first degree heat
of passion manslaughter is not a lesser included
offense, despite being recognized as one for
years.
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ing lesser included offenses to first degree
murder is wholly unworkable and adopted a
test which looks to, not only the elements,
but also the lesser crimes the evidence tends
to prove.  Id. ¶¶ 9–10, at 1035–36.  The
Shrum test follows this Court’s historical
treatment of instructions on lesser forms of
homicide, by instructing trial courts to look
to the facts of their cases to determine
whether instructions on lesser forms of homi-
cide are warranted.1  The litany of cases
instructing trial courts to examine the evi-
dence to determine which instructions on
lesser forms of homicide are warranted rep-
resents a foundational tenet in Oklahoma’s
case law which is sound and need not be
abrogated.

¶ 2 The Opinion seems to advance a two
step process in homicide cases;  however, any
two step analysis is superfluous, because the
legal determination is already made, and the
trial court need only look to the evidence to
determine whether instructions on lesser
forms of homicide are supported.2  Under
our evidence code, the ‘‘prima facie ’’ evi-
dence may come from any relevant source,
and the jury may weigh its credibility.  As
the Opinion states, the evidence in this case,
primarily coming from the defendant’s state-
ments, do not support a prima facie case for
instructions on the lesser offenses of first
degree murder.

¶ 3 I further want to clarify that the writ-
ing in footnote 6 of the Opinion contains the
views of the author and do not represent the
Opinion of this writer.  I am authorized to

state that Justice WINCHESTER joins me
in this opinion.

C. JOHNSON, Judge, Specially
Concurring.

¶ 1 While the author has affirmed in foot-
note 6 his minority position regarding the
submission of instructions on lesser included
offenses, I write specially to reaffirm my
position on the same.  As we noted in Shrum
v. State, 1999 OK CR 41, 991 P.2d 1032, this
Court has used both the statutory elements
test and the evidence test at different times
in the past.  In Shrum, the Court gave
thoughtful and thorough consideration to the
different tests and unequivocally adopted the
evidence test to determine what constitutes a
lesser included offense.  Id. 1999 OK CR 41,
¶ 10, 991 P.2d at 1036.  This means, in the
present case as it did in Shrum, that ‘‘all
lesser forms of homicide are necessarily in-
cluded and instructions on lesser forms of
homicide should be administered if they are
supported by the evidence.’’  Id.

¶ 2 Of course, in order to ensure that
instructions on lesser included offenses are
given when required, the evidence test must
be properly applied.  Thus, I feel it is im-
portant to address the majority opinion’s
discussion regarding the quantum of evi-
dence necessary to warrant jury instructions
on a lesser included offense.  The majority
correctly notes that ‘‘[a] defendant’s state-
ments concerning the homicide are sufficient
to warrant a jury instruction only if those
statements are supported by other evidence
presented at trial.’’  This is an accurate
statement of law.1  However, the majority

1. Hanna v. State, 1977 OK CR 54, ¶ 25, 560 P.2d
985, 991;  Tarter v. State, 1961 OK CR 18, ¶ 35,
359 P.2d 596, 601;  Welborn v. State, 1940 OK
CR 95, 70 Okl.Cr. 97, 105–06, 105 P.2d 187,
190–91;  Smith v. State, 1936 OK CR 50, 59
Okl.Cr. 111, 115–16, 56 P.2d 923, 925 (and cases
cited therein);  James v. State, 1918 OK CR 6, 14
Okl.Cr. 204, 208, 169 P. 1127, 1128 (‘‘In a prose-
cution for murder the court should submit the
case to the jury for consideration upon every
degree of homicide which the evidence in any
reasonable view of it suggests, and if the evi-
dence tends to prove different degrees, the law
on each degree which the evidence tends to
prove should be submitted to the jury’’);  Turner
v. State, 1912 OK CR 370, 8 Okl.Cr. 11, 126 P.
452, 462 (an Information which charges a homi-
cide committed with premeditated design to ef-
fect the death includes every form, grade, and

degree of homicide);  also see Carter v. State,
1994 OK CR 49, ¶ 40, 879 P.2d 1234, 1249 (In a
murder prosecution, the trial court is to instruct
on every degree of homicide which the evidence
tends to prove.).

2. The discussion of a two step process in Shrum
is merely an introduction to the different tests
used by courts across the country and does not
necessarily reflect the method of determining
lesser offenses in Oklahoma.

1. This statement is based largely on the Tenth
Circuit Court of Appeals’ ruling in Newsted v.
Gibson, 158 F.3d 1085, 1092 (10th Cir.1998),
where the only evidence supporting the lesser
offense was the defendant’s own statement which
was inconsistent with all other evidence and even
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later narrows this requirement by stating,
‘‘If [Appellant’s statement about the homi-
cide] is contradictory to or inconsistent with
other evidence presented at trial, it is insuf-
ficient to warrant a jury instruction on a
lesser included offense.’’  This latter state-
ment is simply incorrect.  Under this test a
defendant would never be entitled to instruc-
tions on a lesser included offense as it is in-
conceivable that there would ever be an in-
stance where a defendant’s statement did
not conflict with other evidence.

¶ 3 In order to be entitled to instructions
on a lesser included offense, there must be
prima facie evidence of the lesser offense.
Prima facie evidence is legally defined as
evidence ‘‘which, if unexplained or uncontra-
dicted, is sufficient to sustain a judgment in
favor of the issue, but which may be contra-
dicted by other evidence.’’  Black’s Law Dic-
tionary 1190 (Sixth Edition 1990).  Thus, if
the defendant’s statement about the homicide
indicates he has committed a lesser offense
and is also supported by some evidence pre-
sented at trial, even if there is other evidence
which is in conflict and contradictory, it will
provide the quantum of evidence necessary
to entitle the defendant to instructions on the
lesser included form homicide that the evi-
dence supports.  Appellant’s statements in
the present case did not indicate the commis-
sion of a lesser included crime, were unsup-
ported by other evidence, were uncorrob-
orated and were contrary to and inconsistent
with all other evidence presented at trial.
Accordingly, he was not entitled to instruc-
tions on the lesser included offenses.

¶ 4 As Judge Arlene Johnson’s special con-
currence in this case also addresses my con-
cerns, I join her special writing.  Additional-
ly, I am authorized to state that Justice
WINCHESTER joins in my special concur-
rence.

,
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KEITH & ASSOCIATES, INC.,
Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

Julia Mary GLENN, Defendant/Appellant.

No. 108,760.
Released for Publication by Order of the Court
of Civil Appeals of Oklahoma, Division No. 3.

Court of Civil Appeals of Oklahoma,
Division No. 3.

Oct. 14, 2011.

Background:  Employer brought action
against former employee to enforce non-
compete agreement. The District Court,
Tulsa County, Dana Lynn Kuehn, J.,
granted employer’s oral motion for default
judgment and then denied employee’s sub-
sequent motion to vacate default judg-
ment. Employee appealed.

Holding:  The Court of Civil Appeals, Bay
Mitchell, P.J., held that after former em-
ployee entered appearance in employer’s
suit, employer was required to provide em-
ployee copy of motion for default judgment
at least five days prior to hearing on mo-
tion.
Reversed and remanded.

1. Judgment O123(1)
After former employee entered appear-

ance in employer’s action to enforce noncom-
pete agreement, employer was required to
provide employee, through her attorney,
copy of motion for default judgment at least
five days prior to hearing on motion.  12
Okl.St.Ann. § 2005.2.

2. Appeal and Error O957(1)
 Judgment O139

Generally, a decision to vacate a default
judgment rests in the sound legal discretion
of the trial court and it will not be disturbed
on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.

3. Judgment O139
A decision to vacate a default judgment

and whether that constitutes an abuse of

conflicted with other statements he had made about the crime.
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NICHOLAS ALEXANDER DAVIS,

Petitioner, ) NOT FOR PUBLICATION

v. ) No. PCD-2007-1201

STATE OF OKLAHOMA,

Respondent

OPINION DENYING APPLICATION FOR POST-CONVICTION
RELIEF AND MOTION FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING

LUMPKIN, JUDGE:

In this post-conviction application, Petitioner Nicholas Alexander Davis,

seeks relief from his convictions for First Degree Malice Murder (Count I) (21

O.S.200 1, § 70 1.7(A)), two counts of Shooting with Intent to Kill After Former

Conviction of Two or More Felonies (Counts II and III), (21 O.S.200 1, § 652),

and Felonious Possession of a Loaded Firearm, After Former Conviction of a

Felony, (Count IV) (21 O.S.2001, § 1289), and sentences of death and

imprisonment for forty-five (45) years, sixty-five (65) years and twenty-five (25)

years, respectively, in Case No. CF-2004-347 from the District Court of

Oklahoma County. This Court affirmed the judgments and sentences in Davis

v. State, 2011 OK CR , P.3d . Petitioner’s Original Application for

Post-Conviction Relief is filed in accordance with 22 O.S.Supp2004, § 1089.

1
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The narrow scope of review available under the amended Post-Conviction

Procedure Act is well established. See Harris v. State, 2007 OK CR 32, ¶ 2, 167

P.3d 438, 441; Browning v. State, 2006 OK CR 37, ¶ 2, 144 P.3d 155, 156;

Pvfurphy v. State, 2005 OK CR 25, ¶ 3, 124 P.3d 1198, 1199. The Post-

Conviction Procedure Act was neither designed nor intended to provide

applicants another direct appeal. Murphy, 2005 OK CR 25, ¶ 3, 124 P.3d at

1199. The Act has always provided petitioners with very limited grounds upon

which to base a collateral attack on their judgments. Id. Accordingly, claims

that could have been raised in previous appeals but were not are generally

waived; claims raised on direct appeal are resjudicczta. Id.

Pursuant to 22 O.S.Supp.2006, § 1089(C)(1), the only claims which will be

considered on post-conviction are those which “[w]ere not and could not have

been raised” on direct appeal and which ‘support a conclusion either that the

outcome of the trial would have been different but for the errors or that the

defendant is factually innocent.” A capital post-conviction claim could not have

been raised on direct appeal if: (1) it is an ineffective assistance of trial or

appellate counsel claim which meets the statute’s definition of ineffective counsel;

or (2) the legal basis of the claim was not recognized or could not have been

reasonably formulated from a decision of the United States Supreme Court, a

federal appellate court or an appellate court of this State, or is a new rule of

constitutional law given retroactive effect by the Supreme Court or an appellate

court of this State. 22 O.S.Supp.2006, § 1089(D)(4)(b) & 1089(D)(9). Should a

petitioner meet this burden, this Court shall consider the claim only if it

2
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“sjupports a conclusion either that the outcome of the trial would have been

different but for the errors or that the defendant is factually innocent.” Id.

In the lirst of four grounds for relief, Petitioner argues trial and appellate

counsel rendered ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth, Eighth and

Fourteenth Amendments and the Oklahoma Constitution by failing to

adequately investigate, develop and present psychological evidence on

Petitioner’s behalf. Specifically, Petitioner asserts that had counsel

investigated and developed psychological evidence, it could have been shown

that he suffered Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Petitioner argues this

evidence was relevant in the first stage of trial to the issue of his intent at the

time of the offense, and that if it had been presented in the second stage of

trial, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the sentencing

proceeding would have been different.

In support of his arguments, Petitioner offers a sworn affidavit from

licensed psychologist Laura Duke, Ph.D. (Appendix, Exhibit 3) She states she

was asked by appellate counsel (post-conviction counsel) to review relevant

records and meet with Petitioner concerning his mental status. Dr. Duke

states she spent approximately five hours with Petitioner and administered the

following tests: Mini-Mental State Examination; Wide Range Achievement Test

4, reading subtest only; Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence; Personality

Assessment Inventory and the Trauma Symptom Inventory. Dr. Duke states

the test results suggested mild cognitive impairment. She opines that based

upon information provided by Petitioner, her testing, and information provided

3
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by counse[ concerning Petitioner’s traumatic childhood, Petitioner meets the

criteria lbr PTSD as described in the Diagnostic and Statitstical Manual of

Mental Disorders.

A claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel is appropriate for post-

conviction review if it has a factual basis that could not have been ascertained

through the exercise of reasonable diligence on or before the time of the direct

appeal. 22 O.S.Supp.2004, § 1089(D)(4)(b)(1). A claim of ineffective assistance

of appellate counsel may he raised for the first time Ofl post-conviction. 22

O.S.Supp.2004, § 1089(D)(4)(b)(2). All post-conviction claims of ineffective

assistance are reviewed under the standard set forth in Strickland v.

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). See also

Cargle v. Mullin, 317 F.3d 1196 (10th Cir. 2003); Coddington v. State, 2011 OK

CR 21, ¶ 3, 259 P.3d 833, 835; Harris, 2007 OK CR 32, ¶ 3, 167 P.3d at 441;

Davis v. State, 2005 OK CR 21, ¶ 5, 123 P.3d 243, 245.

Petitioner must show that counsel’s performance was deficient, and that

he was so prejudiced by that performance that he was deprived of a fair trial

with a reliable result. Coddington, 2011 OK CR 21, ¶ 3, 259 P.3d at 835-836

citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. We will not find counsel

was ineffective if Petitioner was not prejudiced by counsels act or omission. Id.

A finding of prejudice requires a showing of “a reasonable probability that, but

for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have

been different.” Id. “The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not

just conceivable.” Id. citing Harrington v. Richter, U.S. , 131 S.Ct. 770,

4
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790, 792, 178 L.Icl.2d 624 (2011). There is a strong presumption that

counsels conduct is within the wide range of reasonable professional conduct.

Id. Petitioner must show “that counsels representation was unreasonable

under prevailing professional norms and that the challenged action could not

be considered sound trial strate.” Id. A strong presumption exists that, where

counsel focuses on some issues to the exclusion of others, this reflects a

strategic decision rather than neglect. Id.

The record reflects a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was raised

on direct appeal. Petitioner argued that trial counsel’s performance in

preparing and presenting the case in mitigation was deficient and that if trial

counsel had included expert testimony, in conjunction with lay witnesses, “a

more cohesive theory of defense” would have been presented to the jury.

Accompanying the direct appeal brief was a Rule 3.11 Motion to Supplement

Direct Appeal Record or For an Evidentiary Hearing on Sixth Amendment

Grounds. Included as an exhibit was an affidavit from Selonda Moseley, a

licensed clinical social worker who, at the request of appellate counsel, had

prepared a Social History Report on Petitioner.

Finding the information in the motion inadequate for us to fully address

the issue of counsel’s effectiveness, we remanded for an evidentiary hearing

pursuant to Rule 3.11(A), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title

22, Ch. 18, App. (2009). Pursuant to this Court’s order, the evidentiary

hearing was held and the findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted to

this Court. Armed with the information contained in the record of the

5
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cvidentiary hearing, we thoroughly addressed the claim of ineffective assistance

of counsel and found Petitioner failed to carry his burden to show either

deficient performance by counsel, or prejudice from the omission of the Social

History Report.

As the issue of ineffective assistance of trial counsel was raised and

addressed on direct appeal, further consideration of the issue is barred by res

judicata. 22 O.S.2001, § 1089(C)(1). To the extent Petitioner’s post-conviction

claim challenging the effectiveness of trial counsel is different from that raised

on direct appeal, further consideration of the issue on its merits is waived as it

could have been raised on direct appeal but was not. 22 O.S.2001, §
1089(C)(1).

Despite the procedural bars of res judicata and waiver, a claim of

ineffective assistance of trial counsel can be brought for the first time on post-

conviction, but only if it requires fact-finding outside of the direct appeal

record. 22 O.S.2001, § 1089(D)(4)(b)(1). The statutory phrase “fact-finding

outside the direct appeal record” was never meant to negate the principle of

waiver. McGregor v. State, 1997 OK CR 10, ¶ 7, 935 P.2d 332, 335. This

Court may not review post-conviction claims of ineffective assistance of trial

counsel if the facts generating those claims were available to the direct appeal

attorney and thus either were or could have been used in the direct appeal. 22

O.S.Supp. 2009, § 1089(D)(4); See also Turreritine v. State, 1998 OK CR 44, ¶
4, 965 P.2d 985, 987; Darks v. State, 1998 OK CR 21, ¶ 6, 954 P.2d 169, 172.

The mere absence of a claim from the direct appeal record is not sufficient: the
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claim is still waived if the facts contained in it were available to the direct

appeal attorney and could have been raised on direct appeal. McGregor, 1997

OK CR 10, J 7, 935 P.2d at 335.

While Dr. Duke did not meet with Petitioner until after the direct appeal

had been filed, all of the information she relied upon in making her assessment

was available to appellate counsel. As Petitioner’s claim does not depend on

facts unavailable at the time of his direct appeal, he has failed to meet the

conditions for review of this claim on the merits and therefore review is barred.

See Murphy v. State, 2002 OK CR 32, ¶ 25, 54 P.3d 556, 565; Turreritine, 1998

OK CR 44, ¶ 8, 965 P.2d at 988.

The issue before this Court regarding appellate counsel’s effectiveness is

whether appellate counsels failure to investigate and raise on direct appeal the

issue of trial counsel ineffectiveness for failing to present any psychological

evidence, raises a substantial likelihood that the result of the proceeding would

have been different. Coddirigton, 2011 OK CR 21, ¶ 6, 259 P.3d at 836. In

conducting this review, this Court focuses on Petitioner’s conviction and

sentence as the outcome which would have been affected by different actions

on appellate counsels part. Id.

Petitioner has not provided any support for his claim that appellate

counsel did not fully investigate the psychological evidence. Petitioner has not

provided any affidavit or statement on the issue from trial counsel. Petitioner

has not rebutted the presumption that counsel acted as competent counsel

and fully investigated the issue and purposefully omitted the claim from the
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direct appeal. In fact, the record reflects trial counsel fully investigated

Petitioner’s background and was well acquainted with the information upon

which Dr. Duke relied.

As for the omission of the claim on direct appeal, counsel did raise a

claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel which necessitated a remand for

an evidentiary hearing on the issue. Appellate counsel appropriately sorted

through potential claims of error and raised only those with the best chances for

relief. Appellate counsel need not raise every non-frivolous issue. Coddington,

2011 OK CR 21, ¶ 3, 259 P.3d at 835-836. See also Mitchell v. State, 1997 OK

CR 9, ¶ 6, 934 P.2d 346, 350 (failure to raise “arguably meritorious claim” does

not, in itself, constitute deficient performance). That appellate counsel did not

prevail on gaining relief for Petitioner is not a sign of ineffectiveness. Turrentirie,

1998 OK CR 44, ¶ 13, 965 P.2d at 990.

The record does not support Petitioner’s claim that appellate counsel was

ineffective for failing to challenge the omission of any psychological evidence.

Further, Petitioner has not shown a reasonable probability that had the jury been

presented with the assessment of PTSD, which was based upon information

already presented to them, that the jury’s appraisal of his moral culpability and

thus the outcome of the trial, particularly sentencing, would have been different.

“Where there is no prejudice, we will not find counsel ineffective.” Codclington,

2011 OK CR 21, ¶ 16, 259 P.3dat838.

In his second ground for relief, Petitioner argues that because executing

the severely mentally ill serves no legitimate purpose, his death sentence
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violated the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment. As

this issue could have been raised on direct appeal, but was not, further

consideration has been waived. See Le v. State, 1998 OK CR 1, ¶ 15, 953 P.2d

52, 57.

In his third ground for relief, Petitioner asserts he was denied his

constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him by the improper

limitations placed upon him by the trial court during second stage as he

attempted to call witnesses to etablish the decedent’s criminal history and cross-

examine the State’s victim impact witnesses concerning that history. Petitioner

admits a “species of this claim” was raised on direct appeal and that while that

contention likely encompassed a Confrontation Clause violation, he asserts he is

raising the issue again to ensure the Confrontation Clause aspect of the claim is

exhausted.

Post-conviction review is not intended to serve as a second appeal.

Coddington, 2011 OK CR 21, ¶ 15, 259 P.3d at 838. “We will not allow a

defendant to subdivide claims in order to relitigate an issue in an application

for post-conviction.” Id. On direct appeal, Petitioner argued trial court error in

the second stage exclusion of evidence of the decedent’s criminal record and

prior bad acts. We fully considered the issue and found no federal

constitutional violation from the omission of the evidence of the decedent’s

criminal record and prior bad acts. As the Confrontation Clause aspect of the

claim was sufficiently raised and addressed, any further consideration of the

claim is barred by resjudicata.
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In his fourth ground for relief, Petitioner contends he should be afforded

post-conviction relief due to the cumulative impact of errors identified in this

application and in his direct appeal brief. A cumulative error was raised on

direct appeal and denied. Therefore further consideration is barred by res

judicata. As for his argument of cumulative error on post-conviction review, we

find none. Proposition I was barred by res judicata in part and denied in part,

Proposition II has been waived, and Proposition III was barred by res judicata.

Therefore, this claim of cumulative error is denied.

Filed simultaneously with the Application for Post-Conviction Relief is a

Motion for Evidentiary Hearing on Post Conviction Claim. Petitioner requests this

Court grant an evidentiary hearing on “any controverted, previously unresolved

issues of fact that may arise in connection with the application for post-

conviction relief.” For purposes of the motion, Petitioner incorporates the

exhibits included in the Appendix of Exhibits in Support of Application for

Post-Conviction Relief and seeks permission to bring forth other evidence as

needed to further support the issues raised in the application.

In order to warrant an evidentiary hearing, a petitioner must make a

threshold showing of evidence “to show this Court by clear and convincing

evidence the materials sought to be introduced have or are likely to have

support in law and fact to be relevant to an allegation raised in the application

for post-conviction relief.” Rule 9.7(D) (5), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of

Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2010). Petitioner has not met his

burden. Petitioner has not set forth any evidence which has been discovered
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and is now presented to the Court for consideration as to whether it meets the

threshold requirements for an evidentiary hearing. The record before us does

not indicate evidence of controverted or previously unresolved factual issues

such as to warrant an evidentiary hearing.

DECISION

After carefully reviewing Petitioner’s Application for Post-Conviction Reliefand Application for EvicZentiary Hearing, we conclude (1) there exists nocontroverted, previously unresolved factual issues material to the legality ofPetitioner’s confinement; (2) grounds for review which are properly presentedhave no merit; and (3) the current post-conviction statutes warrant no relief. 22O.S.Supp.2006, § 1089(D)(4)(a)(1), (2) & (3). Accordingly, Petitioner’s Applicationfor Post-Conviction Relief and Application for an Evidentiary Hearing are DENIED.Pursuant to Rule 3.15, Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title22, Ch. 18, App. (2009), the MANDATE is ORDERED issued upon the deliveryand filing of this decision.
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